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Dear Commissioner:

Enclosed for filing in connection with the above—referenced opposition is Opposer’s Notice of

Reliance # 3. together with the supporting exhibits, filed under certificate of mailing dated July
26. 2010.

In accordance with 37 CFR § 2.197. the undersigned hereby certifies that this letter along with

the documents described in the foregoing paragraph, was deposited with the United States Postal

Service with sufficient postage as first class mail in an envelope addressed to: United States

Patent and Trademark Office, Trademark Trial and Appeal Board, P.O. Box 1451, Alexandria,

Virginia 22313-1451. on this 26th day ofJuly, 2010.
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CERTIFCIATE OF MAILING

I hereby certify that this correspondence is being deposited with the
United States Postal Service with sufficient postage as first—class
mail in an envelope addressed to: Trademark Trial and Appeal
Board, United States Patent and Trad ark Office, P.O.Bo.\ 1451,
Alexandria, VA 22313-1451, on July __, 2010.

By: I C
Jeffrey J. Morgan

IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

BEFORE THE TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

RESEARCH IN MOTION

LIMITED

Opposer,

Serial No.: 77/580,530

Mark: FASHIONBERRY

Opposition No. 91 191572
FASHIONBERRY, INC.

< \/\)\)§/\)\)\)§/\)€&/3
Applicant.

OPPOSER’S NOTICE OF RELIANCE # 3:

PRINTED PUBLICATIONS

Opposer Research In Motion Limited (“RIM” or “Opposer”), pursuant to 37 C.F.R. §

2.120(e), hereby gives notice that it will rely on Research In Motion Limited’s 2010 Annual

Report, attached hereto as Exhibit 9. The Annual Report is available to the general public on the

Internet at the URL shown in Exhibit 9. The Annual Repoit shows financial data related to the

sale of goods and services under the BLACKBERRY trademark and is relevant to show the

fame, notoriety, reputation, prestige and scope of use of the mark.

Opposer hereby gives notice that it also will rely on print outs of pages from Research In

Motion Limited’s web site, attached hereto as Exhibit 10. The pages are available to the general

public on the Internet at the URL shown in Exhibit 10. The pages are related to the sale of goods



and services under the BLACKBERRY trademark and are relevant to show the use of the mark

in connection with fashion related applications and publications.
" ‘x (, /..-,,,,, -.. ., _

Willigrrh R. Towns

Jeffrey J. Morgan

Novak Druce + Quigg LLP

1000 Louisiana Street, 53rd Floor

Houston, Texas 77002

Dated: July 20 . 2010

Attorneys for Opposer
Research In Motion Limited

Ix.)



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing OPPOSER’S NOTICE OF RELIANCE

#3 was sent by U.S. First Class Mail, postage prepaid, to the following on this 2% day of
July. 2010:

Fashionberry, Inc.

3838 Raymert Drive, Suite 3

Las Vegas, Nevaqa 89121 /
If 1

V ‘i WC /\ 1; ‘I J \'\‘ml ins 2:9
Of Novak Druce + Q " LLP

1000 Louisiana Street, 53rd Floor

Houston, Texas 77002



EXHIBIT 9

Submitted with Opposer’s Notice of Reliance # 3

Research In Motion Limited V. Fashionberry, Inc.

Opposition No. 91191572
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Message from the Co-CEOs
Fiscal 2010 was another successful gear for Research In Motion
with strong financial results and record shipments of 37 million

BlackBerri; smartphanes. RIM was able to successfullg expand
its global market share while continuing to achieve strong sales in
North America. This exceptional performance was fueled bg a broad
portfolio of compelling products and services and solid business
execution pg RlM‘s emplogees and partners

Against the backdrop of a challenging global economg, RIM
grew revenue 33% to $iS billion and GAAP net income 30% to $2.5

billion in fiscal 20lO At the end ofthe gear, the BlockBerrg subscriber
account base was over 4i million with approxlmatelg 17 million net
new subscriber accounts added and over a third of our customers

residing outside North America There
are now aporoximatelg 550 carriers
and distribution partners offering
BlockBerrg products and services in
I75 countries around the world. RIM

continues to expand the reach ofthe

EllackBerrg platform in new market
segments while maintaining its
leadership position in the enterprise
market.

In fiscal L/0iO. over 35% of total
revenues came from outside
North America RIM 5 international

presence grew signiticantlg during
the gear. wit 1 robust growth in Latin
America. Asia Pacific. the Middle East

and Western Europe Smartphones such

as the Black Zierrg" Curve” 8520 and the BlackBerrg" Bold" 9700. as
well as popular applications that leverage the BlackBerrg platform
such as pus t email and BlackBerrg"‘ Messenger (BBM'“), have been
instru'nenta in driving RIM's international growth BBM use increased

fivefold during fiscal 2010 and we believe this growth is a strong

-’:'-'Blackfleffi’

indicator of he potential for keg applications to drive even greater
adoption and logoltg to the BlackBerrg platform i'l the coming gear

The value of the BlockBerrg brand also increased substantiallg
during fisca LZOIO Last gear we were pleased to have been included
on the Millword Brown Top iOCi Most Powerful Brands list. This

gear ourfocused DLSIHESS efforts, including integrated marketing
programs and new advertising campaigns, helped move the
Blacklserrg brand from Sist to loth on the list We continueta invest
in the Blackiierrg brand in order to grow consumer interest and
purchase intent both internationallg and in North America.

Research and development efforts in fiscal 20iO remained

focused on dei/eiopinc_i world class products and services that deliver

 

 

II\

a unique mobile experience for our customers. During the past gear
we launched several new BlackBerrg smartphones with enhanced

functianalitg, features. performance and designs, including the
BlackBerrg" Tour" 9630. BlackBerrg" Curve" 8520/ 8530. BlackBerrg’
Storm2'“ 9520/9550 and BlackBerrg Bold 9700.

Earlg in fiscal 2010. RIM launched BlackBerrg App World ” and we
are pleased to report that the developer cammunitg is thriving. Rilv
continues to provide developers with robust tools, technologies and
business sen/ices to assist them in creating and marketing even more
powerful and useful applications. Related initiatives 1'1 POIO included
the second annual ElackBerrg Developer Conference. the introduct on

of the BlackBerrg Academic Program and a varietg at new
development tools, such as BlackBerrg‘ Theme Studio, BlackBerrg
Widgets. and new pagment and advertising tools and services to

help developers monetize their applications. RIM also previewed
a new WebKlt—based browserthat is expected to launch in

fiscal 20iI.

The BlackBerrg platform remains the

corporate standard for enterprise mobilitg. In
recognition of its leadership in the enterp.ri:;e

market in fiscal20iO. BlackBerrg"‘ EF1tEi’pi'lS3
Server version 50 received the Global

Mobile Award forthe "Best Mobile Enterprise
Product or Service" at GSMA s Mobile Wort;

Congress and was also the first mobile
platform to receive the Common Criteria

EAL4+ Securitg Certification We are
committed to maintaining our leadership

in this market and continue to strengther
the BlackBerrg platform through enhanced

integration of value added services such as Blacl<Berrt.,' Mobile Voice
Sgstem (mobilizes PBX sgstems and brings office phore features to
3lackBerrg smartphones). Chalk Pushcast Software (for corporate
podcasting) and enterprise social networking and collaboration
tools We also recentlg launched BlackBerrg" Enterprise Server
txpress to further extend our market opportunitg bg providing
companies of all sizes with a cost—effective solution that supports

mobile connectivitg for empiogees without compromising security or
manageabilitg

RIM is a pioneer in the wireless data industrg and the
BlackBerrg solution was purposefullg designed to deliver a true
'aush"based user experience while also offering advanhed securitg.
manageabilitg. spectral efficiencg and power management

RlM's BlackBerrg' infrastructure is a keg component in 1'18 unique
BlackBerrg value proposition and continues to be an important

source of our competitive advantage. R|M’s proactive and ongoing
investment in infrastructure has enabled us to continue ‘a provide the



 
industrg~leading fiinctionalitg. efficiencg, securitg, scalobilitg and
qualitg of service necessarg to continue meeting the growing needs
of our customers and partners

RIM's global manufacturing and supplg chain teams have
responded to the growing demand for BlackBerrg smartphones bg
expanding their capabilities while continuing to focus on meeting
customer expectations. In addition to strategic investments in our

Waterloo tTiO'IUfCiCiUiIF1g facilitg. we have also grown manufacturing
capacitg through the engagement of new outsourcing partners
and the addition of production capabilities in keg locations around

the world These new facilities complement our existing network
of manufacturing partners and meet R|M‘s aualitg. cost,fIexibilitg
and deliverg expectations. We continue to invest in the integration
of our global supplg chain bg developing relationships with keg
suppliers to support future product requirements and achieve greater
forecast accuracg through improved demand management In
support of this supplg chain integration and growth. RIM is investing
in a leading edge IT sgstems infrastructure and global information
management sgstem. driving a world class supplg chain engine to
achieve the highest possible levels of customer satisfaction With
continued global supplg chain investment and the addition of flexible
production caoacitg, RIM is well positioned to meet the reauirements

of our global carrier partners and will continue to focus on improving
these capaoiliiies to meet and exceed our partner expectations for on
time deliverg of high gualitg products for their customers.

Providing exceptional support for the growing number of

BlackBerrg subscribers is an important competitive advantage for
RIM and its oartners. Our customer support efforts in fiscal 2010

continued to focus on scalabilitg, ease~of use, efficiencg and cost:

effectiveness. In addition. we continue to build and strengthen RIM's
corporate structure, including our capabilities in finance, operations,

administration and facilities to meet current and future growth RIM
had approximatelg I4,000 emplogees at the end of fiscal 20lO. We
continue to seek the best talent across all areas ofthe Company.

including R8iD, carrier support, business development, marketing,
customer care and manufacturing We also continue to recruit cc—op
students and new graduates from top universities and colleges to
ensure that we have the best new talent to enable us to continue to

grow and innovate
We are proud of RlM's accomplishments in fiscal 2010 and

would like to thank our emplogees around the world whose

abilities, hard work and determination enabled RIM to once again
execute effectivelg and deliver solid results We would also like

to communicate sincere appreciation to our Customers, partners,
suppliers and shareholders fortheir support throughout the gear

 

We believe that RIM is well positioned totake advantage of the
exciting opportunities that lie ahead in fiscal POII. Some of our goals
forthe coming gear include

- continue to enhance the user experience bg launching a new
Webkit—based browser and new user interface for BlackBerrg
smartphones. and bg growing the number of applications and
services available for the BlackBerrg platform,

- launch several new BlackBerrg smartphones and other products

and services to drive growth in both new and existing geographies
and market segments;

- build on the strong international growth achieved over the past
gear bg launching tiered pricing and targeted products and
services within new market segments and geographies.

- continue to increase the value of the BlackBerrg brand through
integrated marketing efforts.

- expand otir leadership in the business market bg leveraging
value-added services. including Chalk Dushcosts and BlackBerrt
Mobile Voice Sgstem, while also aggresslvelg targeting small on:
medium sized business with BlockBerrg Enterprise Server Expres.

~ aggressivelg growthe BlackBerrg subscriber account base anti

deliver solid financial performance and prafitabilitii for our
shareholders, and

- attract, hire and retair the best available talent to support RIM‘s

customers and partners and to maintain RlM's I'TWC1l'~§€t leading
position

 
Jim Bolslllie
Co~CEO

Mike Lazaridis
FIESIOEIT cindCo—C&O
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Financial Highlights

(in that/sa'ia:r of 5.5 daliar: except pgr sriare amounts}

U S GAAP

Statement of Operations data

February 27,
2010

February 28.
2009

March 1,
2008

Revenue $ 14,953,224 $ 11,065,186 $ 6,009,395

Gross margin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . , . ., $ 6,584,266 $ 5,097,298 $ 3,080,581

Research 82 aevelopment and selling,

general cind administration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . _ _ . . . _ _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 2,872,239 2,180,399 1,241,310
Amortizatior 310.357 194,803 108,112

Litigation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 163,800 — -
Investment income. .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . _ . . _ . . . . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 28,640 78,267 79,361

Income before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 3,266,510 2,800,363 1,810,520

Provision for income taxes . ............................................................ .. 809,366 907,747 516,653

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . .. 2,457,144 $ 1,892,616 $ 1,293,867

Earnings per share

Basic . ............................................................... .. 55 4.35 $ 3.35 $ 2.31

Diluted 3 4.31 $ 3.30 $ 2.26

Operating data (oercentage of revenue)

Gross margin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 44.0% 46.1% 513%

Research and development . .. . . . . . , . . . . . .. 6.5% 6.2% 60%

Selling, marketing and administration 12.8% 13.5% 14.7%

Balance sheet data

Cash. cash equivalents. short~term

investments and longeterm investments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 2,869,723 $ 2,238,847 $ 2,343,996
Total assets . . $10,204,409 39 8,101,372 $ 5 511,187

Shareholders‘ equitg . .. . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 7,602,663 $ 5,874,128 $ 

Annual Revenue
{in billions of c‘ E aalla:

O4 05 06 O7 O8 09

Subscriber Accounts
(in miliians}
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MD82A
Managements Discussion and Analgsis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

for the Three Months and Fiscal Year ended Februarg 27, 20iO

April 1, 2010

The fol;owing Management's Discussion and Analgsis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

(“MD82A") should be read together with the audited consolidated financial statements and the acconnpanging

notes (the “Consolidated Financial Statements”) of Research in Motion Limited (“R|M” or the ”Compahg",i for the
fiscal gear ended February 27, 20iO. The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in US dollars and

have been prepared in accordance with United States generalli, accepted accounting principles (“U.S. UAAP”).
All financid information in this MD82A is presented in US. dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

RIM has prepared this MD&A with reference to National Instrument 57-702 “Continuous Disclosure Obligations”

of the Canadian Securities Administrators. Under the U.S./Canaaa Multijurisdictional Disclosure Sgstem. the
Compang is permitted to prepare this MD82A in accordance with the disclosure requirements of Canada, which

requirements are different from those of the United States. This MD82A provides information for the fiscal gear
ended Februarg 27, 2010 and up to and incluaing April l, 20iO.

Additional information about the Compang, including the Compang's Annual information Form, whicr is
included in RiM's Annual Report on Form 40—F, can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.cam and on the US.

Securities and Exchange Commissions (“SEC”) website at www.sec.gov.

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This MD&2A contains forwardelooking statements within the meaning of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation

Reform Act of T995 and applicable Canadian securities laws, including statements relating to:

- assumptions and expectations described in the Compangs critical accounting policies and estimates;

- the Ccimpdrigs expectations regarding the adoption and impact of accounting pronouncements;

- the Connpanus expectations regarding the average selling price (“ASP”) of its Blacl<Berrg devices;

- the Ccmpangs estimates regarding revenue sehsitivitg for the effect of a change in ASP;

- the Comparigs expectations regarding gross margin;

- the Compangs estimates regarding its effective tax rate;

- the Compangs estimates of purchase obligations and other contractual commitments; and

- the Conipangs expectations with respect to the sufficiencg of its financial resources.

The words “e:<pect", “anticipate”, “estimate”, “nnag", “will”, “should”, “intend”, “believe”, "plan" and similar

expressions are intended to identifg forward-looking statements. Forward~lool<ing statements are based on
estimates and assumptions made ‘pg RIM in light of its experience and its perception of histoncal trends.
current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors that Rliv‘. believes are

appropriate in the circumstances. Mang factors could cause RlM’s actual results, performance or

achievements to differ materiallg from those expressed or mplied bg the forwara—lool<ing statements,

including, wi:i‘out limitation, the following factors, which are discussed in greater detail in the "Risk Facfors"
section of Ri'vi's Annual information Form, which is includeo in R|M’s Annual Report on Form 40-F;

- third-portg claims for infringement of intellectual oropertg rights bu RN and the outcome of any litigation
with respect thereto;

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



- R|M’s ability to successfully obtain patent or other proprietary or statutory protection for its technologies
and products:

- RIMS ability to obtain rights to use software or components supplied by third parties;

- potential impact of copyright levies in numerous countries;

- Rii\/‘s ability to enhance current products anci develop new products on a timely basis;

- intense competition within RiM's industry. including the possibility that strategic transactions by RiM's

competitors or carrier partners could weaken RiM's competitive position or require RlM to reduce its prices
to compete effectively;

- Rlivis ability to establish new, and to build on existing, relationships with its network carrier partners and
distributors. and its dependence on a limited number of significant customers;

- R|M’s ’eliance on its suppliers for functional components and the risk that suppliers will not be able to
supply components on a timely basis or in sufficient quantities;

- the efficient and uninterrupted operation of Rl:\/i's network operations center and the networks of its carrier
partners, and the risk of other business interruptions;

- dependence on key personnel and RiM’s ability to attract and retain key personnel;

- RiM's abilty to manage production facilities and its reliance on third~party manufacturers for certain
products;

- the occurrence or perception of a breach of Rll\/.'s security measures, or an inappropriate disclosure of
conf dertial or personal information;

- the continued quality and reliability of RiM‘s products and services and the potential effect of defects in
products and services;

- risks associated with Ri|Vl's expanding foreign operations;

- reliance on strategic alliances and relationships with third—party network infrastructure developers. software
platform vendors and service platform vendors;

- effective management of growth and ongoing development of RlM's service and support operations;

- regulation, certification and health risks, and risks relating to the misuse of RiM’s products:

- restrictions on import and use of RlM's products in certain countries due to encryption of the products and
services;

- reduced spending by customers due to the uncertainty of economic and geopolitical conditions;

- risks assocated with acquisitions, investments and other business initiatives;

- foreign exchange risks;

- tax liabilities. resulting from changes in tax laws or otherwise, associated with Rli\/|'s worldwide operations:

- general commercial litigation and other litigation claims as part of RiM’s operations;

- changes in interest rates affecting P.lM‘s investrrent portfolio and the creditworthiness of its investment
portfolio

- government regulation of wireless spectrum and radio frequencies;

- collection, storage, transmission, use and distribution of user and personal information could give r se to
liabilities or additional costs;

- expansion and availability of attractive content for B.ackBerry App World;

- difficulties in forecasting RiM’s quarterly financial results and the growth of its subscriber base; and

- risks related to RiM's historical stock option granting practices.

These factors should be considered carefully, and readers should not place undue reliance on RiM’s forward-

looking statements. RiM has no intention and undertakes no obligation to update or revise any
forward—looi«;ing statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as
required by law.



Overview

RIM is a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of innovative wireless solutions for the worldwide

mobile communications market. Through the development of integrated hardware, software and services that
support multiple wireless network standards, RIM provides platforms and solutions for seamless access to

time—sensitive information, including email, phone, short messaging service, Internet and intranet-based

applications. RIM technologg also enables a broad arrag of third partg developers and manufacturers to

enhance their products and services with wireless connectivity to data. RIM’s portfolio of award—winning
products, services and embedded technologies are used by thousands of organizations and millions of

consumers around the world and include the BlackBerrg‘“’ wireless solution, the RIM Wireless Handheld ”'

product line, software development tools and other software and hardware. The Company's sales and

marketing efforts include collaboration with strategic partners and distribution channels, as well as its own

supporting sales and marketing teams, to promote the sale of its products and services.

Sources of Revenue

RIM’s primarg revenue stream is generated bg the BlackBerrg wireless solution, which includes sales of

BlackBerrg wireless devices, software and service. The BlackBerrg wireless solution provides users with a

wireless extension of their work and personal email accounts, including Microsoft Outlook“? lBM‘“‘ I_o:us Notes“,

I\lovell"“ GroupWise"“, and mang ISP email services.

RIM generates hardware revenues from sales, prirnarilg to carriers, of BlackBerrg wireless devices, which

provide users with the abilitg to send and receive wireless messages and data. RlM's BlackBerrg wireless

devices also incorporate a mobile phone, web—browsing capabilitg and enables the use of data functions such
as calendar. address book. task and memo lists and other functions associated with personal organizers.

Certain BlackBerrg devices also include multimed=a capabilities.

RIM generates service revenues from billings to its Blackaerrg subscriber account base primarilg from a

monthlg infrastructure access fee to a carrier or reseller where a carrier or other reseller bills the BlackBerrg

subscriber. The BlackBerrg subscriber account base is the total of all subscriber accounts that have an active

status at the end of a reporting period. Each carrier instructs RIM to create subscriber accounts and
determines whether each subscriber account should have an active status. Each carrier is charged a service

fee for each subscriber account each month, with substantiallg all of such service fees having no regard to the

amount of data traffic that the subscriber account passes over the BlackBerrg architecture. if a carrier

instructs RIM to deactivate a subscriber account, then RIIV. no longer includes that subscriber OCCOUFI1 in its

BlockBerrg subscriber account base and ceases billing the carrier with respect to such account from the date

of notification of its deactivation. On a quarterlg basis, RIM mag make an estimate of pending deactivations

for certain carriers that do not use a fullg—integrated provisioning sgstem. It is, however, each carriers
responsbiitg to report cnanges to its subscriber account status on a timely basis to RIM. The number of

subscriber accounts is a non—financial metric and is intended to highlight the change in R|M's subscriber base

and should not be relied upon as an indicator of RIM’s financial performance. The number of subscriber

accounts coes not have ang standardized meaning prescribed bg US. GAAP and may not be comparable to

similar ITTETFICS presented bg other companies.

An important part of RIM's BlackBerrg wireless solution is tne software that is installed at the corporate or

small and medium size enterprise server level, and in some cases on personal computers. Software revenues

include fees from (i) licensing RIM's BlackBerrg Enterprise Server” (“BES") software; (ii) BlackBerrg Client Access

Licenses (“CALs”), which are charged for each subscriber using the BlackBerrg service via a BES;
(iii) maintenance and upgrades to software; and (iv) technical support (“T~Support").

Revenues are also generated from non—warrantg repairs, sales of accessories and non—recurring engineering
development contracts (“NRE”).

 

 

 



Fiscal 2010 Operating Results —— Executive Summary

The following table sets forth certain consolidated statement of operations data, which is expressed in
thousands of dollars, for the periods indicated, except for share and per share amounts, as well as certain

consolidated balance sheet data, as at February 27, 2010, February 28, 2009 and March 1. 2008, which is
expressed in thousands of dollars.

(in ihousarciz. except for be’ snare amounts,‘
As at and for the Fiscal Year Ended

February 27, February 28, Change March 1, Change
2010 2009 2010/2009 2008 2009/2008

Revenue . . . .. . .. .. . . $ 14,953,224 $11,065,186 $3,888,038 $6,009,395 $ 5,055,791

Cost of sales .. .. .. .. .. 8,368,958 5,967,888 2,401,070 2,928,814 3,039,074

Gross margin .. . . .. .. . . 6,584,266 5,097,298 1,486,968 3,080,581 2,016,717

Operating expenses

Research and development . . . . . . . . . .. 964,841 684,702 280,139 359,828 324,874

Selling, marketing and

Odl'i’1|i'l|Sl|'CillOF1H’ . . . 1,907,398 1,495,697 411,701 881,482 614,215
Amortization . . . .. .. . 310,357 194,803 115,554 108,112 86,691

Litigation,” .. .. .. .. . . 163,800 — 163,800 — —

3,346,396 2,375,202 971,194 1,349,422 1,025,780

Income from operations . . . . . . . . . . . .. 3,237,870 2,722,096 515,774 1,731,159 990,937

Investment income. .. .. .. . 28,640 78,267 (49,627) 79,361 (1,094)

Income before income taxes .. . .. . . 3,266,510 2,800,363 466,147 1,810,520 989,843

Provision for income taxes“ ............ ._ . 809,366 907,747 (98,381) 516,653 391,094

Net income . . . . . $ 2,457,144 $ 1,892,616 $ 564,528 $ 1,293,867 $ 598,749

Earnings per share
Basic . . . . . $ 4.35 $ 3 35 $ 1.00 3 2.31 $ 1.04

Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 4.31 $ 3.30 $ 1.01 $ 2.26 $ 1.04

Weighted—average number of shares

outstanding (0005)
Basic. . .. . . .. . . . 564,492 565,059 559,778

Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 569,759 574,156 572,830

”otal assets. . . . .. $10,204,409 $ 8,101,372 $ 2,103,037 $ 5,511,187 $ 2,590,185

"otal liabilities . . 3 2,601,746 $2,227,244 $ 374,502 $ 1,577,621 $ 649,623

Total long~ierm liabilities. .. .. . . $ 169,969 $ 111,893 $ 58,076 $ 103,190 $ 8,703

Shareholders eauit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . 3 7,602,663 $ 5,874,128 $ 1,728,535 $ 3,933,566 $1,940,562       

Notes

”" Selling. marketing and administration includes unusual charges of $96.4 million ana provision for income taxes includes
a benefit of $1751 million. bath recognized in fiscal 2010 lhese items related to a charge for the payment on account of
certain employee tax liabilities related to certain previously exercised stock options with measurement date issues that

were €x’.€rC|S€d during certain time periods and the foreign exchange impact at the enactment of functional currency

tax legislation in Canada See “l\ian—GAAP Financial Measures".

‘ In fiscal 2310. the Company settled all Visto Corporation (“Vista”) outstanding worldwide patent litigation (the “Vista

Litigation’) The key terms of the settlement involved the Company receiving a perpetual and fully—paid license on all
Vista patents. a transfer of certain Vista intellectual property, a one-time payment by the Company of $267.5 million and

the parties executing full and final releases in respect of the Vista Litigation. Of the total payment by the Company,

$163 8 l'T1llllO’1 was exoensed as a litigation charge in fiscal 2010. The remainder of the payment was recorded as
intangible assets See “Non—GAAP Financial Measures".



The following table sets forth certain consolidated statement of operations data expressed as a percentage of
revenue for the periods indicated:

For the Fiscal Year Ended

 

 

February 27, Februarg 28, Change March 1, Change
2010 2009 2010/2009 2008 2009/2008

Revenue . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 100.0% 100.0% — 100.0% -

Cost of sales .. .. . .. 56.0% 539% 2.1% 48.7% 5.2%

Gross ma'gin . . .. .. . .. 44.0% 46.1% (2.1%) 51.3% (5.2%)

Operating expenses

Research and development . . , . , .. . 6.5% 6.2% 0.3% 6.0% 0.2%

Setting, marketing and administration . 12.8% 13.5% (0.7%) 14.7% (1.2%)
Amortization .. .. . .. 2.1% 1.8% 0.3% 1.8% —

Litigation .. .. .. .. 1.1% — 1.1% — -

22.5% 21.5% 1.0% 22.5% (1.0%)

income from operations ............ .. . . . 21.5% 24.6% (3.1%) 28.8% (4.2%)

Investment income. . . .. . . 0.2% 0.7% (0.5%) 1.3% (0.6%)

Income before income taxes. .. .. . . .. 21.7% 25.3% (3.6%) 30.1% (4.8%)

Provision for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . .. .. .. 5.4% 8.2% (2.8%) 8 6% (0.4%)

Net income. . .. . . .. 16.3% 171% (0.8%) 21.5% (4.4%)

Revenue for fiscal 2010 was $14 95 billion, an increase of $3 88 billion, or 35.1%, from $11.07 billion in fiscal 2009. The number

of BlackBerrg devices sold increased bg approximatelu 10.7 million, or 411%, to approximatelg 36.7 million in fiscal 2010,
compared to (ipproximatelg 26.0 million in fiscal 2009 Device revenue increased by $3 03 billion, or 33.3%, to $1212 billion.
reflecting primarilg the higher number of devices sold Service revenue increased bg $756.0 million, or 53 9% to $2.16 billion,
reflecting the increase of approximatelg 17 million net new Blackiierrg subscriber accounts since the end of fiscal 2009. The
total Bla::kBerrg subscriber account base increased to over 41 million at the end of fiscal 2010. Software revenue increased
bg $67 million to $258.6 million in fiscal 2010 and Other revenue increased bg $99.2 million to $420.2 million in fiscal 2010.

The Compangs net income for fiscal 2010 was $2.46 billion, an increase of $564.5 million, or 29.8%, compared

to net income of $1.89 billion in fiscal 2009. Basic earnings per share (“basic EPS") was $4.35 and diluted
earnings per share (“diluted EPS") was $4.31 in fiscal 2010 compared to $3.35 basic EPS and $3.30 diluted EPS in

fiscal 2009, a 30.6% increase in diluted EPS compared to fiscal 2009.

The $564.5 million increase in net income in fiscal 2010 primarilg reflects an increase in gross margin n the

amount of $1.48 billion, resulting primarilg from the increased number of device shipments, additional

subscriber accounts and a decrease of $98.4 million for the provision for income taxes, which was partially

offset bg tne decrease of consolidated gross margin percentage, and bg an increase of $971.2 million in the
Compargs operating expenses.

A more comprehensive analgsis of these factors is contained in “Results of Operations".

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
General

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires management to make estimates and

assumptions with respect to the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates and assumptions are based upon

managements historical experience and are believed bg management to be reasonable under the

circumstances. Such estimates and assumptions are evaluated on an ongoing basis and form the basis for

making /iudgrnents about the carrging values of assets and liabilities that are not readilg apparent from other
sources. Actual results could differ significantlg from these estimates.

The Compangs critical accounting policies and est mates have been reviewed and discussed with the

Compangs Audit 82 Risk Management Committee and are set out below. The Compang’s significant

accounting policies are described in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Except as noted below,

there have not been ang changes to the Compang’s critical accounting policies and estimates during the past
three fiscal gears.

 

 
 

 
 



Revenue Recognltion

The Company recognizes revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. The Company considers
revenue realized or realizable and earned when it has oersuasive evidence of an arrangement, the product

has been delivered or the services have been provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed or determinable

and collectability is reasonably assured. in addition to this general policy, the following paragraphs describe
the specific revenue recognition policies for each major category of revenue.

Devices

Revenue from the sale of Blaci<Berry devices is recognized when title is transferred to the customer cind all

significant contractual obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance have been fulfilled. Fo" hardware

products for which the software is deemed not to be incidental, the Company recognizes revenue in

accordance with industry—specific software revenue recognition guidance. in addition, provisions are made at

the time of sale for warranties and royalties. For additional information on warranties and royalties, see below.

Service

Revenue is recognized rateably on a monthly basis when the service is provided. In instances where the

Company bills the customer prior to performing the service, the prebilling is recorded as deferred revenue. See
“Sources of Revenue" for more information on the calculation of the number of subscriber accounts.

Software

Revenue ‘ram licensed software is recognized at the inception of the license term and in accordance with
industry—spe:ific software revenue recognition guidance. when the fair value of a delivered element has not

been established, the Company uses the residua. method to recognize revenue if the fair value of undelivered

elements is determinable. Revenue from software maintenance, unspecified upgrades and T—Support contracts
is recognized over the period that such items are delivered or that services are provided.

Other

Revenue from the sale of accessories is recognized when title is transferred to the customer and all significant
contractual obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance have been fulfilled. Revenue for non-
recurring engineering contracts is recognized as specific contract milestones are met. The attainment of

milestones approximates actual performance. Revenue from repair and maintenance programs is recognized

when the Service is delivered which is when the title is transferred to the customer and all significant
contractual obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance have been fulfilled.

Multiple-Element Arrangements

The Company enters into transactions that represent multiple—element arrangements which may include any
combination of hardware and/or service or software and T—Support. These multiple—element arrangements are
assessed to determine whether they can be separated into more than one unit of accounting or element for

the purpose of revenue recognition. When the appropriate criteria for separating revenue into more than one
unit of accounting is met and there is vendor specific objective evidence of fair value for all units of

accounting or elements in an arrangement, the arrangement consideration is allocated to the separate units of
accounting or elements based on each unit’s relative fair value. when the fair value of a delivered element has

not been established. the Company uses the residual method to recognize revenue if the fair value of
undelivered elements is determinable. This vendor specific objective evidence of fair value is established

through prices charged for each revenue element when that element is sold separately. The revenue

recognitior policies described above are then applied to each unit of accounting.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Bad Debt Expense

The Company is dependent on a number of significant customers and on large complex contracts with respect
to sales of the majority of its products, software and services. The Company expects increasing accourts
receivable balances with its large customers to continue as it sells on increasing number of its wireless devices

and software products and service relay access through network carriers and resellers rather than directly.

The Company evaluates the collectability of its accounts receivables based upon a combination of factors on
a periodic basis, such as specific credit risk of its customers, historical trends and economic circumstances.

The Company. in the normal course of business, monitors the financial condition of its customers and reviews

the credit history of each new customer. When the Company becomes aware of a specific customers inability
to meet its financial obligations to the Company (such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or material

deterioration in the customer's operating results or financial position, and payment experiences), RIM records
a specific bad debt provision to reduce the customers related accounts receivable to its estimated he:



realizable value. if circumstances related to specific customers change, the Compang’s estimates of the

recoverabilitg of accounts receivables balances could be further adjusted.

inventories and Inventory Purchase Commitments

Raw materials are stated at the lower of cost and replacement cost. Work in process and finished goods

inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes the cost of materials plus

direct labor applied to the product and the applicable share of manufacturing overhead. Cost is determined
on a first—in—first-out basis.

The Compangs policg for the valuation of inventorg, including the determination of obsolete or excess

inventorg, requires management to estimate the future demand for the Compang‘s products within specific time
horizons. lnventorg purchases and purchase commitments are based upon such forecasts of future demand

and scheduled rollout of new products. The business environment in which RlM operates is subject to rapid

changes in technologg and customer demand. The Compang performs an assessment of inventorg during

each reporting period, which includes a review of, among other factors, demand requirements, component part

purchase commitments of the Compang and certain keg suppliers, product life cgcle and development plans,

component cost trends, product pricing and qualitg issues. if customer demand subsequentlg differs from the

Compargs forecasts, requirements for inventorg write-offs that differ from the Compang’s estimates could
become necessarg. if management believes that demand no longer allows the Compang to sell inventories

above cost or at all, such inventorg is written down to net realizable value or excess inventorg is written off.

Furthermore, the Compang records on accrual for estimated fees and vendor inventorg liabilities related to

non—canceloble purchase commitments with contract manufacturers and suppliers for quantities in excess of
future demand forecasts.

For furtner details on the carrging value of inventorg as at Februarg 27, 2010, refer to Note 6 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements, and for further details on the vendor inventorg liabilities refer to Note To to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and are comprised of acquired technologg,
licenses and patents.

In connection with business acquisitions completed bg the Compang, the Compang identifies and estimates

the fair value of (i) acquired technologg, which is subsequentlg amortized straight-line over two to five gears
and, (ii) net assets acquired, including certain identifiable intangible assets other than goodwill and liabilities
assumed in the acquisitions. Ang excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the ne. assets
acquired is assigned to goodwill.

Under certain license agreements, the Compang is committed to current and future rogaltg pagments based

on the sales of products using certain licensed technologies. License agreements involving up—front lump sum

pagments are capitalized as part of intangible assets and are then amortized straight-line over the terms of

the license agreements or on a per unit basis based upon the anticipated number of units sold during the
terms, subject to a maximum of five gears.

Patents include trademarks, internallg developed patents, as well as individual patents or portfolios of patents

acquired from third parties or through the acquisition of third parties. Costs capitalized and subsequentlg

amortized include all costs necessarg to acquire intellectual propertg, as well as legal costs arising out of the

defense of dng Compang—owned patents. Patents are amortized straight—line over i7 gears or over their
estimated useful life.

The Compong assesses the impairment of intangible assets and goodwill whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrging amount mag not be recoverable. In addition, goodwill is assessed for

impairment on an annual basis. Unforeseen and adverse events, changes in circumstances and market

conditions and adverse legal factors are potential indicators that the carrging amount of intangible assets
and goodwill mag not be recoverable and mag require an impairment charge.

The usefu‘ lives of intangible assets are evaluated quarterlg to determine if events or circumstances warrant a

revision to their remaining period of amortization. Legal, regulatorg and contractual factors, tne effects of

obsolescence, demand. competition and other economic factors are potential indicators that the useful life of
an intangible asset mag be revised.
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The Company has concluded that no impairment relatng to intangible assets and goodwill exists as of
February 27, 2010.

For fu'the' details on the intangible assets and goodwill, refer to Notes 8 and 9 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Litigation

The Company is involved in litigation in the normal course of its business. The Company may be subject to

claims (including claims related to patent infringement, purported class actions and derivative actions) either

directly or through indemnities against these claims that it provides to certain of it partners. Management

reviews all of the relevant facts for each claim and applies judgment in evaluating the likelihood and, if

applicable, the amount of any potential loss. Where it is considered likely for a material exposure to result and

where the amount of the claim is quantifiable, provisions for loss are made based on management's

assessment of the likely outcome. The Company does not provide for claims that are considered unlikely to
result in a significant loss, claims for which the outcome is not determinable or claims where the amount of the

loss cannot be reasonably estimated. Any settlements or awards under such claims are provided for when

reasonably determinable. For further details on legal matters, see “Legal Proceedings” below and see “Results
of Operations — Litigation” for the fiscal year ended February 27, 2010.

Royalties

The Company recognizes its liability for royalties in accordance with the terms of existing license agreements.

Where license agreements are not yet finalized, RIM recognizes its current estimates of the obligation in

accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Financial Statements. When the license agreements are subsequently

finalized, the estimate is revised accordingly. Managements estimates of royalty rates are based on the

Companys historical licensing, royalty payment experience and forward—looking expectations.

warranty

The Company provides for the estimated costs of product warranties at the time revenue is recognized.

BlackBerry devices are generally covered by a time~limited warranty for varying periods of time. The

Company's warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates, differences in warranty periods,
regulatory developments with respect to warranty obligations in the countries in which the Company carries

on business, freight expense, and material usage and atner related repair costs.

The Company's estimates of costs are based upon historical experience and expectations of future return

rates and unit warranty repair cost To the extent that the Company experiences changes in warranty activity.
or changes to costs associated with servicing those obligations, revisions to the estimated warranty liability

would be required. For further details on the Company's warranty expense experience and estimates for fiscal
20iO, refer to Note T3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income Sensitivity

The Company estimates that a iO% change to either the current average unit warranty repair cost, measured

against the device sales volumes currently under warranty as at February 27, 20iO, or to the current average

warranty return rate, would have resulted in adjustments to warranty expense and pre—tax income of
approximately $25.2 million, or 1.0% of consolidated annual net income.

Investments

All cash equivalents and investments, other than cost metnod investments of $2.5 million and equity method
investments of $4.1 million, are classified as available—for—sale and are carried at fair value with unrealized

gains and asses recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) until such investments mature or are sold. in

the event of a decline in value which is other than temporary, the investment is written down to fair value by a

charge tc income.

The Company defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining the

fair value measurements for assets and liabilities required to be recorded at fair value, the Company
considers the principal or most advantageous market in which it would transact and considers assumptions

that market participants would use in pricing the asset or .iability, such as inherent risk, non-oe'formance risk



and credit risk. The Company applies the following fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in the
valuation methodologies in measuring fair value into three levels:

- Level‘ —— Unadjusted quoted prices at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities in active
markets.

- Level 2 — Observaple inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar
assets and liabilities in active markets; quotec prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets

that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

- Level 3 —— Significant unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

The fair value hierarchy also requires the Company to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize
the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.

When determining the fair value of its investments, the Company primarily relies on an independent third

party valuator_ Pricing inputs by the service provider are generally received from two primary vendors. The

pricing inputs are reviewed for completeness, tolerance and accuracy on a daily basis by the service provider.

The Company also reviews and understands the inputs used in the valuation process and assesses the pricing
of the securities for reasonableness. To do this, the Company utilizes internally developed models to estimate

fair value. Inputs into the internally developed models may include benchmark yields, reported trades, quotes,

issuer spreads, benchmark curves (including Treasury benchmarks, LiBOR and swap curves), discount rates,
derivative indices, recovery and default rates, prepayment rates, trustee reports, bids/offers and other

reference data. n the event the Company disagrees witi“ the pricing from the service provider, the Company
will challenge the pricing and work with the service provider to determine the fair value.

Given the curre t market conditions and economic uncertainties, management exercises significant judgment
in determining the fair value of the Companys investments and the investment's classification level within the

three—tier fair value hierarchy. As at February 27, 20iO, the Company had approximately 98% of its
available—"or—sa e investments measured at fair value classified in Level 2.

The Company regularly assesses declines in the value of individual investments for impairment to determine

whether the dec ine is other—than—temporary. The Company makes this assessment by considering available
evidence, includng changes in general market conditions, specific industry and individual company data, the
length of t me and the extent to which the market value has been less than cost, the financial condition, the

near—term prospects of the individual investment and the Company’s intent and ability to hold the investments
to maturity. in the event that a decline in the fair value of an investment occurs and the decline in VCILJE is

considered to be other—than~temporary, an appropriate write—down would be recorded. The Company's

assessment on whether an investment is other—than~temporarily impaired or not, could change due to new
developments or changes in assumptions or risks to any particular investment.

For further details on the Company’s investments and fair value conclusions, refer to Note 4 and Note 5 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method of tax allocation to account for income taxes. Under this method.

deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized based upon differences between the financial

reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and measured using enacted tax rates and laws thaf will be

in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The Company's deferred income tax asset balance
represents temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities,

including research and development costs and incentives, capital assets, non—deductible reserves and

operating loss carryforwards, net of valuation allowances. The Company records a valuation allowance to

reduce deferred income tax assets to the amount management considers to be more likely than not to be
realized. The Company considers both positive eviaence and negative evidence, to determine whether, based

upon the weight of that evidence, a valuation allowance is required. Judgment is required in considering the
relative impact of negative and positive evidence. If the Company determines that it is more likely than not

that it will not be able to realize all or part of its deferred income tax assets in future fiscal periods, the

valuation allowance would be increased, resulting in a decrease to net income in the reporting periods when
such determinations are made.
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Significant judgment is required in evaluating the Compang’s uncertain tax positions and provision for income

taxes. The Compang uses a twa—step process in assessing its uncertain tax positions. The two-step process

separates recognition from measurement. The first step is determining whether a tax position has met the

recognition threshold bg determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likelg than nct

to be sustained upon examination. The second step is measuring a tax position that has met the recognition

threshold as the largest amount of benefit that is more than 50% likelg of being realized upon settlement. The

Compang continuallg assesses the likelihood and amount of potential adjustments and adjusts the income to):

provisions income tax pagable and deferred taxes in the period in which the facts that give rise to a revision

become known. The Compang recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as interest
expense that is netted and reported within investment income. For further details, refer to Note iO to the
Consoliaated Financial Statements.

The Comoang uses the flow-through method to account for investment tax credits (“lTCs") earned on eligible

scientific research and experimental development expenditures. The Compang applies judgement in

determining which expenditures are eligible to be claimed. Under this method, the iTCs are recognized as a
reduction to income tax expense.

The Compang's provision for income taxes is based on a number of estimates and assumptions as

determined bg management and is calculated in each of the jurisdictions in which it conducts business. The

Compang’s consolidated income tax rates have differed from statutorg rates primarilg due to the tax impact

of foreigr exchange differences. ITCs, manufacturing activities, the amount of net income earned in Canada

versus other operating jurisdictions and the rate of taxes pagable in respect of those other operating
jurisdictions, and non—deductible stock compensation. The Compang enters into transactions and

arrangements in the ordinarg course of business in which the tax treatment is not entirelg certain. In particular,

certain countries in which it operates could seek to tax a greater share of income than has been provided. The

final outcome of ang audits bg taxation authorities mag differ from estimates and assumptions used in
determining the Compang’s consolidated tax provision and accruals, which could result in a material effect or

the consoiidated income tax provision and the net income for the period in which such determinations are
made.

Stock—Based Compensation

The Compang has an incentive stock optior plan for officers and emplogees of the Compang or its
subsidiaries.

The Compang estimates stock—based compensation expense at the grant date based on the award's fair

value as calculated bg the Black—Scholes—Merton ("BSM") option—pricing model and is recognized rateablg over

the vesting period. The BSM model requires various judgmental assumptions including volatilitg, forfeiture

rates and expected option life. If ang of the assumptions used in the BSM model change significantlg, stack—

based compensation expense mag differ materiallg in the future from that recorded in the current period.

in connection with its stock option review and the restatement of prior gear financial statements, the Compang

applied judgment in choosing whether to revise measurement dates for prior option grants described below

under “Restatement of Previouslg Issued Financial Statements’. While the Compang believes it made

appropriate judgments in determining the correct measurement dates for its stock option granis in connection
with the restatement, the issues surrounding past stock option grants and financial statement restatements are

complex and guidance in these areas mag continue to evolve. If new guidance imposes additional or different

requiremerts or if the SEC or the Ontario Securities Commission ("OSC") disagrees with the manner in which

the Compang has accounted for and reported the financial impact, there is a risk the Compang mag have to

further restate its prior financial statements, amend its filings with the SEC or the OSC (including the
Consolidated Financial Statements and this MD8iA), or take other actions not currentig contemplated.

The Compang has a Restricted Share Unit Plan (the “RSU Plan”) under which eligible participants include ang

officer or emplogee of the Compang or its subsidiaries. The RSU PlOi" was approved at the Compang‘s Annual
General Meeting on Julg i8, 2005 and received regulatorg approval ir August 2005. Restricted Share ‘units

(“RSUs") are redeemed for either common shares issued bg the Compang, common shares purchoseo on the
open market bg a trustee selected bg the Compang or the cash equivalent on the vesting dates established
bg the Board of Directors or the Compensation, Nomination and Governance Committee of the Board of

Directors. The compensation expense is calculated based on the fair value of the equitg award and the
amount is recognized over the vesting period of the RSU.



The Company has a Deferred Share Unit Plan (the “DSLJ Plan"). adopted by the Board of Directors on
December 20, 2007, under which each independent director will be credited with Deferred Share Units (“DSUS”)

in satisfaction of all or a portion of the cash fees otherwise payable to them for serving as a director of the

Company. Grants under the DSU plan replace the stock option awards that were historically granted to
independent members of the Board of Directors After such a director ceases to be a director, DSUs will be

redeemed for cash with the redemption value of each DSU or, at the Company’s option and subject to receipt

of sharenolder approval, by way of shares purchased on the open market or issued by the Company. DSUs
are accounted for as liability—classified awards.

For further details on the Company's stock-based compensation, refer to Note ii to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Impact of Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet implemented

in January 20i0, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued authoritative guidance to improve

disclosures about fair value measurements. The guidance amends previous literature to require an entity to

provide a number of additional disclosures rega'ding fair value measurements including significant transfers
between Level l and Level 2 on a gross basis and the reasons for such transfers, transfers in and oqt of

Level 3 on a gross basis and the reasons for such transfers, the entity's policy for recognizing transfers

between Levels and to disclose information regarding purchases, sales, issuances and settlements on a gross

basis in the Level 3 reconciliation of recurring fair value measurements. The guidance also further clarifies
existing guidance on disclosure requirements around disaggregation and valuation techniques for both
recurring and non—recurring fair value measurements in either Level 2 or Level 3. The new authoritative

guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December i5, 2009, except for trie
requirement to separately disclose purchases, sales, issuances and settlements in the Level 3 reconciliation,

which is effective for interim and annual periods oeginning after December i5, 20i0. The Company will adopt

the guiciance in the first quarter of fiscal 201i and the first quarter of fiscal 20i2, respectively. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this guidance will have on its financial statement
disclosures.

in October 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on revenue recognition for arrangements with multiple

deliverables. The guidance amends previous literature to require an entity to use an estimated selling price

when vendor specific objective evidence or acceptable third party evidence does not exist for any products or
services included in a multiple element arrangement. The arrangement consideration should be allocated

among the products and services based upon their relatve selling prices, thus eliminating the use of the

residual method of allocation. The guidance also requires expanded qualitative and quantitative disclosures

regarding significant judgements made and changes in applying the guidance. The new authoritative

guidance is effective for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning

after June 15, 2010, with early application permitted. The Company plans to adopt the guidance in the first

quarter of fiscal 20ii and the Company does not expect the adoption will have a material impact on the
Company's results of operations and financial condition.

in October 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on certain revenue arrangements that include

software elements. The guidance amends previous literature to exclude tangible products containing software
components and nonesoftware components that function together to deliver the product’s essential

functionality from applying software revenue recognition guidance to those products. The new authoritative

guidance is effective for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years on or after

June 15, 2010 with early application permitted. The Company plans to adopt the guidance in the first quarter

of fiscal 2Ciii and the Company's does not expect ihe adoption will have a material impact on the Company's
results of operations and financial condition.

in June 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance to amend the manner in which an enterprise performs an

analysis to determine whether the enterprises variable interest gives it a controlling interest in the variable

interest entity [“VlE"). The guidance uses a qualitative risks and rewards approach by focusing on which

enterprise has the power to direct the activities of the VIE, the obligation to absorb the entity’s losses and

rights to receive benefits from the entity. The guidance also requires enhanced disclosures related to the ViE.
The new authoritative guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after November 15, 2009. The

Company will adopt the guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 201‘. and the Company does not expect the

adoption will have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

in June 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance amending the accounting for transfers of financial

assets. The guidance, among other things, eliminates the exceptions for qualifying special—purpose entities

 



from the consolidation guidance, clarifies the requirements for transferred financial assets that are eligible to

sale accounting and requires enhanced disclosures about a transferor's continuing involvement with

transferred financial assets. This new authoritative guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after

November 15, 2009. The Company will adopt the guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 and the Company

does not expect the adoption will have a material impact on the Company's results of operations and
financial condition.

in November 2008, the SEC announced a proposed roadmap for comment regarding the potential use by US

issuers of financial statements prepared in accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards

(“IFRS”). IFRS IS a comprehensive series of accounting standards published by the international Accounting

Standards Board. On February 24, 2010, the SEC issued a statement describing its position regarding global

accounting standards. Among other things, the SEC stated that it has directed its staff to execute a work plan,

which will nclude consideration of iFRS as it exists today and after completion of various “convergence”

projects currently underway between U.S. and international accounting standards setters. By 2011, assuming

completion of certain projects and the SEC staff’s work plan, the SEC will decide whether to incorporate IFRS

into the US. financial reporting system. The Company is currently assessing the impact that this proposed

change WOUld have on the consolidated financial statements, accompanying notes and disclosures. and will
continue to monitor the development of the potential implementation of iFRS.

Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements
Overview

As discussed in greater detail under “Explanatory Note Regarding the Restatement of Previously Issued

Financial Statements” in the MD82A for the fiscal year ended March 3, 2007 and Note12(c) to the audited

consolidated financial statements of the Company for the fiscal year ended March 3, 2007, the Company

restated its consolidated balance sheet as of March 4, 2006 and its consolidated statements of operations,

consolidated statements of cash flows and consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity for the fiscal

gears ended March 4, 2006 and February 26, 2005, and the related note disclosures (the “Restatement"), to

reflect additional non—cash stock compensation expense relating to certain stoci<~based awards granted prior
to the adoption of the Compony’s stock option plan on December 4,1996 (as amended from time to time, the

“Stock Option Plan") and certain stock option grants during the 1997 through 2006 fiscal periods, as well as

certain adjustments related to the tax accounting for deductible stock option expenses. The Restatement was

the result of a voluntary internal review (the “Review") by the Company of its historical stock option granting

practices The Restatement did not result in a change in the Company’s previously reported revenues, total

cash and cash equivalents or net cash provided from operating activities.

OSC Settlement

As discussed in greater detail under “Restatement of Previously issued Financial Statements — OSC Settlement"

in the iviD&iA for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2009, on February 5, 2009, a panel of Commissioners of

the OSC approved a settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with the Company and certain of its

officers and directors, including its Co-Chief Executive Off cers (“Co—CEOs”) relating to the previously disclosed
OSC investigation of the Company's historical stock option granting practices.

As part of the Settlement Agreement, the Company agreed to enter into an agreement with an hdependent

consultant to conduct a comprehensive examination and review of the Company and report to the Company‘s

board of d rectors and the staff of the OSC the Company's governance practices and procedures and its

internal control over financial reporting. The Company retained Protiviti Co. (“Protiviti“) to carry out this
engagement See “independent Governance Assessment’ and Appendix A to this MD82/\ for a further

description of Drotivitis engagement, its recommendations and the Company's responses to such

recommendations. A copy of Protivitis recommendations will also appear on the website of the OSC.

Independent Governance Assessment

As described above. the Company's historical stock option granting practices were the subject of an internal

review by a special committee (the “Special Commiitee") of the Board of Directors (“Board”) and investgations
by goverhrnerit authorities in Canada and the United States. in March 2007, the Special Committee made

recommendations to the Board on corporate governance that were adopted by the Board. Later in the same

year, the Company resolved litigation brought by a pension fund, which resulted in the Company

implementing additional corporate governance changes. Since March 2007, five new independent directors

have joined the Board. As a result of these developments, and the importance placed by the Board on



enhanced governance standards, the Board has devoted a considerable amount of time and attention to

corporate governance, and has had significant involvement in reviewing and improving the Company‘s
corporate governance practices prior to the engagement of Protiviti described below.

Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the Company agreed to submit to an independent assessment of its

governance practices and procedures by Protiviti. Protiviti is a consultant selected by staff of the OSC as

being an independent entity with experience in governance assessments. Schedule “C” to the Settlement

Agreement prescribed the procedures to be followed by the Company and Protiviti in conducting the

assessment Protiviti proceeded to conduct its review subject to the terms of the Settlement Agreement.

Schedule “C" to the Settlement Agreement required Protiviti to prepare a draft report and submit that report to

the Company for review and comment before the report was finalized. Schedule “C” contemplates that, with

respect to each of the recommendations in the final report, the Company will (a) adopt the recommendation,

(b) adapt alternative measures that the Company and Protiviti agree are acceptable to address the

consultarts recommendation, or (c) decline to adopt the recommendation.

Where the Company has agreed to adopt a recommendation, either as initially proposed or as modified, the

Company is required to disclose in its MD8iA a description of the recommendation that the Company has

agreed tc implement, together with the Company's plan, along with any actions already taken, to implement

the recommendation. A decision to decline to adopt a recommendation must be made by the Company’s

independent directors and the reasons for that decision must be set out in writing and disclosed in the
Company’s iViD8iA.

Arising from the events leading to the Settlement Agreement, the Company's Board and senior management

team, |0C|.Jdiflg the Company's Co—CEOs, are committed to establishing and maintaining high standards of

corporate governance. This has been demonstrated by significant governance improvements adopted by the
Company over the past four and a half years, together with additional improvements that the Company is in
the process of adopting or has agreed to adopt.

Following field work. on October 26, 2009, Protiviti submitted a draft report to the Board and to staff of the

OSC, as of June 30, 2009, regarding certain of the Company's corporate governance practices. The lead

Director and the Chair of the Board’s Compensation, Nomination and Governance Committee, representing the

independent directors of the Board, consulted with other Board members, participated in subsequent

discussions with Protiviti concerning its draft reports and provided direction in connection with the Company's
responses to the draft reports.

in the course of providing comments on the draft reports, the Lead Director and the Chair of the Boaid’s

Compensation, Nomination and Governance Committee and Protiviti had contemporaneous discussions

concerning the necessity or appropriateness of the recommendations and the steps required by the Company
to address certain of the recommendations, with a view to completing those discussions with the issuance of

the final report contemplated by the Settlement Agreement. Following the conclusion of those discussions
Protiviti issued its final report.

The final report contains 29 recommendations in i3 subject areas. The Company has addressed, agreed to

adopt or has already adopted 27 of these recommendations in whole and two others in part.

The Board ‘ound the final report helpful in many respects, and considered all of the recommendations.

Because the report reflects field work to June 30, 2009, it does not take into account certain governance

changes ano other enhancements adopted by the Company over the past nine months, many of which were
contemplated or in progress during the course of Protiviti's engagement. Some recommendations have

already been implemented or are being implemented by the Board because of the corporate governance

work descrioed above, in considering further changes to the Company's corporate governance practices, the

Board is cognizant of the rapid and extraordinary growth of the Company, in terms of number of employees

and its expanding operations around the world. it is also recognizes that the Company’s entrepreneur al

culture has been a significant factor in the Comparys success and that no one set of governance practices

fits all companies. The Board wants to ensure that its governance practices, while fully compliant, are
necessary or appropriate for the unique company that is RIM. As Protiviti itself notes in its report, considerable

professional judgment is involved in evaluating the information provided and developing its observations and

recommendations. such that others could evaluate the information differently and draw other conclusions.

Ultimately the Board believes that it is best situateci, in terms of access to information and knowledge of the
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Company and its current governance practices, to determine which of the recommendations are necessary or

appropriate for the Company and how such recommendations should be implemented.

Attached as Appendix A are the recommendations made by Protiviti in its final report, together with the

Company's response to each recommendation. Where the Company has declined to adopt a
recommendation, that decision was made by the Company's independent directors, and the reasons for that

decision are set out in Appendix A. Appendix A a.so contains a brief discussion about Protiviti's scope of review
as set out in Attachment “i” to Protiviti’s final report.

SEC Settlements

As discussed in greater detail under “Restatemert of Previously issued Financial Statements ~ SEC

Settlements” in the MD82A for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2009, on February i7, 2009, the Company, anc

certain of its officers, including its Co-CEOs, entered into settlements with the SEC that resolved the previously

disclosed SEC investigation of the Company’s historical stock option granting practices.

Actions Taken as a Result of the Review

As previously disclosed and before the retention of Protiviti, the Board, based on the recommendations of the

Special Committee, implemented a number of measures in response to the findings of the Special Committee,

including measures that are designed to enhance the oversight and corporate governance of the Company

and to strengthen the Company's control over its stock option granting process in particular. These measures
include

- Benefits from Option Grants — All directors anc each of RiM’s Co-CEOs and Chief Operating Officers (“c-

level officers") agreed in respect of options that were incorrectly priced to return any benefit on previously
exercised options and to reprice unexercised options that were incorrectly priced. All vice presidents of the

Company were asked to agree to similar treatment for their options that have dating issues, where those

options were granted after the employee's commencement of employment and in the employee’s capacity

as vice president. All of the stock options held oy directors, c—level officers and vice presidents that were

subject to such repricing have been repriced, and the Company received $8.7 million, including interest, in
restitution payments from its directors, c—level officers and vice presidents in fiscal 2008. In addition to the

repricings described above. certain employees of the Company agreed in fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009 to

reprice stock options held by them that were incorrectly priced. in fiscal 20i0, the Company completed the

repricing to a higher exercise price of certain of its outstanding stock options. Repriced options in fiscal
20i0, which were all done on a voluntary basis between the Company and the option holder, include 27

stock option grants in respect of options to acquire 458,800 common shares and in fiscal 2009 43 stock

option grants in respect of options to acquire 752,775 common shares.

- Changes to the Company's Stock Option Granting Practices — in June 2007, the Board approved a formal

policy on granting equity awards, the details of which are described in the Company’s Management

information Circular, dated May 28,2008 (the “Management information Circular“), a copy of which can be

found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. In addition, in July 2007, the

Board of Directors determined to exclude independent directors from future stock option grants.

- Changes to the Board, Board Committees and Organizational Structure — in accordance with the Special

Comncittee's recommendations and other considerations, the Board established in 2007 an Oversignt

Committee, separated the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, implemented other changes to the

Board. Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominating Committee, and changed various
management roles. in addition to Barbara Stymest and John Wetmore, who became directors of the

Company in March 2007, David Kerr and Roger Martin were elected as directors of the Company 0'. tne

Annua‘ General Meeting of the Company on July i7, 2007. Each of the new directors is "independent" within
the meaning of applicable securities laws and stock exchange rules. As previously disclosed, each of

Douglas Fregin, Kendall Cork and Douglas Wright did not stand for re—election at the Annual General

Meeting of the Company in 2007. Kendall Cork and Douglas Wright were appointed to the honorary
position of Director Emeritus of the Board effective July i7, 2007 in recognition of their substantial
contributions to the Company over many years.

- Other Changes — The Company established an internal audit department and an individual commenced

employment with the Company in the fourth aua'ter of fiscal 2008 in the position of Senior Vice President,

Risk Performance and Audit. This new officer reports directly to the Audit 81 Risk Management Committee as

well as administratively to the Co-Chief Executive Officer, Jim Balsillie. Additionally, the Company enhanced

its capabilities in US. GAAP and in securities disclosure and compliance matters issues by establishing two



new permanent full—time positions which have been filled, respectively. by an employee with expertise in US.

GAAP and an employee with expertise in securities disclosure and compliance. The latter employee is
assisting in the administration of the Company's equity awards granting program.

Review Costs

included in the Company’s selling, marketing ard administration expenses in fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009 are

legal, accounting and other professional costs incurred by the Company as well as other costs incurred by the

Company under indemnity agreements in favor of certain officers and directors of the Company, in each case

in connection with the Review, the Restatement, and the regulatory investigations and litigation related thereto.

Jim Baisillie and Mike Lazaridis, the Company’s Co—CEOs, voluntarily offered to assist the Cornpany in

defraying costs incurred in connection with the Review and the Restatement by contributing CAD $10.0 million

(CAD $5.0 million each) of those costs. The Company received these voluntary payments in the second quarter
of fiscal 2008, which were recorded net of income taxes as an increase to additional paid—in capita.. in
addition, as part of the Notice of Application that was filed with the Ontario Superior Court of Justice-

Commercial List by a pension fund shareholder, seeking various orders against the Company and named
directors, the Company and the other defendants entered into an agreement with the shareholder to settle the

Application and a proposed derivative action. Under the settlement, among other things, the Company agreed
to the payment of CAD $1.1 million on account of the shareholder's legal costs. and consistent with their earlier

voluntary agreement to contribute CAD $5.0 million each to defray the costs incurred by RIM in connection with

the Review. Jim Balsillie and Mike Lazaridis, agreed to pay RIM a further CAD $2.5 million each to defray the
Review costs incurred by the Company. The Company received these voluntary payments of CAD $2.5 million
each in the third quarter of fiscal 2008, which were recorded net of income taxes as an increase to additional

paid-in capital. Under the Settlement Agreement, the Co—CEOs and R|M’s former Chief Financial Officer agreed
to contribute an additional CAD $29.8 million (a total of CAD $44.8 million) to defray costs incurred by the

Company in the investigation and remediation of stock options, granting practices and related governance

practices at the Company. These contributions are being made through those individuals undertaking not to

exercise vested RIM options to acquire an aggregate of 1,160,129 common shares of the Company. Tnese

options have a fair value equal to the aggregate contribution amounts determined using a BSM calculation
based on the last trading day prior to the day the OSC issued a notice of hearing in respect of the matters
giving rise to the settlement.

Risks Related to the Company’s Historical Stock Option Granting Practices

As a result of the events described above, the Company continues to be subject to risks which are discussed in
greater detail in the “Risk Factors” section of RiM’s Annual Information Form, which is included in R|M's Annual
Report on Form 40—F.

Results of Operations — Fiscal 2010 Compared to Fiscal 2009 and Fiscal 2008

Fiscal year end February 27, 2010 compared to fiscal year ended February 28, 2009
Revenue

Revenue for fiscal 2010 was $14.95 billion, an increase of $3.88 billion, or 35.1%, from $11.07 billion in fiscal 2009.

A comparative breakdown of the significant revenue streams is set forth in the following table:

For the Fiscal Year Ended

Change Fiscal
 February 27, 2010 February 28, 2009 2010/2009

Number of devices sold .............. .. 36,707,000 26,009,000 10,698,000 41.1%

Avera eSellin Price 3 330 $ 349 $ (19) (5.4%)          
Revenue (in thousands)

Devices . . . . . . . . .. 3 12,115,765 81.0% $ 9,089,736 82.1% $ 3,026,029 333%

Service . .. . . . . . . . . . . .. 2,158,591 14.4% 1,402,560 12.7% 756,031 53.9%
Software .. .. . . . . . . . . . . .. 258,635 1.7% 251,871 2.3% 6,764 2.7%
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 420,233 2.9% 321,019 2.9% 99,214 30.9%

$ 14,953,224 100.0% :3 11,065,186 100.0% $ 3,888,038 35.1%

Device revenue increased by $3.03 billion, or 33.3%, to $12.12 billion, or 81.0% of consolidated revenue, ir fiscal
2010 compared to $9.09 billion, or 82.1%, of consolidated revenue in fiscal 2009. This increase in device revenue

 



over the prior gear was primarilg attributable to a volume increase of approximdtelg 10.7 million units, or 41.1%.

to approximately 36.7 million devices in fiscal 2010 compared to dpproximatelg 26.0 million devices in fiscal

2009. ASP decreased to $330 in fiscal 2010 from $349 in fiscal 2009 reflecting a shift in the mix of certain

products shipped in the fiscal gear and the expansion of the Compangs focus into broader market segments
through the introduction of entrg—level BlackBerrg smartphones.

The Compang estimates that a $10, or 3.0%, change in blended ASP would result in a fiscal gear revenue
change of approximatelg $367.1 million, based upon the Compang’s volume of devices shipped in f.scal 2010.

Service revenue increased bg $756.0 million, or 53.9%, to $2.16 billion or 14.4% of consolidated revenue in fiscal

2010, compared to $1.40 billion, or 12.7% of consolidated revenue in fiscal 2009, reflecting the Compang’s

increase in BlackBerrg subscriber accounts since fiscal 2009. Net BlackBerrg subscriber account additions

were approximatelg 17 million for fiscal 2010 compared to approximatelg 11 million for fiscal 2009. The total

BlackBerrg subscriber account base at the end of fiscal 2010 was over 41 million compared to appraximatelg

25 million at the end of fiscal 2009. The percentage of the subscriber account base outside of Norti‘ America

at the end of fiscal 2010 was dpproximatelg 38%.

Software revenue includes fees from licensed BES software, CALs, technical support, maintenance and
upgrades. Software revenue increased $6.7 million, or 2.7%, to $258.6 million in fiscal 2010 from $251.9 million in

fiscal 2009. The majoritg of the increase was attributable to technical support and other software revenues,
partiallg offset bg a decrease in CALs.

Other revenue. which includes non-warrantg repairs, accessories, NRE and gains and losses on revenue

hedging instruments, increased bg $99.2 million to $420.2 million in fiscal 2010 compared to $321.0 million in

fiscal 2009. The majoritg of the increase was attributable to increases in non—wdrrdntg repair and sales of

accessories offset partiallg bg losses realized from revenue hedging instruments. See “Market Risk of Financial

Instruments — Foreign Exchange” for additional information on the Compang's hedging instruments.

Gross Margin

Consolidated gross margin increased bg $1.48 billion, or 29.2%, to $6.58 billion, or 44.0% of revenue, in fiscal

2010, compared to $5.10 billion, or 46.1% of revenue, in fiscal 2009. The decrease of 2.1% in consolidated gross

margin percentage was primarilg due to a decrease in the blended device margins driven bg shifts in product

mix, the transition to new device platforms, the introduction of feature rich products to address broader

market segments, and a decrease in device ASPS of approximatelg 5.4% compared to fiscal 2009. Tris

decrease in gross margin was partiallg offset bg higher service revenue which comprised 14.4% of total

revenue mix in fiscal 2010 compared to 12.7% in the some period of fiscal 2009 along with a lower percentage

of revenue from device shipments which comprised 81.0% of total revenue mix in fiscal 2010 compared to 82.1%

in the same period of fiscal 2009. Gross margin percentage for devices is generally lower thdr the Compang’s
consolidated gross margin percentage.

Operating Expenses

The table below presents a comparison of research and development, selling, marketing and administration,
amortization and litigation expenses for fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009.

(in l‘f7DUSO."‘l.“/S,‘

For the Fiscal Year Ended

Change —— Fiscal

 

February 27, 2010 :ebruarg 28. 2009 2010/2009
% of % of % of

Revenue Revenue Change

Revenue .. . . . .. $14,953,224 $11,065,186 $3,888,038 35.1%

Operating expenses

Research and development .............. .. $ 964,841 6.5% $ 684,702 6.2% 3 280,139 40.9%

Selling, marketing and administration .. 1,907,398 12.8% 1,495,697 13.5% 411,701 27.5%
Amortization. .. . .. . .. .. 310,357 2.1% 194,803 1.8% 115,554 59.3%
Litigation . .. . . . . _ . . . . .. . 163,800 1.1% — — 163,800 —

Total.. .. .. . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 3,346,396 22.5% $2,375,202 21.5% $ 971,194 40.9% 



Total operating expenses for fiscal 2010 as a percentage of revenue increased by 1.0% to 22.5% of revenue
compared to fiscal 2009.

Research and Development

Research and development expenditures consist primarily of salaries and benefits for technical personnel, new

product development costs, travel, office and building infrastructure costs and other employee costs.

Research and development expenditures increased by $280.1 million to $964.8 million, or 6.5% of revenue, in

fiscal 2010, compared to $684.7 million, or 6.2% of revenue, in fiscal 2009. The majority of the increases during
fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009 were attributable to salaries and benefits due to an increase in the

average headcount associated with research and development activities, new product development costs and

office and building infrastructure costs.

Selling, Marketing and Administration Expenses

Selling, marketing and administration expenses consist primarily of marketing, advertising and promotion,

salaries and benefits, external advisory fees, information technology costs, office and related staffing
infrastructure costs and travel expenses.

Selling, marketing and administration expenses increased by $411.7 million to $1.91 billion for fiscal 2010

compared to $1.50 billion for fiscal 2009. As a percentage of revenue, selling, marketing and administration
expenses decreased to 12.8% in fiscal 2010 versus 13.5% in fiscal 2009. The net increase of $411.7 million was

primarily attributable to increased expenditures for marketing, advertising and promotion, including additional

programs to support new product launches, increased salary and benefits expenses primarily as a result of

increased personnel, external advisory fees and information technology costs.

With the enactment of changes to the functional currency tax legislation by the Government of Canada in the

first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company changed the basis for calculating its income tax provision for its

Canadian operations from Canadian dollars to the US. dollar, its reporting currency, with the effective date

being the beginning of fiscal 2009. Gains realized on the revaluation of these tax liabilities previously
denominated in Canadian dollars throughout 2009 were reversed upon enactment of the changes to the rules

in the first auarter of fiscal 2010. Included in the total selling, marketing and administration for fiscal 2010 is a

$54.3 million charge primarily relating to the reversal of foreign exchange gains previously recorded ‘n fiscal

2009 on the revaluation of Canadian dollar denominated tax liability balances. Throughout fiscal 2009,

foreign exchange gains were offset by foreign exchange losses incurred as a part of the Company's foreign

currency hedging program. See “income Taxes" for the fiscal year ended February 27, 2010 for further details
on the changes to the functional currency tax legislation in Canada, and “Market Risk of Financial

Instruments — Foreign Exchange" for additional information on the Company’s hedging instruments.

Selling, marketing and administration expenses for fiscal 2010 also included a charge of $42.1 million for the

payment on account of certain employee tax liabilities related to certain previausly—exercised stock options

with measurement date issues that were exercised during certain time periods. The Company’s Board of
Directors approved the payment on account of certain incremental personal tax liabilities of certain

employees, excluding R|M’s Co-CEOs, related to the exercise of certain stock options issued by the Company.

Amortization Expense

The table below presents a comparison of amortization expense relating to capital assets and intangible

assets re:orded as amortization or cost of sales for fisca. 2010 compared to fiscal 2009. Intangible assets are
comprised of patents, licenses and acquired technology.

(in thousands,

For the Fiscal Year Ended

Included in Amortization Included in Cost of sales

February 27, February 28, February 27, February 28,

2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change

Capital assets .. . $184,946 $119,209 3 65,737 $159,540 $ 84,168 $75,372

intangible assets . . .. 125,411 75,594 49,817 145,724 48,925 96,799

Total. .. .. . .. . .. $310,357 $194,803 $115,554 $305,264 $133,093 $172,171  
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 Amortization

The increased amortization expense primarilg reflects the impact of certain capital assets and intangible asset
additions made during fiscal 2010.

Cost of sales

The increased amortization expense in fiscal 2010, related to the Compang's manufacturing operations and

BlackBerrg service operations, primarilg reflects the impact of amortization expense with respect to certain
intangible assets and capital asset additions made during fiscal 2010.

Litigation

In fiscal 2010, the Compang settled all the outstanding Vista Litigation. The keg terms of the settlement

involved the Compang receiving a perpetual and fullg—paid license on all Vista patents, a transfer a‘ certain

Vista intellectual propertg, a one—time pagment bg the Compang of $267.5 million and the parties executing full

and final releases in respect of the Vista Litigation. Of the total pagment bg the Compang, $163.8 million was

expensed as a litigation charge in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. The remainder of the pagment was
recorded as intangible assets.

investment Income

Investment income decreased bg $49.7 million to $28.6 million in fiscal 2010 from $78.3 million in fiscal 2009.

The decrease primarilg reflects the decrease in gields on investments due to lower interest rates when

compared to the same period in fiscal 2009, offset partiallg bg an increase in the Compang's average cash

and cash equivalents, short—term investments and long-term investments balances throughout fiscal 2010

compared to the prior fiscal gear and the gain on sale of investments in fiscal 2009. See “Liquiditg and
Capital Resources”.

Income Taxes

For fiscal 2010, the Compang's income tax expense was $809.4 million, resulting in an effective tax rate of

24.8% compared to income tax expense of $907.7 million and an effective tax rate of 32.4% for the some period
last gear. Tne Compang's effective tax rate reflects the geographic mix of earnings in jurisdictions with
d'fferent tax rates.

Ir the first quarter of fiscal 2010. the Government of Canada enacted changes to its income tax legislation
which allows the Compang the option to elect, on an anrual basis, to determine its Canadian income tax

based on its functional currencg (the US. dollar) rather than the Canadian dollar. While the Compang had
e ected for Canadian tax purposes to adopt these rules in the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compang could
not recognize the related income tax benefit of electing to adopt these rules under U.S. GAAP until the first

quarter of fiscal 2010. As a result of the enactment of the changes to the legislation and the Compang’s

e ection, the Compang was able to recalculate its fiscal 2009 Canadian income tax liabilitg based on its

functional currencg (the US. dollar) and record an incremental income tax benefit of approximatelg

$45.0 million to net income in fiscal 2010. This election should reduce the volatilitg in the Compang's effective
tax rate due to changes in foreign exchange. See "Non—Gl\AP Financial Measures".

The Compang's effective tax rate in fiscal 2010 was lower due to the $145.0 million incremental tax benefit

related to fiscal 2009 that resulted from the Compang opting to elect to determine its Canadian income tax

results on its functional currencg (the US. dollar). The Compang's adjusted tax rate for fiscal 2010 was

approximatelg 29.4% in line with managements estimate of 29%-30%. The Compang’s effective tax rate in
fiscal 2009 was higher primarilg due to the significant deoreciation of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S.

dollar in the third auarter of fiscal 2009 and its effect on the Compang's US. dollar denominated assets and
liabilities held bg the Compang's Canadian operating companies that are subject to tax in Canadian dollars.

The incremental tax expense in fiscal 2009 resulting from the significant depreciation of the Canadian dollar
relative to the US. dollar was $99.7 million resulting in an adjusted tax rate for fiscal 2009 of 28.9%.

Management anticipates that the Compang's effective tax rate for fiscal 2011 will be approximatelg 28%.

Management also anticipates the Compang‘s effective tax rate will continue to decrease further in future gears
due to scheduled Canadian corporate tax rate reductions.

The Compang has not provided for Canadian income taxes or foreign withholding taxes that would aoplg on
the distribution of income of its nor—Canadian subsidiaries, as this income is intended to be reinvested

indefiniteg bg these subsidiaries.



Net Income

Net income was $2.46 billion, or $4.35 basic EPS and $4.31 diluted EPS, in fiscal 2010 compared to net income a‘

$1.89 billion, or $3.35 basic EPS and $3.30 diluted EPS, in the prior fiscal gear. The common shares repurchased
bg the Compang in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 had an impact on the basic and diluted EPS amounts of
$0.03 per share for fiscal 2010.

Adjusted net income for fiscal 2010 was $2.49 billion and adjusted diluted EPS was $4.37 in fiscal 2010. See
“Non—GAAP Financial Measures".

The $564.5 million increase in net income in fiscal 2010 reflects primarilg an increase in gross margin in the
amount of $1.48 billion, resulting primarilg from the increased number of device shipments, additional
subscriber accounts and a decrease in the provision of income taxes of $98.4 million, which included a benefit

of $145.0 million, which was partiallg offset bg the decrease in consolidated gross margin percentage, as well

as an increase of $971.2 million in the Compangs operating expenses, which included a litigation charge of

$163.8 million relating to the Vista Litigation and unusual charges of $96.4 million. See “Results of Operations —
Selling, i\’ari<eting and Administration Expenses’, “Results of Operations — Litigation" and “Results of
Operations — income Taxes” for the gear ended Februarg 27, 2010.

The weighted average number of shares outstanding was 564.5 million common shares for basic EPS and

569.8 million common shares for diluted EPS for the fiscal gear ended Februarg 27,2010 compared 10

565.1 million common shares for basic EPS and 574.2 million common shares for diluted EPS for the fiscal gear
ended Februarg 28, 2009.

Common Shares Outstanding

On March 30. 2010, there were 557.4 million common shares, 8.9 million options to purchase common shares,

1.4 millior restricted share units outstanding and 34,801 deferred share units outstanding.

The Compang has not paid ang cash dividends during the last three fiscal gears.

On November 4, 2009, the Compang’s Board of Directors authorized a Common Share Repurchase Program for

the repurchase and cancellation through the facilities of the NASDAQ Stock Market, common shares having an

aggregate purchase price of up to $1.2 billion, or approximatelg 21 million common shares based on t"ading

prices at the time of the authorization. This represents approximatelg 3.6% of the outstanding common shares of

the Compang at the time of the authorization. in the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the Compang repurchased

12.3 million common shares at a cost of $775.0 million pursuant to the Common Share Repurchase Program.

There was a reduction of $46.5 million to capital stock in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 and the amounts paid in

excess of the per share paid—in capital of the common shares of $728.5 million were charged to retained

earnings. All common shares repurchased bg the Compang pursuant to the Common Share Repurchase

Program have been cancelled. The Common Share Repurchase Program will remain in place for up to 12 months

from November 4, 2009 or until the purchases are completed or the program is terminated bg the Compang.

Fiscal year end February 28, 2009 compared to fiscal year ended March 1, 2008

Revenue

Revenue forfiscai 2009 was $11.07 billion, an increase of $5.06 billion, or 84.1%, from $6.01 billion in fiscal 2008.

A comparative breakdown of the significant revenue streams is set forth in the following table:

For the Fiscal Year Ended

Change Fiscal
 Februarg 28, 2009 March 1, 2008 2009/2008

Number of devices sold .. . 26,009,000 13,780,000 12,229,000 88.7%

Avera e Sellin Price . .... .. . $ 349 $ 346 3 3 0.9%       

Revenue (in thousands)

Devices . . . .. . .. $ 9,089,736 82.1% $ 4,768,610 79.4% $ 4,321,126 90.6%
Service . .. . . . . . . . . . . .. 1,402,560 12.7% 860,641 14.3% 541,919 63.0%

Software .. . . .. .. . 251,871 2.3% 234,388 3.9% 17,483 7.5%
Other. . . .. . . . . . . . .. 321,019 2.9% 145,756 2.4% 175,263 120.2%

  

8 11,065,186 100.0% $ 6,009,395 1000% $ 5,055,791 84.1%

 



Device revenue increased by $4.32 billion, or 90.6%, to $9.09 billion, or 82.1% of consolidated revenue, in fisca.
2009 compared to $4.77 billion, or 79.4%, of consolidated revenue in fiscal 2008. This increase in device

revenue over the prior year was primarily attributable to a volume increase of approximately 12.2 million units,

or 88.7%, to approximately 26.0 million devices in fiscal 2009 compared to approximately 13.8 million devices

in fiscal 2008. ASP increased to $349 in fiscal 2009 from $346 in fiscal 2008 due primarily to a change in the
BlackBerry device mix of certain new products that were feature rich and designed to operate on new network
technoogies.

Service revenue increased by $541.9 million, or 63.0%, to $1.40 billion or 12.7% of consolidated revenue in fiscal

2009 compared to $860.6 million, or 14.3% of corsolidated revenue in fiscal 2008, reflecting the Company's
increase in BlackBerry subscriber accounts since fiscal 2008. Net BlackBerry subscriber account additions
were approximately 11 million for fiscal 2009 compared to approximately 6.1 million for fiscal 2008. The total

BlackBerry subscriber account base at the end of fiscal 2009 was approximately 25 million compared to

approximately i4 million at the end of fiscal 2008. The percentage of the subscriber account base outside of

North America at the end of fiscal 2009 was approximately 32%.

Software revenue includes fees from licensed BES software, CALs, technical support, maintenance and
upgrades. Software revenue increased $17.5 million, or 7.5%, to $251.9 million in fiscal 2009 from $234.4 million in

fiscal 2008. The majority of the increase was attributable to maintenance and CALs, offset by a decrease in
BES and other software revenues.

Other revenue, which includes accessories, non—warranty repairs, NRE and gains and losses on revenue

hedging instruments, increased by $175.3 million to $321.0 million in fiscal 2009 compared to $145.8 million in

fiscal 2008 The majority of the increase was attributable to increases in non—warranty repair, gains realized
from revenue hedging instruments and sales of accessories.

Gross Margin

Consolidated gross margin increased by $2.02 billion, or 65.5%, to $5.10 billion, or 46.1% of revenue, in fiscal

2009, compared to $3.08 billion, or 51.3% of revenue, in fiscal 2008. The decrease of 5.2% in consolidated gross
margin percentage was primarily due to a decrease in the blended device margins primarily driven by the

introduction of certain new feature rich products that incorporated new technologies which were adopted at a

faster rate than historically, lower than anticipated unit shipments of previous generation products, and a
higher percentage of device shipments which comprised 82.1% of the total revenue mix in fiscal 2009

compared to 79.4% in fiscal 2008. Gross margin percentage for devices is generally lower than the Company's
consolidated gross margin percentage. The decrease in gross margin percentage relating to devices was
offset in part by improved service margins resulting from cost efficiencies in R|M‘s network operations
infrastructure as a result of the increase in BlackBerry subscriber accounts.

Operating Expenses

The table below presents a comparison of research and development, selling, marketing and administration,
and amortization expenses for fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008.

(in ihausarids}

For the Fiscal Year Ended

Change — Fiscal

February 28, 2009 March 1, 2008 2009/2008

% of % of % of

Revenue Revenue Change 

Revenue. .. . . .. .. . .. 3 11,065,186 $6,009,395 3 5,055,791 84.1%

Operating expenses

Research aha development . . $ 684,702 6.2% $ 359,828 6.0% 3 324,874 90.3%
Selling, marketing and

adrninislrctiar .. . . . . . 1,495,697 13.5% 881,482 14.7% 614,215 69.7%
Amortization . . . . . . . . .. 194,803 1.8% 108,112 1.8% 86,691 80.2%

Total .. .. . . . . . .. . $ 2,375,202 21.5% $ 1,349,422 22.5% $1,025,780 76.0% 

Total operating expenses for fiscal 2009 as a percentage of revenue decreased by 1.0% to 21.5% of revenue
compared to fiscal 2008.



Research and Development

Research and development expenditures increased bu $324.9 million to $684.7 million, or 6.2% of revenue, in

fiscal 2009, compared to $359.8 million, or 6.0% of revenue, in fiscal 2008. The majoritu of the increases during
fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008 were attributable to salaries and benefits due to an increase in the

average neadcount associated with research and development activities, new product development costs,
travel and office and related staffing infrastructure costs.

Selling, Marketing and Administration Expenses

Selling. marketing and administration expenses increased bu $614.2 million to $1.50 billion for fiscal 2009

compared to $881.5 million for the comparable period in fiscal 2008. As a percentage of revenue, selling,
marketing and administration expenses decreased to 13.5% in fiscal 2009 compared to 14.7% in fiscal 2008.

The net increase was primarilu attributable to increased expenditures for marketing, advertising and

promotion expenses including additional programs to support new product launches, salaru and benefits

expenses primarilu as a result of increased personnel, external advisoru fees, office and related staffing
infrastructure costs and travel expenses.

Amortization Expense

The table below presents a comparison of amortization expense relating to capital assets and intangible

assets recorded as amortization or cost of sales for fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008. Intangible assets are
comprised of patents, licenses and acquired technologu.

(in ihousanos)

For the Fiscal Year Ended

 

Included In Amortization included In Cost of sales

February 28, March 1, February 28, March 1,

2009 2008 Change 2009 2008 Change

Capital assets . .. .. . .. . .. $119,209 $87,800 $31,409 $ 84,168 $45,248 $38,920

intangible assets . . .. 75,594 20,312 55,282 48,925 24,006 24,919

Total. . .. .. . . . .. .. $194,803 $ 108.112 $86,691 $133,093 $ (29,254 $63,839

Amortization

The increased amortization expense primarilu reflects the impact of certain capital assets and intangible asset
additions made during fiscal 2009.

Cost of sales

The increased amortization expense in fisca; 2009, related to the Companu’s manufacturing operations and

BlaCkBerru service operations, primarilu reflects the impact of amortization expense with respect to certain
intangible assets and capital asset additions made during fiscal 2009.

Investment income

Investment income decreased bu $1.1 million to $78.3 million in fiscal 2009 from $79.4 million in fiscal 2308. The

decrease primarilu reflects the decrease in uields due to lower interest rates when compared to the prior uear.

offset partiallu bu an increase in the average cash and cash equivalents, short—term investments and long-

term investments balances throughout fiscal 2009 when compared to the same period in the prior uear and
the gain on sale of investments in fiscal 2009.

Income Taxes

For fiscal 2009, the Companu’s income tax expense was $907.7 million, resulting in an effective tax rate of

32.4% compared to income tax expense of $516.7 million and an effective tax rate of 28.5% for the same period

last uear. The Companus effective tax rate reflects the geographic mix of income in jurisdictions with different
tax rates The Companus effective tax rate was approximatelu 3% higher than management's estimate of
29%—30"/o for the fiscal uear primarilu due to the significant depreciation of the Canadian dollar relative to the

US. dollar in the third quarter of fiscal 2009 and its effect on the Companu’s US. dollar denominated assets

and liabilities held bu the Companu’s Canadian operating companies that are subject to tax in Canadian
dollars. The incremental tax expense in fiscal 2009 resulting from the significant depreciation of the Canadian

dollar relative to the US. dollar was $99.7 million resulting in an adjusted tax rate of 28.9%. The lower effective
tax rate in fiscal 2008 was primarilu due to the favorable impact of the depreciation of the U.S. dollar relative
to the Canadian dollar.  
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As noted above. on March 12. 2009. subsequent to the Company’s fiscal year end, the Government of Canada
enacted iegislation to allow the Company the option to determine its Canadian tax results based on its

functional currency (the US. dollar) rather than the Canadian dollar. While the Company elected for Canadian

tax purposes to adopt these rules in the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Company could not recognize the

relateo tax benefit of electing to adopt these rules for U.S. GAAP financial reporting purposes until the quarter
in which they were enacted resulting in a $99.7 million h gher provision for income taxes in fiscal 2009. As

noted above, in the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company recorded an incremental, one time net benefit of

approximately $145.0 million to net income relating to the adoption of the amending legislation.

Net Income

Net income was $1.89 billion in fiscal 2009, compared to net income of $1.29 billion in fiscal 2008. Basic EPS

was $3.35 and diluted EPS was $3.30 in fiscal 2009 compared to $2.31 basic EPS and $2.26 diluted EPS, in fiscal
2008.

The $598.7 million increase in net income in fiscal 2009 reflects primarily an increase in gross margin in the

amount of $2.02 billion, resulting primarily from the increased number of device shipments, which was partially
offset by the decrease of consolidated gross margin percentage and an increase of $1.33 billion in tne

Companys research and development, selling, marketing and administration expenses and the Company's
provision for income taxes, which included the negative impact of $99.7 million due to the significant

depreciation of the Canadian dollar relative to the US. dollar in the fiscal year. See “income Taxes”.

The weighted average number of shares outstanding was 565.1 million common shares for basic EPS and

574.2 m-llion common shares for diluted EPS for the fiscal year ended February 28,2009 compared to

559.8 million common shares for basic EPS and 572.8 million common shares for diluted EPS for the fiscal year
ended March i, 2008.

Stock Split

The Company declared a 3-for-1 stock split of the Company’s outstanding common shares on June 28, 2007.
The stock split was implemented by way of a stock dividend. Shareholders received two common shares of

the Company for each common share held. The stock dividend was paid in the second quarter of fiscal 2008.

All share, earnings per share and stock option data for the current fiscal year and prior comparative periods
reflects this stock dividend.



Summary Results of Operations

Three months ended February 27, 2010 compared to the three months ended February 28, 2009

The following table sets forth certain unaudited consolidated statement of operations data, which is expressec

in thousands of dollars, except for share and per share amounts and as a percentage of revenue, for the
interirr periods indicated.

(in ihousorids »:2x:epi‘ for per share amounts)
For the Three Months Ended

 

 

 

 

 

  

Change
Q4 Flscal

February 27, 2010 February 28, 2009 2010/2009

Revenue .. ................................................... .. 3 4,079,712 100.0% 59 3,463,193 100.0% $ 616,519

Cost of sales ........................................... .. 2,216,622 54.3% 2,079,615 60.0% 137,007

Gross margin ...................................................... .. 1,863,090 45.7% 1,383,578 40.0% 479,512

Operating expenses

Research and development ..................................... .. 267,164 6.6% 182,535 5.3% 84,629
Selling, marketing and administration ..................... .. 497,642 12.2% 406,493 11.7% 91,149

Amortization . .. . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 86,540 2.1% 61,595 1.8% 24,945

851,346 20.9% 650,623 18.8% 200,723

Income from operations ........................................ .. 1,011,744 24.8% 732,955 21.2% 278,789

Investment income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 5,454 0.1% 10,568 0.3% (5,114)

Income before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 1,017,198 24.9% 743,523 21.5% 273,675
Provision for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 307,076 7.5% 225,264 6.5% 81,812

Net income . . .. .. . . . ................. .. $ 710,122 17.4% $ 518,259 15.0% $ 191,863

Earnings per share
Basic .. .. . .................................... .. 3 1.27 $ 0 92 $ 0.35
Diluted .. . . . .. S 1.27 $ 0.90 $ 0.37

Weightec—average number of Shares outstanding
(0005)

Basic . .... .. 557,114 566,105
Diluted 561,130 572,753

Revenue

Revenue for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 was $4.08 billion, an increase of $616.5 million, or 17.8%, f'om
$3.46 blll|O'1 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009.

A comparative OFGCIKOOWF1 of the significant revenue streams is set forth in the following table:

For the Three Months Ended

Change Q4 Flscal
 

 

 

 

 

February 27, 2010 February 28, 2009 2010/2009

Number of devices sold. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 10,469,000 7,780,000 2,689,000 34.6%

Average Selling Price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 311 $ 371 $ (60) (16.2%)

Revenue {in thousands)

Devices . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 3 3,254,401 79.8% $ 2,883,399 83.3% $ 371,002 12.9%

Service .. .. . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 640,517 15.7% 415,223 12.0% 225,294 54.3%

Software. . .. .. .. . .. 68,590 1.7% 58,756 1.7% 9,834 16.7%

Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 116,204 2.8% 105,815 3.0% 10,389 9.8%

$ 4,079,712 100.0% $ 3,463,193 100.0% $ 616,519 17.8%

Device F€V€i'1_J€ increased by $371.0 million, or 12.9%, to $3.25 billion, or 79.8% of consolidated revenue, in the

fourth owner of fiscal 2010 compared to $2.88 billion, or 83.3%, of consolidated revenue ‘in the fourth quarter

of fiscal 2009. This increase in device revenue over the same period in the prior year was primarily
attributable to a volume increase of approximately 2.7 million units, or 34.6%, to approximately 10.5 million

devices in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 compared to approximately 7.8 million devices in the fourth quarter

of fiscal 2009. ASP decreased to $311 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 from $371 in the fourth quarter of fiscal

2009 reflecting the shift in mix of certain products shipped in the quarter and the expansion of the Company's  
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focus into broader market segments. The Company currently expects ASP in the first quarter of fisca‘. 2011 to

be slightly tower than the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. ASP is dependent on a number of factors including

projected future sales volumes, device mix, new device introductions for the Company's enterprise, prosumer
and consumer offerings as well as pricing by competitors in the industry.

The Company estimates that a $10, or 3.2%, change in blended ASP would result in a quarterly revenue change

of approximately $104.7 million. based upon the Company's volume of devices shipped in the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2010.

Service revenue increased by $225.3 million, or 54.3%, to $640.5 million, or 15.7% of consolidated revenue in the

fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, compared to $415.2 million, or 12.0% of consolidated revenue in the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2009, reflecting the Company’s increase in BlackBerry subscriber accounts since the fourtln quarter of

fiscal 2009. Net BiackBerry subscriber account additions were approximately 4.9 million for the fourth quarter

of fiscal 2010 compared to approximately 3.9 mllion for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. The total BlackBerry
subscriber account base at the end of the fourtr quarter of fiscal 2010 was over 41 million subscribers

compared to approximately 25 million subscribers at the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009.

Software revenue increased $9.8 million, or 16.7%, to $68.6 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 from

$58.8 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. The majority of the increase was attributable to tecnnical

support and other software revenues, partially offset by a decrease in CALs.

Other revenue increased by $10.4 million to $116.2 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 compared to

$105.8 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. The majority of the increase was attributable to increases in

non—warranty repair and sales of accessories, partially offset by lower gains realized from revenue hedging
instruments. See “Market Risk of Financial instruments — Foreign Exchange” for additional information on the
Company's hedging instruments.

Gross Margin

Consolidated gross margin increased by $479.5 million, or 34.7%, to $1.86 billion, or 45.7% of revenue, in the

fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, compared to $1.38 billion, or 40.0% of revenue, in the fourth quarter of fscal 2009.
The increase of 5.7% in consolidated gross margin percentage was primarily due to an increase in the blended

device margins driven by shifts in product mix and a lower percentage of revenue from device shipments

which comprised 798% of total revenue mix in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 compared to 83.3% in the same

period of fiscal 2009. As noted above, gross margin percentage for devices is generally lower than tne
Company's consolidated gross margin percentage.

The Company expects consolidated gross margin to be approximately 44.5% in the first quarter of fiscal 2011.

based on the Company's current expectation for product mix, device ASP, current product costs and foreign
exchange

Operating Expenses

The table below presents a comparison of research and development, selling, marketing and administration,
and amortization expenses for the quarter ended February 27, 2010, compared to the quarter ended

November 28, 2009 and the quarter ended February 28, 2009. The Company believes that it is meaningful to

also provide a comparison between the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 and the third quarter of fiscal 2010 given
that Rlivis quarterly operating results vary substantially.

{in thousands?
For the Three Months Ended

November 28, 2009February 27, 2010 February 28, 2009

 

 

% of % of % of

Revenue Revenue Revenue

Revenue . ......... .. 8 4,079,712 $ 3,924,310 $ 3,463,193

Operating expenses
Research and development ...... .. $ 267,164 6.6% $ 242,329 6.2% $ 182,535 53%

Selling, marketing and

administration. . . .. 497,642 12.2% 465,717 11.9% 406,493 11.7%

Amortization .. .. . . .. . 86,540 2.1% 83,129 2.1% 61,595 1.8%

Total .. 3 851,346 20.9% $ 791,175 20.2% $ 650,623 18.8%



Total operating expenses for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 as a percentage of revenue increased bu 0.7% to
20.9% of revenues when compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2010.

Research and Development

Research and development expenditures increased by $84.7 million to $267.2 million, or 6.6% of revenue, in the

fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, compared to $182.5 million, or 5.3% of revenue, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009

The majoritg of the increases during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 compared to the fourth quarter of fiscal
2009 were attributable to salaries and benefits due to an increase in the average headcount associated with

research and development activities, new product development costs and office and building infrastructure
costs.

Selling, Marketing and Administration Expenses

Selling, marketing and administration expenses increased bu $91.1 million to $497.6 million for the fourth

quarter of fiscal 2010 compared to $406.5 million for the comparable period in fiscal 2009. As a percentage of

revenue, selling, marketing and administration expenses increased to 12.2% in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010

compared to 11.7% in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. The net increase was primarilg attributable to increased

expenditures for marketing, advertising and promotion, including additional programs to support new product
launches, increased salary and benefits expenses primarily as a result of increased personnel, external
advisorg fees and information technology costs.

Amortization Expense

The table below presents a comparison of amortization expense relating to capital assets and intangible
assets recorded as amortization or cost of sales for the quarter ended Februarg 27,2010 compared to the

quarter ended Februarg 28, 2009. intangible assets are comprised of patents, licenses and acquired
technologg.

(in thousands)

For the Three Months Ended

 

Included In Amortization Included In Cost of sales

February 27, Februorg 28, February 27, Februarg 28.

2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change

Capital assets . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 53,340 $ 36,662 $ 16,678 $ 50,741 $ 28,347 $ 22,394

Intangible assets . 33,200 24,933 8,267 43,574 26,183 17,391

Total . . . . . . . . .. $ 86,540 $ 61,595 $ 24,945 3 94,315 $54,530 5% 39,785

Amortization

The increased amortization expense in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 primarilg reflects the impact of certain
capital assets and intangible asset additions made durir‘g fiscal 2010.

Cost of sales

The increased amortization expense in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, related to the Compang’s
manufacturing operations and BlackBerrg service operations, primarilg reflects the impact of amortization

expense with respect to certain intangible assets and capital asset additions made during fiscal 2010.

Investment Income

Investment income decreased bg $5.1 million to $5.5 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 from $10.6 million

in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. The decrease primarilg reflects the decrease in uields on investments due

to lower interest rates compared to the some period in fiscal 2009. offset partially by an increase in tne
Compangs average cash and cash equivalents, short—term investments and long—term investments balances.
See “Liquiditg and Capital Resources”.

Income Taxes

For the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company's income tax expense was $307.1 million, resulting in an
effective tax rate of 30.2% compared to income tax expense of $225.3 million and an effective tax rate of 30.3%

for the some period last gear. The Company's effective tax rate reflects the geographic mix of income in
jurisdictions with different tax rates.

Net Income

The Compangs net income for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 was $710.1 million, an increase of $191.9 million,

or 37.0%. compared to net income of $518.3 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. Basic EPS was $1.27 and
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diluted EDS was $1.27 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 compared to $0.92 basic EPS and $0.90 diluted EPS in

the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, a 41.1% increase in diluted EPS when compared to fiscal 2009. The common

shares repurchased by the Company in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 had an impact on the basic and
diluted EPS amounts of $0.03 per share for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010.

The increase in net income in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 in the amount of $191.9 million from the fourth

quarter of fiscal 2009 primarily reflects an increase in gross margin in the amount of $479.5 million, resulting
primarily from the increased number of device shipments and was partially offset by the decrease of

consolidated gross margin percentage, as well as an increase of $200.7 million in operating expenses.

The weighted average number of shares outstanding was 557.1 million common shares for basic EPS and

561.1 million common shares for diluted EPS for the quarter ended February 27, 2010 compared to 566.1 million
common shares for basic EPS and 572.8 million common shares for diluted EPS for the same period last fiscal
year

Selected Quarterly Financial Data

The following table sets forth RlM's unaudited quarterly consolidated results of operations data for each of the

eight most recent quarters, including the quarter ended February 27, 2010. The information in the table below

has been derived from RiM's unaudited interim consolidated financial statements that, in management's
opinion. have been prepared an a basis consistent with the audited consolidated financial statements of the

Company and include all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of information when read in

conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company. RlM’s quarterly ope-‘ating

results have varied substantially in the past and may vary substantially in the future. Accordingly, the
information below is not necessarily indicative of results for any future quarter.

(in thousands except per share data)
lincal Yizar 7010 Fiscal Year 7009

Fourth Third Secnnd First laurth Third Second First
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter (Juarta

Revenue. . . .. 5 4,079,712 3 3,924,310 $3,525,692 8 3,423,510 $3,463,193 3 2,782,098 3 2,577,333 $2,242,565

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 31,863,090 $ 1,675,255 $1,554,396 3 1,491,525 $ ’.3B3.578 $ 1.269.506 $1,306,857 8 ‘.,‘37,357Gross margin

 

 

Operating expensesii” ..................................... .. 851,346 791,175 902,411 801,464 650,623 629,035 604.624 490.920

investment income .. .............................. .. (5,454) (6,425) (7,625) (9,136) (10,568) (31,554) (17,168) (18,977)

income before income taxes ............................. .. 1,017,198 890,505 659,610 699,197 743.523 672,025 719,401 665,414

provision =6 income :6xes“” ............ .. . 307,076 262,134 183,989 56,167 225,264 275,729 223.855 182.899

Net income .......................................... 3 710,122 3 628,371 s 475,621 at 643,030 8 518,259 3 396,296 5 495.546 5 482,515__j__ 

Earnings per share

Basic .. s 1.27 s 1.11 s 0.84 s 1.13 3 0.92 $ 0.70 s 0.88 5 0.86

Diluted s 1.27 s 1.10 s 0.83 s 1.12 3 0.90 s 0.69 s 0.86 5 0.84

Research aha development ............. 3 267,164 3 242,329 3 235,571 3 219,777 $ 182,535 5 193.044 3 181,34" s 127.776

selling, moiweiing and Odminislrationm .... .. 497,642 465,717 429,748 514,291 406,493 382,968 379.644 326.592
Amortization. . ............................. .. 86,540 83,129 73,292 67,396 6,595 53.023 43.633 36.552
Litigation‘-Y. ................. ................. .. . - — 163,800 - ~ 8 —

Op€fOtil'1gE3>(D13f‘S€S ....................................... .. 3 851,346 3 791,175 5 902,411 s 801,464 5 650,623 5 629,035 8 604,624 3 490.920

NOIES

(11.
Selling, mariteting aha administration in the first quarter of fisca. 20'0 inciuoea unusual charges of $96.4 million ana provision for
income taxes l'1C‘.Ud€S a benefit of$'751 rriilllon These items rented to 0 charge for the payment on account of certain empoyee tax
liabilities; related to certain previously exercised stock options with measurement date issues that were exercised during certain time
periods on: li'1'ETQ'ElgF‘i excnange impact 0‘ the enactment of functiona. currency tax legislation in Canada. See “Non~GAAP FinancialMeasures"

in the secona auarte' of fiscal 2010. the Company settled the Vista Litgotian. Tnc key terms a‘ the settlement invoived the C: nnpany
receiving a perpetua. and fuliypoia‘ license on all Vista patents. a transfer of certain Vista intellectual property. a one—time payment by
the Comoanl, o‘ $267.5 million and the parties executing fcl. and final releases ir respect of the Vista Litigation. Of the total payment by
the Company. $163 8 million was expensed as a litigation cnargc .r the second auarter a‘f:sco12010. The remainder of the DtJgl'“.CF1I
was recorded as intangible assets. See "l\ion—GAAP Financial Measures‘.

Provisior for l'1f3fT‘iE lO><€S included the negative impact of ficctuations o‘ the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar in this third
auarter c‘ ‘iscal 2309 of aporarsmateiy $703.2 million.



Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The Company's financial statements are prepared in accordance with US. GAAP on a basis consistent for all

periods presented. In this MD82A, the Company has presented the following “non—GAAP financial measures”:
adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings per share. The term “non—GAAP financial measure’ is used

to refer to a numerical measure of a company’s historical or future financial performance, financia. position a‘

cash flows that: (i) excludes amounts, or is subject to adjustments that have the effect of excluding amounts,
that are included in the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with US.

GAAP in a company's statement of income, balance sheet or statement of cash flows; or (ii) includes amounts,

or is subject to adjustments that have the effect of including amounts, that are excluded from the most directly

comparable measure so calculated and presented. Adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings per

share are non~GAAP financial measures that exclude the impact of the charge for the payment of the

settlement of the Vista Litigation in the second quarter of fiscal 2010, and the impacts of the benefit relating to

the enactment of functional currency tax reporting legislation by the Government of Canada and the charge
for the payment on account of certain employee tax liabilities related to certain previously exercised stock

options with measurement date issues that were exercised during certain time periods in the first quarter of

fiscal 2010. This section of the MD82A describes the Company’s use of such non—GAAP financial measures.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to settle the Vista

Litigation with Vista. The key terms of the settlement involved the Company receiving a perpetual and fully

paid license on all Vista patents, a transfer of certain Vista intellectual property, a one—time payment by the

Company of $267.5 million and the parties executing full and final releases in respect of all outstanding
worldwide litigation. Of the total payment by the Company, $163.8 million ($112.8 million net of tax) was

expensed as a litigation charge in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. The remainder of the payment was
recorded as intangible assets. The settlement was cornpieted on July 23,2009.

The Company reported an income tax provision for fiscal 2009 that was higher than previously forecasted, the
majority of the incremental portion of which was reversed in the first quarter of fiscal 2010. The fiscai 2009

income tax provision reflects an effective tax rate that is significantly higher than the Company's historical
effective tax rate due to the significant depreciation of the Canadian dollar relative to the US. dollar and its

effect on the Company's US. dollar denominated assets and liabilities held by RlM’s Canadian operating
companies that are subject to tax in Canadian dollars. The majority of this effect was experienced in the third

quarter of fiscal 2009. As described in greater detail under “Results of Operations — income Taxes" for fiscal

year end February 27, 2010, on March 12,2009 changes to the Income Tax Act (Canada) that allow RIM to

calculate its fiscal 2009 Canadian income tax expense based on the US. dollar (the Company’s functional

currency) were enacted. Although the Company elected for Canadian income tax purposes to adopt these
rules in the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Company could not recognize the related income tax reduction of

electing '.O adopt these rules for US. GAAP financial reporting purposes until the quarter in which they are

enacted, resulting in a higher provision in fiscal 2009. In the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company recorded

an incremental income tax benefit of approximately $145.0 million to net income relating to the enactment of

rules making the election effective to determine its Canadian income tax based on its functional currency. As
result of the enactment of the rules and the Company's e.ection to determine its Canadian income tax based

on its functional currency, future volatility in the Company’s effective tax rate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates should be reduced.

in the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company recorded an expense of $54.3 million ($37.4 million net of tax)
primarily relating to the reversal of foreign exchange gains previously recorded in fiscal 2009 on the

revaluation of Canadian dollar denominated tax liability balances. See “Results of Operations ~ Selling,
Marketing and Administration Expenses" for fiscal year end February 27, 2010.

Also, in the first quarter of fiscal 2010, there was a charge of approximately $42.1 million ($29.0 million net of

tax) for the payment on account of certain employee tax liabilities related to certain previously—exercised stock

options with measurement date issues that were exercised during certain time periods. The Company's Board
of Directors approved the payment on account of certain incremental personal tax liabilities of certair‘

employees, excluding RiM’s Co—CEOs, related to the exercise of certain stock options issued by the Company.

See “Results of Operations — Selling, Marketing and Administration Expenses" for fiscal year end February 27,
2010.

investors are cautioned that adjusted net income O'id adjusted diluted earnings per share do not have any

standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similarly titled
measures reported by other issuers. These non—GAAP financial measures should be considered in the context

of the Company's US. GAAP results.



 
,rezeiiii

There were no adjustments to US. GAAP net income in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2010.

The following table provides a reconciliation of net income to adjusted net income and diluted earnings per
share to adjusted diluted earnings per share for the fiscal gear ended Februarg 27, 2010:

For the Fiscal Year Ended

Februarg 27, Februarg 23,
2010 2009 _

 

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . ................................................................................................ .. $2,457,144 $1,892,610

Vista Litigation (net of tax) . ............................................................................................................... .. 112,809 -

Foreign exchange impact on the enactment of functional currencg tax rules (net of tax) ........................ .. 37,396 ~

Provision for emplogee tax obligations for stock options (net of tax) ....................................................... .. 28,952

Tax benefit recorded an enactment of functional currency tax rules (145,000) —

Foreign exchange impact on Canadian income taxes ............................................................................ ., - 99,700
Adjusted net income . .............................................................................................................................. .. $2,491,301 $ 1,992,316 

Diluted earnings per share .................................................................................................................... .. $ 4.31 $ 3.30

Adusted diluted earnings er share .................................................................................................. .. $ 4.37 ‘S 3.47
    

Financial Condition

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents, short—term investments and long~term investments increased bg $630.9 million to

$2.87 billion as at Februarg 27, 2010 from $2.24 billion as at Februarg 28, 2009. The majority of the Compangs
cash and cash equivalents, short—term investments and long~term investments are denominated in U.S. dollars
as at Februarg 27, 2010.

A comparative summary of cash and cash equivalents, short—term investments and long-term investments is
set out below:

{in thousands)
As at

Februarg 27, Februarg 28.
2010 2009 Change 

Cash and cash equivalents .............................................................................................. ., $ 1,550,861 $ 835,546 $ 715,315

Short-term investments . ................................................................................................ .. 360,614 682,666 (322,052)
Long—term investments 958,248 720,635 237,613

Cash and cash equivalents, short—term investments and ionq-term investments ................... .. $2,869,723 :3 2.238.847 $ 630,876

 

  

The increase in cash and cash equivalents, short—term investments and iong—term investments is prirrarilg due
to net cash flows provided from operating activities partially offset bg net cash flow used in investing activities
and financing activities as set out below:

(in thousands)
For the Fiscal Vear Ended

Februarg 27, Februaru 28,
2010 2009_j__ 

Net cash flows. provided bu (used in);

Operating OC1'Vit|€S ......................................................................................................................... .. 3 3,034,874 $ 1,451,845

Investing activities . ............................................................................................................. .. (1,470,127) (1,823,523)

Financing activities . , . . . .................................................................................. .. (843,381) 25,367

Effect of foreign exchange gain on cash and cash equivalents ............................................................... ., (6,051) (2,541)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents. .......................................................................... .. $ 715,315 ‘:1 (348852) 

Cash flows for the fiscal year ended February 27, 2010

Operating Activities

Cash flow provided bg operating activities was $3.03 billion for fiscal 2010 reflecting higher net income
compared to fiscal 2009, offset bg lower net changes in working capital in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal
2009.



The table below summarizes the current assets, current liabilities, working capital and certain working capital
items of the Company:

 

(in l'nau;;ar.d3)

As at _
February 27, February 25,

2010 2009 Change

Current assets. . .. . ................................................................................................ .. $5,812,656 $ 4,841,586: $971,070

Current liabilities . .. ................................................................................... .. 2,431,7T7 2,115,351 316,42(3

Working capital . .............................................................................................................. .. $3,380,879 5.3 2,72o.235 $654,644

The increase in current assets of $971.1 million at the end of fiscal 2010 from the end of fiscal 2009 was

primarily due to an increase in accounts receivables of $481.6 million and cash, cash equivalents and short

term investments of $393.3 million. At the end of fiscal 2010, accounts receivables were approximately
$2.59 billion, an increase of $481.6 million from the end of fiscal 2009 due to increased sales and customer mix.

Days sales outstanding increased to 58 days in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 from 56 days at the end of

fiscal 2009, primarily due to geographic and customer mix of sales in the quarter.

The increase in current liabilities of $316.4 million at the end of fiscal 2010 from the end of fiscal 2009 was

primarily due to increases in accrued liabilities and accounts payable, partially offset by a reduction in

income taxes payable. As at February 27, 2010, accrued liabilities were approximately $1.64 billion, an increase

of $400.0 million from the end of fiscal 2009 primarily due to vendor inventory liabilities. The increase of

accounts payable of $167.3 million from the end of fiscal 2009 was due primarily to the timing of payments

during the ‘ourth quarter of fiscal 2010. The decrease in income taxes payable as at February 27,2010 of

$265.8 milion compared to the end of fiscal 2009 was partially due to the Government of Canada enacting
changes to its income tax legislation in the first qdarter of fiscal 2010 enabling the Company the option to

elect, or or annual basis, to determine its Canad.an income tax results on its functional currency (the U.S.

dollar) rather than the Canadian dollar. The remaining decrease in income taxes payable as at February 27,
2010 was a function of the payment of the Company's fiscal 2009 income tax liabilities in fiscal 2010 and the
timing of the Companys fiscal 2010 income tax installment payments relative to its current income tax
expense for fiscal 2010.

Investing Activities

During the fiscal year ended February 27,2010, cash flow used in investing activities was $1.47 billion and
included capital asset additions of $1.01 billion, intangible asset additions of $421.4 million and business

acquisitions of $143.4 million, offset by cash flow provided by transactions involving the proceeds on sale or

maturity of short—term investments and long—term investments, net of the costs of acquisitions in the amount of

$104.1 million For the some period of the prior fiscal year, cash flow used in investing activities was $7.82 billion
and included capital asset additions of $833.5 million, intangible asset additions of $687.9 million, busness

acquisitions of $48.4 million as well as transactions involving the proceeds on sale or maturity of short-term
investments and long—term investments, net of the costs of acquisitions in the amount of $253.7 million.

The increase in capital asset spending was primarily due to increased investment in buildings, renovations to

existing facilities, expansion and enhancement of the BlackBerry infrastructure and computer equipment
purchases investments in intangible assets in fiscal 2010 was primarily associated with the settlement of the

Vista Litigation, see “Results of Operations —— Litigation" for the fiscal year ended February 27,2010 and
agreements with third parties for use of intellectual property. Business acquisitions in fiscal 2010 related to the

purchases of Certicom Corp. and Torch Mobile Inc, the purchase of a company whose proprietary software
will be incorporated into the Company’s software and the purchase of certain assets of a company that will
be used ri next generation wireless technologies.

Financing Activities

Cash flow l.S€d in financing activities was $843.4 million for fiscal 2010 and was primarily attributable to the

Common Share Repurchase Program described above in the amount of $775.0 million, purchases of common

shares on the open market by a trustee selected by the Company in connection with its Restricted Share Unit
Plan, which are classified on the balance sheet for accounting purposes as Treasury Shares in the amount of

$94.5 million, the repayment of debt acquired through acquisitions in the amount of $6.1 million, offset partially
by the proceeds from tne exercise of stock options in the amount of $30.2 million and tax benefits from the

exercise ci‘ stock options. Cash flow provided by firancing activities was $25.4 million for fiscal 2009 arid was

primarily provided by the proceeds from the exercise of stock options and tax benefits from the exercise of

stock options. offset in part by repayment of the lo'ig~term debt.
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in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 the Company repurchased 12.3 million common shares at a cost of

$775.0 million pursuant to the Common Share Repurchase Program. The amounts paid in excess of the per
share paid—in capital of the common shares of $728.5 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 were charged to
retained earnings.

Auction Rate Securities

Auction rate securities are debt instruments with lang—term nominal maturity dates for which the interest rates

are reset tnrough a clutch auction process, typically every 7, 28 or 35 days. Interest is paid at the end of each

auction period, and the auction normally serves as the mechanism for securities holders to sell their existing
positions to interested buyers. As at February 27, 2010, the Company held $40.5 million in face value of

investment grade auction rate securities which are experiencing failed auctions as a result of more sell orders

than buy orders, and these auctions have not yet returned to normal operations. The interest rate for these
securities has been set at the maximum rate specified in the program documents and interest continues to be

paid every 28 days as scheduled. As a result of the lack of continuing liquidity in these securities, the

Company nos adjusted the reported value to reflect an unrealized loss of $7.7 million, which the Company
considers temporary and is reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). In valuing these
securities the Company used a multi-year investment horizon and considered the underlying risk of the
securities and the current market interest rate environment. The Company has the ability and intent to hold
these securities until such time that market liquidity returns to normal levels, and does not Consider the

principal or interest amounts on these securities to be materially at risk at this time. As there is uncetainty as
to when market liquidity for auction rate securities will return to normal, the Company has classified the

auction rate securities as lang—term investments on the balance sheet. As at February 27, 2010, the Company
does not consider these investments to be other—than—temporarily impaired.

Structured Investment Vehicle

A Structured investment Vehicle (“SlV") is a fund that seeks to generate investment returns by purchasing high
grade lang—term fixed income instruments and funding those purchases by issuing short—term debt

instruments. Beginning in late 2008, widespread iliquidity in the market has prevented many Sivs, including
those helc by the Company from accessing necessary funding for ongoing operations. in fiscal 2008, the
Company's SIV holdings were placed with an enforcement manager to be restructured or sold at the election
of each senior note holder.

in the first nine months of fiscal 2010, the Company received a total of $2.4 million in principal payments from
the SIV holdings. In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company elected to participate in the restructuring of
the securities and received a pro—rato distribution of proceeds from the income and principal payments on the
assets underlying the securities.

As at February 27, 2010, the Company held $21.3 million face value of assets received in the pro—rato
distribution of proceeds. During fiscal 2010, the Company received a total of $3.6 million in principal and
interest payments from the SN and the assets received subsequent to distribution.

In determining the value for these assets, the Company has considered available evidence including changes
in general market conditions, the length of time and the extent to which the fair values have been less than

cost, the financial condition, the near—term prospects of the individual assets and the Company’s intent and
ability to hold the assets.

During fiscal 2010, the Company did not record any other-than~temporary impairment charges associated
with these investments. In fiscal 2008, the Company recorded an—other—than~temporary impairment charge of
$3.8 million on these securities. The Company has classified these securities as long~term investments.

Other

Since March 1, 2005, the Company has maintained an investment account with Lehman Brothers International

(Europe) i_“‘L3|E"). As of September 30, 2008, the date of the last account statement received by the Company,
the Company held in the account $81.1 million in combined cash and aggregate principal amount of fixed-

incame securities issued by third parties unreiated to LBIE or any other affiliate of Lehman Brothers Holdings
inc (“LBi—ll"). The face value, including accrued interest, as at February 27, 2010 is $84.8 million. Due to the

insolvency proceedings instituted by LBHI and its affiliates, including LBIE, commencing on September 15,
2008, the Company's regular access to information regarding the account has been disrupted. Following the
appointment of the Administrators to LBIE the Company has asserted a trust claim in specie (the “Trus: Claim”)
over the assets held for it by LBIE for the return of those assets in accordance with the insolvency procedure in
the United Kingdom. In the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company received a Letter of Return (the “Letter")



from the Aaministrators of LBIE relating to the Trust Claim. The Letter noted that, based on the work performeo
to date, the Administrators had identified certain assets belonging to the Company within the records of LBIE
and that they are continuing to investigate the records for the remaining assets included in the Trust Claim: an

additional asset was identified as belonging to the Company in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. In the fourth

quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company signed the ‘Form of Acceptance’ and ‘Claim Resolution Agreement’, which
are the necessary steps to have the identified assets returned. The Company continues to work with the
Administrators to identify the remaining assets not specifically identified, along with the interest paid on these
assets since LBIE began its administration proceedings. The Company will continue to take all actions it deems

appropriate to defend its rights to these holdings and as a result, no impairment has been recognized agaihs:
these ho dings in fiscal 2010.

Aggregate Contractual Obligations

The following table sets out aggregate information about the Company's contractual obligatons and the
periods in which payments are due as at February 27, 2010:

(in thousands}

Less than One to Four to Creoter than
Total One Year Three Years Five Years Five Years ____

Operating lease obligations ........................................................ .. $ 208,386 $ 37,005 $ 59,817 $ 47,933 $ 63,631
Purchase obligations and commitments ........................................... .. 4,455,439 4,455,439 - — —

Total .. .. .. . . .. .................................................................... .. $4,663,825 $4,492,444 $59,817 $47,933 $ 63,631 

Purchase obligations and commitments amounted to approximately $4.46 billion as of February 27, 2010, with
purchase orders with contract manufacturers representing approximately $3.82 billion of the total. The

Company also has commitments on account of capital expenditures of approximately $244.8 million included
in this total. primarily for manufacturing, facilities and information technology, including service operations.
The remaining balance consists of purchase orders or contracts with suppliers of raw materials, as well as

other goods and services utilized in the operations of the Company. The expected timing of payment of these
purchase obligations and commitments is estimated based upon current information. The timing of payments
and actual amounts paid may be different depending upon the time of receipt of goods and services,
Changes to agreedeupon amounts for some obligations or payment terms.

The Company has obligations payable in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 of approximately $135 million for the
payment of income taxes related to fiscal 2010. The Company paid approximately $290 million in the first
quarter of fiscal 2010 for income taxes related to fiscal 2009. The amounts have been included as current

liabilities in income taxes payable as of February 27,2010 and February 28, 2009 respectively, and the
Compary intends to fund its fiscal 2010 tax obligations from existing financial resources and cash flows.

The Company has not paid any cash dividends in the last three fiscal years.

Cash and cash equivalents, short—term investments and long—term investments were $2.87 billion as at

February 27, 2010. The Company believes its financial resources, together with expected future income, are
sufficient to meet funding requirements for current financial commitments, for future operating and capital
expenditures not yet committed, and also provide the necessary financial capacity to meet current and future
growth expectations.

The Company has $150.0 million in unsecured demand credit facilities (the "Facilities”) to support and secure
operating and financing requirements. As at February 27, 2010, the Company has utilized $6.9 million of the
Facilities for outstanding letters of credit, and $143.1 million of the Facilities are unused.

The Company does not have any off—baiance sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of
Regulation S~l< under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "US. Exchange Act") and under applicabe
Canadian securities laws.

Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in litigation in the normal course of its business, both as a defendant and as a

plaintiff. The Company may be subject to claims (including claims related to patent infringement, purported
class actions and derivative actions) either directly or through indemnities against these claims that it provides

to certain of its partners. in particular, the industry 1'1 which the Company competes has many participants



that own, or claim to own, intellectual property, includirg participants that have been issued patents and may
have filed patent applications or may obtain aoditional patents and proprietary rights for technologies similar
to those used by the Company in its products. The Company has received, and may receive in the future,

assertions and claims from third parties that the Company's products infringe on their patents or other

intellectual property rights. Litigation has been and will likely continue to be necessary to determine the scope.
enforceability and validity of third~party proprietary rights or to establish the Company’s proprietary rights.
Regardless of whether claims that the Company is infringing patents or other intellectual property rights have
any merit, those claims could be time—consuming to evaluate and defend, result in costly litigation, divert
managements attention and resources, subject the Company to significant liabilities and could have the other

effects that are described in greater detail under “Risk Factors e Risks Related to Intellectual Property" in RlM’s
Annual irfornnation Form, which is included in RlM’s Annual Report on Form 40—F. Additional lawsuits and

claims. including purported class actions and derivative actions, may also be filed or made based upon the
Company's historical stock option granting practices.

Management reviews all of the relevant facts for each claim and applies judgment in evaluating the likelihood
and, if applicable, the amount of any potential loss. Where it is considered likely for a material exposure to
result and where the amount of the claim is quartifiable, provisions for loss are made based on

managements assessment of the likely outcome. The Company does not provide for claims that are
considered unlikely to result in a significant loss, claims for which the outcome is not determinable or claims

where the amount of the loss cannot be reasonably estimated. Any settlements or awards under such claims
are provided for when reasonably determinable.

By letter dated February 3, 2005 (the “Letter”), TMO—DG delivered to RIM—UK a notice of a claim for indemnity in
relation to litigation in Dusseldorf, Germany in which the plaintiff, lnpro, brought action against TMO»-DG (the

“Litigation”) for infringement of European Patent EP0892947B1 (the “Patent”). The Company joined the Litigation
as an intervening party in support of the defendant TMO~DG. The Company also filed an invalidity action in

the patent court in Munich Germany. On January 27, 2006, the Munich court declared the Patent invalid. lnpro
had appealed the Munich court's decision. On March 21,2006, the Dusseldorf court stayed the infringement
action until a final decision on validity has been made. The Federal Supreme Court held an oral hearing on
March 18, 2010 and subsequently determined that the lnpro Patent is invalid in Germany. Accordingly, no
amount has been recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company was party to numerous litigations with Vista Corporation (“Vista”) in multiple jurisdictions. On
July 15, 2009, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to settle all outstanding worldwide litigation
with Vista (“Vista Litigations”). On July 23, 2009, the Company settled the Vista Litigations. The key terms of the
settlement involved the Company receiving a perpetual and fully—paid license on all Vista patents, a transfer
of certain Vista intellectual property, a one—time payment by the Company of $267.5 million and the parties
executing full and final releases in respect of the \/isto Lit gation. Of the total payment by the Company,
$163.8 m 'ilion was expensed as a litigation charge in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. The remainder o" the
payment was recorded as intangible assets.

On June 6, 2007, Minerva industries (“Minerva”) filed a complaint in the Marshall District Court against the
Company alleging infringement of US. Patent No. 6,681,120 (‘”120“) and seeking an injunction and monetary
damages. On January 22, 2008, Minerva filed a second complaint in the Marshall District Court against the
Company alleging infringement of US. Patent No. 7,321,783 (“783”) and seeking an injunction and monetary
damages. RIM answered the first Complaint on January 28, 2008 and the second Complaint on March 14,

2008. On December 1, 2008, RlM’s motion to conso.idate the two cases was granted. On February 3, 2010, the
Court determined that the asserted claims of the ‘120 patent and one independent claim of the ‘783 patent
were invaid. As a result, only some claims of the ‘783 patent remain in the case. At this time, the likelihood of

damages or recoveries and the ultimate amounts, if any, with respect to this litigation is not determinable.

Accordingly, no amount has been recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements as at February 27, 2010.

On February 16, 2008, the Company filed a complaint in the Dallas District Court against Motorola alleging
breach of contract, antitrust violations, patent infringement of US. Patent No. 5,664,055; 5,699,485; 6,278,442;

6,452,588, 6,489,950; 6,611,254, 6,661,255; 6,919,879 and 7,227,536 and seeking a declaratory judgment of non-
infringement and invalidity against Motorola U.S. Patent Nos. 5,359,317; 5,074,684; 5,764,899; 5,771,353; 5,958,006;

5,706,211 and 6,101,531. On February 21,2008, RIM filed a second complaint in the Dallas District Court seeking a
declaratory judgment of non-infringement and invalidity of Motorola J.S. Patent No. 5,157,391; 5,394,140;
5,612,682 and 5,974,447. On April 10, 2008, Motorola filed a motion to dismiss RlM’s antitrust and contract

claims or, in the alternative, to bifurcate and stay R‘M's antitrust and contract claims until the resolution of the

co-pending patent claims. Motorola also asked the Court to dismiss, stay and or transfer to the Eastern



District (“ED”) of Texas RlM's declaratory judgment claims against Motorola's patents. Pleadings on this motion
closed on June 2. 2008. On September 19, 2008, the previously transferred case from the District of Delaware,

described below, was consolidated with this case. On December 11, 2008, Motorola‘s motion to dismiss, stay
and/or transfer the proceedings was denied in full. On January 9,2009, Motorola filed its answer to RlM‘s
complaint including three new counterclaims for infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,252,515, 5,189,389 and

5,953,413. On March 10,2009, TlP Communications, LLC, a wholly—owned indirect subsidiary of the Company,
filed a complaint against Motorola in the Dallas District Court for infringement of US. Patent No. 5,956,329. On

June 15, 2009, the Court granted RlM’s motion to stay this case as to the patents that are currently in re-
examination in the United States Patent 82 Trademark Office. On October 14, 2009, Motorola added three new

counterclaims for infringement of US. Patent Nos. 5,430,436; 6,807,317 and 6,636,223. On November 9, 2009, the

Court entered an order staying each of the actions ano ordering mediation. On January 29, 2010, Motorola

filed a motion to re-open the pending lawsuits and lift the stay that is pending before the Court. Or March 23,

2010 the Dallas District entered the stay on the four patents transferred from lllinois and pending ir the lTC

(i.e., US. Patent Nos. 5.319,712; 6,232,970; 6,272,333 and 5,569,550). On March 31, 2010 the case was re-assigned to
another Judge for coordination with the other pending Dallas District Court cases and the file was closed.

Proceedings are currently pending. At this time, the likelihood of damages or recoveries and the ultimate

amounts, if any, with respect to this litigation (or any related litigation) is not determinable.Accordingly, no
amount has been recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements as at February 27,2010.

On February 16,2008, Motorola filed a complaint against the Company in the Marshall District Court alleging
infringement of US. Patent Nos. 5,157,391; 5,359,317; 5,394,’40; 5,612,682; 5,764,899; 5,771,353 and 5,974,447. On

February 20, 2008, Motorola filed an amended complaint adding US. Patent Nos. 5,074,684; 5,706,211; 5,958,006
and 6,101,531 to the complaint. On March 31,2008, RlM fi.ed a motion to transfer Motorola’s E0 of Texas case

involving Motorola’s patents to the Dallas District Court. On October 17, 2008, the Court granted RlM's motion
to transfer this case to the Dallas District Court. This portion of the Motorola litigation is now closed.

On February 16.2008, Motorola filed another complaint in the District of Delaware against the Company
seeking a declaratory judgment of non—infringement and invalidity related to US. Patent No. 5,664,055 and

5,699,485 assigned to RlM as well as US. Patent No. 6,611,254, 6,661,255 and 6,919,879. On February 20, 2008, the
complaint was amended to include RlM’s US. Patent No. 6,278,442; 6,452,588; 6,489,950 and 7,227,536. On

March 31, 2008, RlM filed a motion to transfer Motorola’s District of Delaware case involving RlM’s patents to
the Dallas District Court. On April 10, 2008, RIM filed its ariswer and counterclaims to Motorola’s amended

complaznt Motorola filed its reply to RlM’s counterclaims on April 30, 2008. On August 26,2008, the Court

granted RlM's motion to transfer this case to the Dallas District Court. This portion of the Motorola litigation is
now closed.

On January 6,2009, Motorola filed a complaint in the United Kingdom against the Company for infringement of
European patents EP (UK) 0 818 009 (the ‘"009 patent"), EP (UK) 0 378 775 (the “775 patent”), EP (UK) 0 55" 289 (the

“289 patent“), and EP (UK) 0 932 320 (the “320 patent”). Motorolo’s claim was filed as a counterclaim in response
to the Corrpanys filing of a declaratory judgment seeking to invalidate Motorola's ‘009 patent. A case

management conference was held on January 12, 2009 at which the judge set a hearing date for on or about
January 11, 2010 for the ‘009 patent and the ‘320 patent, both of which are Motorola system patents, and
another nearing date for on or about March 1, 2010 (subsequently changed to November 15, 2010) for the "775

patent and the ‘289 patent, both of which are Motorola handset patents. OF‘ January 13, 2010, the Motorola

system patents case went to trial and on February 3, 2010, the Court found one of the two patents—in—suit invalid

and not infringed. Motorola subsequently surrendered the second patent~in—suit thereby completing the Motorola
system patents portion of the lawsuit. For the handset patents-in-suit proceedings are currently pending.

A case management conference was held on March 20,2009, in relation to the case filed in the United

Kingdom by TiP Communications, LLC, a wholly~owned indirect subsidiary of the Company, for infringement of
EP (UK) 0 742 989. A second case management corference was held on April 8. 2009. The Judge had set and
then subsequently changed the trial date to begin on June 14, 2010.

On March 10, 2009, TIP Communications, LLC filed a lawsuit in the Northern District of Texas against Motorola
for infringement of US. Patent No. 5,956,329.

On January 22. 2010, Motorola filed a lawsuit against the Company in the United States District Court for the

Northern District of lllinois alleging infringement of US. Patent Nos. 5,319,712; 6,232,970; 6,272,333 and 5,569,550.

On February 10, 2010, RlM filed a motion to transfer Motorola's Northern District of Illinois case involving
Motorolas patents to the Dallas District Court. On February 25,2010, RIM filed a motion to stay the
proceedings in the Northern District of Illinois pending the outcome of the lTC proceedings. On March 8,2010,
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the Court granted R|M's motion to stay this case and transferred the case to the Dallas District Cou't. This
portion a‘ the Motorola litigation is now closed.

On January 22, 2010, Motorola filed a complaint with the U.S. international Trade Commissior (“ITC”) against
the Company alleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,359,317; 5,319,712; 6,232,970; 6,272,333 and 5,569,550. Or

Februa'y 18, 2010, the iTC sent a Notice of Investigation, which was published in the Federal Register on
February 24, 2010. On March 1, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") set a trial date of November 29

through December 9, 2010 and a target date for completion of the investigation by the ITC of June 24, 2011.

The date set for the issuance of the initial Determination is February 24,2011. Proceedings are still pending.

On Marcr 7, 2008, FiashPoint Technology inc. (“FlashPoint”) filed a patent infringement lawsuit against the
Company and 14 other parties in the District of Delaware. The patents-in-suit include US. Patent Nos. 6,118,480,

6,177,956, 6,222,538, 6,223,190 (the “190 Patent”), 6,249,316, 6,486,914 and 6,504,575. These patents are generally
directed to digital camera and imaging technologies. On May 31, 2008, FlashPoint dismissed its complaint as
to 6 of the 7 patents~in—suit, leaving only the ’19O Patent in the litigation against RIM. On February 6, 2009.
FlashPoint filed an amended complaint adding US. Patent Nos. 5,903,309, 6,278,447 (the “447 Patent’) and

6,400,471 (the “'47i Patent"). Only the '447 Patent and the ’471 Patent have been asserted against RiM. The
complaint seeks an injunction and monetary damages. On December 17, 2009, the Court stayed the entire
litigation pending completion of all re~e><aminations of the patents—in—suit.

On May 23. 2008. the Company filed a lawsuit in Italy against iPCom Gmbi-i (“iPCom”) for declaratory
judgment of invalidity of several iPCom patents. On May 21, 2008, the Company filed a lawsuit in the U.K.

against iPCom for declaratory judgment of invalidity of several claimed standards~essential iPCom patents.
On May 27. 2008, the Company filed a lawsuit in the US. District Court for the Northern District of Texas

against iPCom for declaratory judgment of non—infringement and invalidity of several iPCom patents. On
May 23, 2008, iPCom filed suit against the Company for infringement of four claimed standards essential

German and European patents in the Hamburg, Germany court. On August 8, 2008, the parties agreed to
withdraw and terminate their respective European actions.

On June 20, 2008, St. Clair Intellectual Property Consultants. inc. filed a patent infringement lawsuit against the
Company and other defendants in the District of Delaware. The patents—in—suit include U.S. Patent Nos.

5,138,459, 6,094,219. 6,233,010 and 6,323,899. These patents are generally directed to image processing in digital
cameras The court has set a trial date for Septerrber 7, 2010. The complaint seeks an injunction and
monetary damages. Proceedings are ongoing.

On October 31. 2008, Mformation Technologies, Inc. filed a patent infringement lawsuit against the Company in
the Northern District of California. The patents—in—s.iit include US. Patent Nos. 6,970,917 and 7,343,408. These

patents are generally directed to remote device management functionality. The complaint seeks an injunction
and monetary damages. On February 26, 2010, the Court issued a claim construction order. No trial date has
been set Proceedings are ongoing.

On November 17, 2008, Spansion, inc. and Spansion LLC ("Spansion”) filed a complaint with the U.S. ITC

against Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd. and other related Samsung companies (collectively “Samsung") and
other proposed respondents, including the Company, who purchase flash memory chips from Samsung.
alleging infringement of US. Patent Nos. 6,380,029; 6,080,639; 6,376,877 and 5,715,194. The ALJ has set a trial

date of May 3. 2010 and a target date for completion of the investigation by the ITC of January 18, 2011.
Proceedings are ongoing.

On November 20, 2008, the Company filed a lawsuit for declaratory judgment of non-infringement, invalidity
and unenforceability against four Eastman Kodak (“Kodak”) patents in the Dallas District Court. The

patents—in—suit include US. Patent Nos. 5,493,335, 6,292,218 (“the ’218 Patent") and 6,600,510 which are generally
directed to digital camera technologies and US. Patent No. 5,226,161 which is directed to data sharing in
applications. Kodak counterclaimed for infringement of these same patents seeking an injunction and
monetary damages. The trial is scheduled for December, 2010. On January 14,2010, Kodak filed a complaint
with the i‘C against the Company, and Apple inc. alleging infringement of the ’218 Patent. The ALJ has set a

trial date of September 1, 2010 and a target date for completion of the investigation by the ITC of May 23,2011.
Proceedings are ongoing.

On December 29. 2008. Prism Technologies, LLC (“Prism”) tied a complaint against the Company and
Microsoft Corporation in the United States District Court for the District of Nebraska. The single patent in suit is
US Patent No. 7,290,288 (“the '288 Patent”). The court has rescheduled the trial date to January 28, 2011.



Microso‘t entered into an agreement with Prism and was dismissed from this action on September 28, 2009.

On December 2, 2009, Prism filed a complaint with the ITC against the Company alleging infringement of the

’288 Patent. The ALJ has set a trial date for August 30, 2010 and a target date for completion of the

invest gation of April 5, 2011. Proceedings are ongoing.

On December 30, 2008, MSTG, Inc. (“MSTG") filed a patent infringement lawsuit against the Company in the
United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois alleging infringement of United States Patent

Nos. 5,920,551 (“S51”); 6,219,374; and 7,151,756. On March 18, 2009, MSTG filed an amended complaint which
added US. Patent Nos, 6,438,113 (“’113”) and 6,198,936 (“936”) and four additional defendants to the suit. On

July 30,2009, MSTG filed a second amended complaint which reduced the patents asserted against RIM to

only the ‘E51, ’936 and ’113 patents. The court has set a trial date for March 28, 2011. Proceedings are ongoing.

From time to time, the Company is involved in other claims in the normal course of business. The following
additional patent suits were filed against the Company since the end of fiscal 2009:

On May 5, 2009, Eractus, S.A. (“Fractus”) filed a lawsuit against the Company and eight other defendants in the
United States District Court for the ED of Texas alleging infringement of nine patents (United States Patent Nos.

7,015,868; 7,123,208; 7,148,850; 7,202,822; 7,312,762; 7,394,432; 7,397,431; 7,411,556; and 7,528,782). These patents

generally relate to antennae technology. The complaint seeks an injunction and money damages. The Court
has set a trial date of May 2,2011. Proceedings are ongoing.

On July 27, 2009, BTG international Inc. (“BTG") filed complaints with the U.S. ITC and the United States District

Court for the ED of Texas, Marshall Division, against Samsung Electronics C0,, Ltd. and other related Samsung

companies (collectively “Samsung") and other companies, including the Company, alleging infringement of
United States Patent Nos. 5,394,362; 5,764,571; 5,872,735 (“the '73S Patent”); 6,104,640 (“the ‘640 Patent”) and

6,118,692 (“the ‘692 Patent”). The patents relate generally to flash memory chips, and BTG’s infringement
allegations against RIM are based on RlM’s use of Samsung flash memory chips in certain RIM handhelds. In

the ED of Texas, BC is seeking monetary damages, and the case has been staged until the determination in

the ITC case becomes final. In the ITC, BTG is requesting that the ITC issue orders prohibiting RIM from
importing into the JS. and selling in the U.S. RIM handhelds containing the flash memory chips made by
Samsung. The ALJ in the ITC case has set a trial date of June 21,2010 and a target date for the completion of

the investigation by the ITC of February 28, 2011. On January 19, 2010, BTG filed a motion to partially terminate

the ITC case as to the ‘735, ‘640 and ‘692 Patents. The ALJ issued a determination on February 2,2010, granting

BTG’s motion and on February 22, 2010, the ITC declined to review the Al_.I's determination, thereby making it
final. Proceedings "n the ITC case are ongoing.

On August 6, 2009, Intellect Wireless filed a lawsuit against the Company, HTC, and AT&T in the United States
District Court for tre Northern District of Illinois alleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 7,257,210; 7,305,076;

7,310,416; and 7,266,186. The patents are generally related to wireless systems and contact data, caller

identification, and pictures. The complaint seeks money damages. Proceedings are ongoing.

On August 21, 2009. Xpoint Technologies filed a lawsuit against Research In Motion Limited, Research In Motion
Corp,, and twentyeeight other defendants, in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware

alleging in"ringement of U,S. Patent No. 5,913,028. The patent is generally directed to data traffic delivery. The

complaint seeks an injunction and money damages. The Court has set a trial date of May 7, 2012. Proceedings
are ongoing.

On September 23,2009, SimpleAir, Inc. filed a lOWS.JlT against the Company and 10 other defendants in the

United States District Court for the ED of Texas alleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,021,433; 7,035,914;

6,735,614, and 6,167,426. The patents are generally directed to the generation, processing and/or delivery of

content, notifications and updates for computing devices. The complaint seeks an injunction and money
damages. Proceedings are ongoing.

On October 23. 2009, Raylon LLC (“Raylon”) filed an Amended Complaint adding the Company and four other

defendants to an existing patent infringement suit, The original Complaint was filed on August 6, 2009 in the
United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas alleging infringement of United States Patent

No, 6,655,589. The single patent—in—suit generally relates to traffic citation issuance. The Company and Raylon
settled on March 30, 2010 for an amount immaterial to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

On Novernbe' 2. 2009, Media Digital Corporation (“Media Digital”) filed a lawsuit against the Company in the
United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas alleging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,130,778.



 
The patent is generalig related to touch screen control of radio stations. The Company and Media Digital
settlec on Januarg 27, 2010 for an amount immaterial to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

On November 23. 2009, Klausner Technologies inc. filed a lawsuit against the Company and Motorola in the
United States District Court for the ED of Texas clleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,572,576 and 5,283,818.

The patents are generallg directed to visual voice mail. The complaint seeks an injunction and moneg
damages. Klausner served RIM on March 23. 2010. Proceedings are ongoing.

On March 1,2010, Uniioc USA, Inc. and Uniloc Private Limited (“Uniloc”) filed a lawsuit against Alt-N
Technologies Ltd. (a subsidiarg of RiM Limited) and 13 other defendants in the United States District Court for

the ED of Texas alleging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 5,490,216. The patent is generallg directed to video

compression and decompression. The complaint seeks an injunction and money damages. Proceedings are
ongoing.

On March 3, 2010, Smartphone Technologies LLC filed a lawsuit against the Compang and 12 other defendants
in the United States District Court for the ED of Texas alleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,950 645;

7,076,275; 5,742,905; 7,506.064; 6,533,342; 6,711,609 and RE40,459. The patents are generallg directed to device
power management, telephonic networking, and sgnchronization. The complaint seeks an injunction and
moneg damages. Proceedings are ongoing.

On Marci“ 15, 2010, Video Enhancement Solutions LLC filed a lawsuit against Research in Motion Limited and 8

other deferdants in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia (Atlanta Divis on)

alleging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,397,965 and U.S. Patent No. 7,492,960. The patents are generallg
directed to video compression and decompression. The complaint seeks an injunction and nnoneg damages.
Proceedings are ongoing.

On March 2.6, 2010, the PACid Group LLC filed a lawsuit against Research In Motion Limited, Research in Motion

Corporatior and 30 other defendants in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas (Tuler
Division) alleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,963,646 and 6,049,612. The patents are generallg directed
to encrgption keg generation and file encrgption. The complaint seeks an injunction and moneg damages.
Proceedings are ongoing.

On March 31, 2010, MobileMedia Ideas LLC filed a lawsuit against Research In Motion Limited and Research in

Motion Corporation in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas (Marshall Division)
alleging infringement of US. Patent Nos. 5,479,476; 5,845,219; 6,055,439; 6,253,075; 6,427,078; RE.39231; 5,732,390;

5,737,394. 6,070,068; 6,389,301; 6,446,080; and 7,349,012. Tre patents are generally directed to mobile telephone
technologies including mobile telephone user interfaces, call control, speech signal transmission and imaging.
The complaint seeks an injunction and money damages. Proceedings are ongoing.

OSC Settlement

As described above, as part of the Settlement Agreement, the Compang agreed to enter into an agreement
with an independent consultant to conduct a comprehensive examination and review of the Compani, and
report to the Board and the staff of the OSC on the Company's governance practices and procedures and its
internal control over financial reporting. The Company retained Protiviti to carry out this engagement. See
“Independent Governance Assessment” and Appendix A to this MD8lA for a further description of Protiviti’s
engagement, its recommendations and the Compangs responses to such recommendations. A copg of
Protiviti’s recommendations will also appear on the website of the OSC.

Market Risk of Financial Instruments

The Compang is engaged in operating and financing activities that generate risk in three primorg areas:

Foreign Exchange

The Compang is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions in currencies other than ‘ts

functional cgrrencg, the US. dollar. The majoritg of the Compang‘s revenues in fiscal 2010 are transacted in
US. dollars. Portions of the revenues are denominated in Canadian dollars, Euros and British Pounds.

Purchases; of raw materials are primarilg transacted in U.S. dollars. Other expenses, consisting of the rnajoritg
of salaries, certain operating costs and manufacturing overhead are incurred primarilg in Canadian dollars. At
Februarg 27, 2010. approximatelg 38% of cash and cash equivalents, 22% of accounts receivables and 7% of

accounts pagable are denominated in foreign currencies (February 28, 2009 — 36%, 26% and 4%, respectivelg).
These foreign currencies primarilg include the Canadian dollar, Euro and Britisin Pound. As part of its risk
management strategg, the Company maintains net monetarg asset and/or liabilitg balances in foreign



currencies and engages in foreign currency hedging activities using derivative financial instruments, including
currency forward contracts and currency options. The Company does not use derivative instruments for

speculative purposes. The principal currencies hedged include the Canadian dollar, Euro and British Pound.

The Company has entered into forward contracts to hedge exposures relating to foreign currency anticipated
transactions and these contracts have been designated as cash flow hedges. For a derivative instrument

designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of the derivative’s gain or loss is initially reported as a

component of other comprehensive income and is subsequently recognized in income when the hedged

exposure affects income. The ineffective portion of the aerivative’s gain or loss is recognized in current income.
The cash flow hedges were fully effective at February 27, 2010. As at February 27, 2010, the net unrealized

gains on these forward contracts was approximately $62.2 million (February 28,2009 — net unrealized losses
of $2.7 million). Unrealized gains associated with these contracts were recorded in Other current assets and
Accumulated other comprehensive income. Unrealized losses were recorded in accrued liabilities and

accumulated other comprehensive income.

The Company has entered into forward contracts to hedge certain monetary assets and liabilities twat are

exposed to foreign currency risk. For contracts that are not subject to hedge accounting, gains and losses on

the hedge instruments are recognized in income in each period, generally offsetting the change in the US.
dollar va.ue of the hedged asset or liability. As at February 27,2010, net unrealized gains of $28.9 million were

recorded in respect of this amount (February 28,2009 — net unrealized gains of $16.0 million). Unrealized gains

associated with these contracts were recorded in Other current assets and Selling, marketing and

administration. Unrealized losses were recorded in accrued liabilities and selling, marketing and
administration.

Interest Rate

Cash, cash equivalents and investments are invested in certain instruments of varying maturities.

Conseauently, the Company is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of holding investments of varying
maturities. The fair value of investments, as well as the investment income derived from the investment

portfolio. will fluctuate with changes in prevailing interest rates. The Company does not currently use interest
rate derivative financial instruments in its investment portfolio.

Credit and Customer Concentration

The Company has historically been dependent on an increasing number of significant telecommunication

carriers and on larger more complex contracts with respect to sales of the majority of its products and

services. The Company is experiencing significant sales growth in North America and internationally, resulting
in the growth in its carrier customer base in terms of numbers, sales and account receivables volumes and in

some instances new or significantly increased credit limits. The Company, in the normal course of business,

monitors the financial condition of its customers and reviews the credit history of each new customer. The

Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that corresponds to the specific credit risk of its

Customers historical trends, and economic circumstances. The allowance as at February 27, 2010 is $2.0 million

(February 28, 2009 — $2.1 million). The Company also places insurance coverage for a portion of its foreign
accounts receivables. While the Company sells to a variety of customers, one customer comprised 14% of

accounts receivables as at February 27, 2010 (February 28. 2009 ~ one customer comprised 29%). Additionally,
three customers comprised 20%,13% and 10% of the Company’s fiscal 2010 annual sales (fiscal 2009 annual
sales — tnree customers comprised 23%,14% and 10%).

The Company is exposed to credit risk on derivative financial instruments arising from the potential for

counterparties to default on their contractual obligations. The Company mitigates this risk by limiting

counterparties to highly rated financial institutions and by continuously monitoring their creditworthiness. The

Company's exposure to credit loss and market risk will vary overtime as a function of currency exchange
rates. The Company measures its counterparty credit exposure as a percentage of the total fair value of the

applicable derivative instruments. Where the net fair value of derivative instruments with any counterparty is

negative, the Company deems the credit exposure to that counterparty to be nil. As at February 27, 2010, the

maximum credit exposure to a single counterparty, measured as a percentage of the total fair value of

derivative instruments with net unrealized gains of $91.1 million was 24% (February 28,2009 — 60%).

The Company is exposed to market price and credit risk on its investment portfolio. The Company reduces this

risk by investing in liquid, investment grade securities and by limiting exposure to any one entity or group of
related entities. As at February 27,2010, no single issuer represented more than 8% of the total cash, cash

equivalents and investments (February 28, 2009 — no single issuer represented more than 12% of the total
cash, casri equivalents and investments).
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Market values are determined for each individual security in the investment portfolio. The Company assesses
declines in the value of individual investments for impairment to determine whether the decline is

other—than—temporary. The Company makes this assessment by considering available evidence, including
changes in general market conditions, specific industry and individual company data, the length of time and

the extent to which the fair value has been less than cost, the financial condition, the near-term prospects of

the individual investment and the Company's ability and intent to hold the debt securities to matur‘ty. During

fiscal ;20iCi and for fiscal 2009, the Company did not record an other—than-temporary impairment charge.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Controls

Disclosure Controls and Procedures 4
As of February 27, 20iO, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the

participation of the Company's management, including the Company's Co-CEOs and its Chief Financial

Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures,
as defined in Rules i3(a)-i5(e) and iS(d)—iS(e) under the US. Exchange Act. Based on that evaluation, ‘the Co-

Chief Executive Officers and the Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of such date, the Company's
disclosure controls and procedures were effective to give reasonable assurance that the information required

to be disclosed by the Company in reports that it files or submits under the U5. Exchange Act is (i) recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and

(ii) accumulated and communicated to management, including its principal executive and principal financial

officers. or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal cortrol over

financial reporting. Internal control over financial 'eporting is defined in Rule i3(a)-i5(f) and i5(d)—iS(f) under the

US. Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s principal executive

and principal financial officers and effected by the Company's Board of Directors, management and other

personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation

of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with US. GAAP and includes those policies and
procedures that:

- pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

- provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

financial statements in accordance with b.S. GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and

- provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisitions,

use or dispositions of the Company's assets that could have a material affect on the Company‘s financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of

February 27, 20iO. in making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in internal Control-integrated Framework.

Based on this assessment, management believes that, as of February 27, 20iO, the Company's interna. control
over financial reporting was effective.

The Company's independent auditors have issued an audit report on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. This report is included with the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the fiscal year ended February 27, 2010, no changes were made to the Company's internal control over

financial F€pO'ilFig that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's
internal control over financial reporting.



APPENDIX A

Protlviti Co. Corporate Governance Recommendations and

Responses of the Board of Directors of the Company

RECOMMENDATION RESPONSE

1. Board Leadership

The board should appoint a board‘ cha:r to ‘ill the ccrrentll, vacant
position

The chair a‘ the board should be an independent director as is the
genera. practice among Canadian public companies and as

identified as a corporate governance practice by National Dalicg
S8—20i, Corporate Governance Guidelines The board should adopt

a structure enabling independent directors to provide the necessaru
leadership in exercising independent iudgment and effectiveig
perfarrnha their oversight role.

if an independent director cannot be appointed and a nah-
indepenceni director assumes the position of board chair, on
independent direct’ ' can be appointed to act as lead director with
oiscldsureofttie matter “lOW€\/€’,ifl sucnasiiuationthe board should

evaluate whether, in view of the substantial innprovernents
recohnmerioea in this report, its current leadership structure can

SJDDOTT the ef‘ec:ive and independent board leadership required‘ to
oversee management and discharge its responsiblltes to t"‘.€
corporation and its shareholders.

This recommendation has been accepted in part and has been
addressed. The chair positioh has been vacant and :he Board has.
had an independent lead director since March 2, 2007, when the Boarc

adopted the recommendations of the Special Committee.

The vast rnaoritg o‘ S813 500 companies .n the united’ States have
nortrindepehdent Chairs. Of the companies that farrh the TSX

Cornpos‘te index. oparoximatelu 45% have a nor‘-ihdependent
Chair. While National Policg S8—20i (“NP58~201") states that the
Chair of the Board shou.a be an independent director, l\iP58—20i IS

not orescrlptlve and “encourages issuers to consider thir g.i.deiines .n
developing their own corporate governance proctce it also
provides that where an independent Chair is not appropriate, an
independent director should be appointed to act as “lead director‘
and either the independent chair or independent lead d rector shol;.a
act as the effective leader at the Board.

The Board has considered its current leadership structure and
believes it supports the effective and independent board leadership
reaurred to oversee management and discharge its respahsib litres to

the Company and its shareholders. Substaritiallg elceedzng the
guidance of NP58—20i that a board should have a rrraiaritg at
independent directors, 7 of the 8 members of the Board are

independent directors. The Board‘s 3 commztte-es—tr"e Audit and

Risk Management Committee ("A8iRM Committee"), the
Compensation. Nomination and Governance Carni"‘ittee ("CNG
Committee") and the Strategic Planning Comrhittee (“SP
Committee“)~— are each chaired bu an independent d|it‘CTOr. The
ihdependent lead director. who acts as the effective leader of the

Board and is supported by strong independent commitee chairs, is
also a member of the ABIRM and the CNG Committees ohd has

attended all of the meetings of the SP Committee since its

inception. The ABJRM and CNS Committees are also comprised a‘
solely of independent directors. with each member 0‘ the A&iRM aha

CNG Committees meeting the heightened independence realiiremerits
tnat are applicable to audit committees under US. securities laws. The

Board and the Company believe that this highlt, independent board
structure provides the necessary leadership in exercising independent

Judgment and effectively performing the Board's oversight role. aha
the absence of a Board choir does not adverselu affect this
determination. This board structure has been in place during the
recent improvements in corporate governance practces at the

Campang. The Board is I" the process 0‘ reviewing the Board
mandate with a view to updating it, including with respect to
formaiizlng the role and duties of a lead director.

The Board believes that the Company has been well served oi, its
current leadership structure The Board will cohtrnue to rnonitar the
appropriateness of its current leadership structure from t rm to time.

including whether it is appropriate to appoint a Chair and whether the
Chair should be an independent director.
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2. Oversight of Organizational Leadership

(a) CEO 8i Executive Officers:

The Board should develop and further refine its processes and
practices to facilitate the oversight of the Co—CEOs and executive
management in the following areas:

Chief Execijfcve Officer

As aetined in National Policy 58—20i, Corporate Governance
Guiaelires. the following should be provided for the Co-CEOs:

— Formal vi/l itten position descriptions that clearlu define the role of
the CEOS and delineate management and board
responsibilities; and

— Measurable corporate goals and performance obiectives that
the Co—CEOs are responsible for meeting. These goals and
obiectives should be approved bg the board. and theg should
subseauentlu farm the basis for obiective annual assessments
of CEO performance

Executive Officers

4 Wfl'Ti"' position descriptions and defined measurable

perrorironce obiectives should also be developed for other
members of executive management and approved by the
board.

The app:uir.tment of E‘><EC.JIl\/E officers of tne Compang should be
approved lag the aoara; and

— An cngaing process should be established, with boara oversight,
for the assessnner: of the capabilities of executives in relation to
the fiornpangs current. emerging and expected future needs. in
the caritext :>' a rapialg growing organization that is maturing in
a highlg :'ar*ipe‘:itive environment.

Position Descriptions: This recommendation has been accepted
and will be addressed as described below. NP58—2f)i 'eCC)rTlfT‘€’ldS

that the Board develop a clear position description for the criie‘
executive officer and management responsibilities. Messrs
i_azaridis and Balsillie nave been with the Company since 1984 and
1992. respectivelg. and have worked together for approximate;
18 gears. As a result of this long tenure and working relatzonsn 0
their respective roles are well understood at the Compang and bi_
the Board. Nonetheless, the Board is working in coniunctior‘ witr
management on position descriptions for the two Co—Ch ef Executive

Officers and the Compontfs other executive officers consistert
with NPS8—20i.

Goals and Performance Objectives: This recommendation has

been accepted and has been addressed. The first evel oversight
of Co-CEO and executive officer performance and compensation :i

the responsibilitg ofthe independent CNG Committee supported bg it-.i
independent compensation consultant. As noted in the Cornpangs
Compensation, Discussion 82 Analysis (“CD81A") of its 200?
Management information Circular (“2009 MIC"), the C\lG Committ E
took into account Sl)( strategic goals, some measurable quantitatively

and others aualitativelu. in assessing the fisca. gear 2009
performance of the Co—CEOs and other executive of‘cers. Also as
noted it‘ the CD8iA. the Co—CEO and executive officers’ variable

incentive compensation was determined based on the Compargs
financial performance on specific measurable criteria, berg revenue.
diluted eOffil"‘gS per share and net subscriber addit cris as well as
their respective individual. performance. The CNG Comm'ttee's
performance assessment of the Co—CEOs and the execut we officers

(based on Cornpang strategic goal achievement, spe:if: f‘FiG."‘.(‘.O.
metric Ochievennent and individual performance), together with the
Committee's compensation recommendations were reported to. and
approved bg, the independent members of the Boaro.

For the recentlu completed fiscal gear ended Februarg 27, 20iO, the
above described performance considerations and process are being
followed. in addition, as part of its fiscal gear 2C)iO performance and
compensation planning, individual performance objectives for the fisca‘.
gear were established for eo:h of the Co—CEOs ana EXEBCJYP./C officers

and will form part ofthe CNG Committees fiscal gear 2010 performance
assessment. The CNC~ Cornrnittee and the Board anticipate that the
annual assessment process will continue to be refined ir future fisca.

gears. The Board recognizes that this is an evolving proress out also
believes that ‘ts current practices are appropriate l"‘ assessing
performance and determining fair and approprote camper'sat.o.ri r
the context of the Comparius operations.

Appointment of Executive Officers: This recommendation has been

accepted and has been addressed. The Board appriives the
appointment o‘ executive off:cers. For exarnpe, at its December
2009 auarterlg. meeting. the Board received in aavcric: of the
meeting, and adopted, a resolution appointing the Chic‘ iinancia.
Officer of the Cornpan-5 to that offzce.

Assessment of Capabilities: This recommendation has been accepted
and is being addressed by the measures outlined in response to
recommendation 3 (Succession Planning and Leadership
Development).
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(b) Chief Financial Officer

The Coriipdriu should consider the significant benefits of appointing
on iTidl\/TOLO as Chief Financial Officer. The individual should have the

FECIUISIIG stature. skills and experience needed for a connpang of the
size. scope cind potential of RM

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
in March 2007, the Board appointed Mr. Brian Biduli<a lotne position of
Chief Accounting Officer when the Compangs then Chief Financial
Officer moved to a different position within the Corhpanu. For almost
three gears, Mr. Bidulka was the Company's senior ‘inoncial o‘f cvzr
and carried out most of the duties of a Chief Financial Officer .r'

recognition of his performance, personal development
experience, on December T7, 2009 the Board. upon the
recommendation of the Ca—CEOs. the CNG Committee and tn:

ABIRM Committee, appointed Mr. Bidulka as Chief Financial Office .
The Board believes that Mr. Biduli<a has the reauisite stature. skills and

experience needed fora compang of the size, scope and potential of
RIM.

CUT:

(c) Delegation of Authority

The autnorii ies delegated to management for binding the corporation
and the matters to be brought to the board for approval should be

defined in a “sitatement of approval authorities" and approved bu the
board of di‘€CtO"S. with periodic review and re—affirmation.

This recommendation has been accepted and will be addressed as
follows. The Board currentlg maintains oversight over certain
corporate activ.ties. For example, all significant acquisitions are
presented to the Board for consideration or approval as the Boarc
deems appropriate. The Board also considers and approves the
Compangs annual operating plan. The Board, however, does
believe that a formal approval policg is appropriate and intends t

adopt such a policg in the near future, whici‘ will be subiect to periodic
review b.; the Board.

3. Succession Planning and Leadership Development

The Board should develop a SUCCESSTOI” plan for the CEO level and
o‘e‘ine CTit€~"O tc be used in selecting future chief executive officers.
Succession plans should also be developed for appropriate levels of
executive rrianagemen:

Succession plans‘ should be reviewed and approved pg the board or
on annual bas s

This recommendation has been accepted and is being addressed as
follows. under the supervision ofthe CNG Committee, the Companu s
in the process of developing a succession plan for the Co—CEOs.
executive officers and other appropriate levels of senior
management. The Board intends to review and approve succession
plans forthe executive OfffCE' level on an annual basis. "he Board will
i.se the succession plan and position descr prions referenced in

response to recommendation 2 (d), together with other appropriate
considerations at the time, for selecting future CEOs.

4. Agenda Setting and Flow of Information to the Board

The baarc: should exercise better contro. of the agenda-setting
process ord the ‘low of information it receives as follows:

— An oversight matrix (a listing of board activities with related
information requirements. timing and expected board action)
should be developed to goverr the agenddsetting process and
rrieetirg calendar, along with the related flow of information to

the board a"a its committees The oversight matr.>< should be
approved at. the board and suoiect to periodic review and re‘
affirrcatiari.

» Protocols should be established and adhered to, providing
adequate time for directors to review materials and consider

significant approval, especiallg material
transactions and events with circulatior of all materials

sufficient u advance of meetings to allow directors to read
and absorb then‘. wlii‘ due consideration of their personal

matters for

contribitiori t: the aisciission of matters on which tne board is
to delizierate

Control of Agenda and Oversight Matrix: This recommendation
has been accepted and has been addressed. The Board believes tho:

it has appropriate control of the agenda sett ng process and the flow
of information it receives. Currently. the agenda for each. Board
rneeting is set pg the lead director, with assistance from the

Corporate Secretarg and reievant committee chairs. Draft agendas
for Board corrmittees are set bg the Chair of the committee with
ass.stance from relevant corporate officers.

Based on its experience and service as directors and officers at other

public companies. the Board believes that the ageridasetring process
and the information It receives is appropriate and not otgpical The
Board has observed an improvement in the timeliness and content of

Board materials since a new Corporate Secretarg was hired in 2008.
in addition to the above and in response to the recommendation, the

Board. the CNG and A8iRM Committees have adopted annual meeting
p.anners which indicate their respective activities for each fiscal gear
and the timing of the activit es. including those reauired bzi the Board
mandate and committee charters. These calendars do not include a

list 0.‘ related information reauirements, as this information 15 wel.

understood for recurring items and can varg from time to time
depending on the nature of the matter. then current
facts/c.rcumstances, the information and its content. The Board

ano the SP Committee believe that an annual meeting planner is
not required for the SP Committee because it has a narrow focus and

does not meet regularlu on a quarterlg basis.
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Protocols: This recommendation has been accepted and has been
addressed. There is on unwritten, but well understood, protocol alreaat
in place. Materials for quarterig meetings are to be provided one weel.
priortothe Board/comrnittee meetings. This timeframe s generalig mat
ona the Board is satisfied that it receives materia sufficientig I"
advance at quorterlg meetings. Materials for intervening meetings
are provided as for n advance of the meeting as trne and
circumstances permit, recognizing that such rneet rigs. by the r
nature, are often unplanned and irivoive situations that are fluic.

complex and difficult to time with precision Recognizing the benefits
oftne Compangs entrepreneurial culture, which enables it to respond to
opportunities more CiUlCk.‘g' than other companies of its SlZC, the Bear:
understands that circumstances do and will continue to arise where i
will need to be available on shorter notice and with less time to revelni

materials provided in advance of the meeting.

5. infrastructure, Practices and Processes to Support Board
Effectiveness

(a) Corporate Governance Guidelines

Corporate governance guidel hes should be developed to define and

document the Companus aaptoach to corporate governance and
provide direction/guidance to help directors in carrging out their
responsibilites Corporate governance guidelines should be
reviewed on on annual basis bg the board

Consideration should be given to publiclu disclosing the Company's
corporate governance guidelines as it is a leading practice for arger
Organizations

(b) Director Orientation and Ongoing Education

As identified as corporate governance practices by National Policg
58-201, Corporate Governance Guidelines, the following should be
developed

Orieniotion.

The board should ensure that al. new directors receive a

campeherisii/e orientation A.l new directors should fullg
under:ton:i the role of the board and its committees. as well as
the ctintribulion individual directors are expected to mai<e

(including, in borticular, the commitment of time and resources
that tce iSSdE’ expects from its directors) All new directors should
also tiioeretarid trie nature and operation o‘the issuer's busiress.

— Contin.iing Education

The board should provide continuing education opportunities for
all direi:tci.rs, so tho: individuals mag maintain or enhance their
skills arid abilities. as o rectors, as well as to ensuretheir knowledge
and uraersidriding o‘ the issuers business rema ns current.

This recommendation has been accepted and will be addressed as
follows. The Board believes that the Componu has in place a

significant number of policies, procedures and practices relating to
corporate governance. including those set out .n charters ‘or eacr of
the three committees of the Board and the Board rnanaatc, which

address governance matters often found in such issuer guidelines
The charters of the A8iRM and CNG Committees have also been

enhanced ona adopted bu the Board in December 2009. A new SP

Committee Charter was also adopted bg the Board in December 2009.
The comrnttee charters are reviewed by the commit:ees and the
Board annuallg. Finally, as noted above. the Board is in the

process of reviewing the Board mandate with a view to updating it

The Companus current governance practices are disclosed in its
management information ClfCUlO" :"i accordance wth Notional

instrument S8-TO‘. While the NASDAQ and TSX listing rules and
securities laws applicable to the Company do not reauire the

Company to publicly disclose its corporate governance guidelines.
the Company will review its current charters and Board mandate with
a view to augmenting the charters and mandate as the Board

determines appropriate for the Compang. if the Boo d adopts a
consolidated set of corporate governance guidelines, t intends to
pubiiclg disclose those guidelines.

The first two paragraphs of this recommendation come from
NP 58-201. The third is o Protiviti recommendation.

Orientation: This recommendation has been accepted and has
been addressed. All new directors of the Compang new receive a
comprehensive orientation This includes: receiving a detailed briefing
from the Compahg as part of the selection process; meetirig the Chair
oftne CNG, the lead director and other independent directors as part
of the selection process; a briefing from the Cornaangs "ll€i”lCil and
external legal counsel on their legal duties, corporate ard securities

obligations and the Cornpangs corporate governance procedures
and policies; attending a product working session; meeting with each
a‘ the execctive officers aha certain other senior management, such
as the Vice Pres dent, investor Relations and Vice PFCSIOE wt, ..ega. in
order to understand the Compangs products. oaeratio-‘s and Keg
functions: and a tour of Corhpang manufacturing and operations
facilities. The orientation process will be reviewed in connection with
new appointments to the Board.
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The orieniatiah and continuing education programs should be
regulorlg reviewed ii" the context of evolving circumstances. both
within and outside the Companu, and updated to ensure that all
directors. irdii/iduallu and the board as a group, have the
knowledge cad uriaerstond hg recessarg for effective and efficient
conduct a‘ the boards a’fai.rs and to fulfil; their obligations.

(c) Director Recruiting and Succession

The board shouid cohtince its efforts to recruit additiohai directors

and develop an orderlg successon plan to meet the ongoing needs of
the paard for directors with an appropriate mix of diversity,
competencies, skills aria other attributes to provide effective
oversight of the Companu

Continuing Education: This recommendation has been accepted
and has been addressed. Education occurs as par: or’ the regular
business of the Board and its committees aria wiii continue. The

opportunities for education of Board members. at the Board and ri

Board committees, have increased over the past three pears.

To allow the Board and committees additional time to conduct tneii

respective business and to allow for education sessions. the Board has

moved the CNG Committee ouarterlg meeting to the dog preceding the
A8iRM Committee and Board meeting, with a newii, |7StlfUteCj Board
dinner, which is intendea to have an educational component, foliowing
the CNS Committee meeting. The Board intends to review the

Companus continuing education efforts periodicallu as aopropriate._
This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
From time totime, the Board considers the size aha corrpasition aftric

Board arid evaluates the need and selection criteria for recruiting
additional directors. in the spring of 2009, the CNG Committee
adopted new selection criteria for recruiting a new director Using
these selection criteria. the Board appointed a new director to the
Board in September 2009. While the Board believes that it would be

beneficialtothe Componu and the Board for its other Co-CEOto re;a:n
the Board in 2010, beuond that, the Board has not concluded that
additional directors should be recruited based Of‘ Its Current and

anticipated needs. The Board will continue to monitor its size and
composit OD.

(d) Board and Director Performance Assessments

As identified as a corporate governance practice bl, National Poiicg
582 ‘i. Corporate Governance Guidelines, the board, its committees

and each hdiviauai director should be regularly assessed regarding
his. her o is it-ffeictivehess and contribution. An assessment should
consider

— in this case of the board or a board committee, its mandate or
charter. and

— in the case of an individual director, the applicable position.
descriptionisi, as wel‘ as the competencies and skills each

individual is expected to bring to the board

This recommendation has been accepted and will be addressed as
follows. Consistent with its charter, the CNG Committee 5 .respo.risib.e
for monitoring the effectiveness of trie operation a‘ the Board. its
committees and iridividuol directors. A Board effectveness

auestionnaire and follow—up process has been developed that wili
be 'u'10erlOKe" ohnuallg. The CNG Committee and the Board wili
conduct on performance assessment and make
improvements to the evaluation process as appropriate.

Ol'ii‘lUOl

(e) Charters and Mandates

The board snoilc develop the foilawng

— A charter for the strategic planning Committee:
— Position descriptions for the chair of the audit committee and the

chair of :he strategic planning committee

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
‘he SP Committee and the Board has developed ahc adopted a
Charter for the SP Committee which includes the duties and

responsibilities of the Choir. The charter for the A8iRiV Committee
was also amended in December 2009 to set out the duties and

responsibilities of its Chair. 

6. Compliance Oversight Practices

(a) Oversight of Enterprise-wide Compliance

The Board should oversee the design and implementation of a
comprehensive. integrated enterprise~wide compliance

encompassing exisiiha compliance and ensuring
coverage if’ compliance with all applicable laws and regu.atoris
across varous ilirisdictions. as wel. as with
polcies apprci/ed pg the board

program
initiatives

internal corporate

Accountapil rig for enierprisewide compiiance should be assigned to
a designated executive, such as a chief compliance officer or the
equivalent, with responsipilitg for comprehensive and integrated
compliance across all parts of the organization with
reporting to the audit committee and the board.

regular

This recommendation has been accepted and will be addressed as
follows. As part of its review and update ofthe current Boa d mandate.

the Board will confirm its responsibilitg for overseeing, directlu and
through its committees. on appropriate compliance program for the
Campang. Other than matters currentlg within the pu.r~.riew of the
Corporate Disclosure Committee, accountability for the compliance
program will be assigned to the Company's existing Rsk Counci..
imich consists of senior management members representing al. of
the sigril‘ica".t areas of the Co.riripani,‘s business. Pursiaiit to its
existing charter, the role of the Risk Council is currentl.i to assist

managemerit in fulfilling its responsibilities for assessing, managing
and monitoring risks. This mandate will be augmented to include the
responsibility for broader oversight of a cornpliance program
appropriate for the Compang, including its existing cornpliance
initiatives, legal/regulotorg compliance (other than matters curreritlg
wllhlr‘ the purview of the Corporate Disclosure Committee) crid internal

corporate polcies approved bu the Board. The Risk Ccuiici. w.li be
reriamed the Risk Bi Compliance Council O!".d will report to the Co-CEOs.
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To dischdge ts oversight responsibilities, the audit committee shouia

ensure the effective operation of an enterprise—wide compliance program
with regular reporting on the state of compliance in the organization.
Reporting should conticue to include reports on Sarbaresoxley
compliance. claims and known non—compliance incidents.

Reporting to trie audit committee should also include reporting on the
enterpiisewide compliance program and the state of compliance across
the organizahoc with focus on compliance risk exposures.

legal

in dddiiior, internal Audit should periodically perform reviews a‘ the
enterprisewide compliance function and processes to provide
assurance t.: the audit committee on the program's effective and
efficient operation.

RESPONSE

The Chair of the Risk 82 Compliance Council also will make a report to the

A8iRM Committee. at least quarterly, on the compliarce program ard
state of complia nce. The Risk Council, through its Chair. wi.i report out to
the Board, at least quarterly. In connection with its oversight of the
Company's compliance program. the Board will cortinue to n".or‘.i'or

the need for accountability for the Company's compliance program to
be asszgned to a designated executive such as a chief compliance officer
or 8QUlVGl€Dl.

(b) Compliance Culture

in considering The future reappointment of individuals reprimanded
by reguatory authorities to the honorary title of “Director Emeritus".
the poard should consider the messaging effect of these actions and
the impact on the o'ganizptioh's compliance culture.

The Board believes this recommendation is not necessary or
appropriate, but nevertheless has been addressed. Each of the

individuals was formeriy a director of longstanding, who agreed
not to stand for reelection to the board in 2007. The ii‘dlVldUOlS were

appointed to the honorary position of Director Emeritus in recogniteii
of their substantial contribution to the Company and its shareholders
over many years. The Director Emeritus position ca"ries with it no

authority, no responsibilities and no access to the Company’:
confidential information. The initial decision to confe‘ this title was

announced by the Company on March 5, 2007, subsequent to whicr
five new independent directors have joined the Board. The Board
considered the implications of the appointment when nitialiy made
for a one-year term, for each subsequent one-year reappointment
and will reconsider the implications upon the expiry of the current
oneyearterm. The Board does not viewthe designatior as having an
impact on the argar‘.izatior"s compliance culture.

Pursuant to Schedule C to the Settlement Agreement, Prativiti is to

make recommendations where it identifies “a deficiency
substantial enough to require changes or improvements at the
Company". The Board does not consider this recommendation to
be of such a nature.

7. Receiving Feedback from Employees and Stakeholders

The board should proceed with its review and revisions of the

Company 5: err pidyee whistleblower program to ensure it operates
effectively with focus on internal awareness and methods of access to
promote ease of use The board should consider the benefts of

establisnirg a channel by which OLISIUEZ parties can report relevant

informatior as a means of obtaining external feedback and gatging
potential reputationai impact to the organization As identified as a

"‘o\'e"n::nce practice by National Dalicy 58—2Ci. Corporate
Governance Cluideiines, the board's mandate should be revised to

include its '€SD()!"lSiDil|lg for the implementation of measures for

 

receiving feedback from stakeho:ders—such as estapl.sh:h.g a
process tc aerhiit stakeholders to directly Contact the independent
directors

Whistleblower Program: This recommendation has been accepted
and has been addressed. As of the end ofthe most recerit fiscal year.
the Company employees could submit anonymous whistleblower
reports to a P.O. Box address. The Company whistleblower
program now makes whistleblower reporting available to
employees and external parties via a web and telephone notline
based system supplied and operated by EthicsPoint EthicsPoiht
has advised the Company that over 2200 organiiat-ons use

EthicsPoint telephone h.otlihe_ web-based reporting and case
management services as a component of their overall governance.

risk and compliance efforts. The new system allows inriivauals to
make whistleblower reports, including anonymous reports, to the
Company via the Ethicspoint system and enables the Company or
the Chair 0‘ the A8iRM Committee. as appropriate, to follow up directly
with the reporter while maintaining his or her anonymity. All
employees have beer‘ advised of the new whistleblower program
as part of the Company's business standards and principles
acknowledgement program which is conducted annually
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8. Strategy

The Corripahi,'s strategic plan should be approved bg the st'ateg::
planning committee. and ultimately by the full board on an annual
basis The mandate of the board should be revised to include its

responsibility for approval of the strategic plan, as OU'[l|’i€d in
National 3oiicg SB~20‘i, Corporate Governance Guidelines.

Sufficient llF’lE‘ sriould pe allocated for discussion and review of the

plan pg the sti ategic planning committee and the board. as well as to

oversee on ci continuous basis the progress made by management in
pursuit of the Compangs strategic obiectives in a rapidly changing
business eniwrarirrent

Stakeholder Communications: This recommendation has been

accepted and has been addressed. The Board beiieves tho

stakeholders who wish to communicate with the Board are currentit
able to do so. The term “stakeholders” encompasses a wide varietti at
constituents. ‘l’lClUdli’tg emolouees and shareholders. and one set 0‘
practices in this area will not suit all situations. As part 0‘ its review cf

the Board mandate contemplated in its responseto recommendation 5 (C)
(Corporate Governance Guidelines).the Board will indicate in the mandate

how stakeholders can currentlu contact the Board and will publicize the
Board mandate on the Companijs external website The Board wil
continue to evaluate best methods for interacting with stakeholders.

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
Sl.".C€ the inception of the SP Committee, all members of the Board have

attended and participated l" meetings of the SP Committee during Wlilifl”
management and the SP Committee discuss and put :‘o’wa'd stratea c

initiatives iorthe Comodng Although the Board as a whole has not ‘armalli,
voted on the strategic initiatives, all Board members have been present arid
have participated in discussions concerning strategic initiatives.

The Board beiieves that. while it has had sufficient involvement and

oversight of the Compangs strategic initiatives, as part of its review of
the Board mandate contemplated in its response to recommendation 5 (a)
(Corporate Governance Guidelines), the Board will update the mandate to
reflect is responsiolltg for approval of the Company's strategic initiatives.

9. Corporate Policy Framework

The board should oversee the establishment of a comprehensive

corporate palici, framework ensuring that corporate policies or
policy stcternen:s are developed to govern all the major risks and
critical ousirieiis activities of the organization. The board should
review tn»: corporate policg tramework and approve corporate
policies with period : review and re~affirmatior

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
The Board believes that the Company has appropriate COl'TlDie’i€.'1Sl\/E‘
policies and procedures in place to govern major risks and critical
business activities of the Compang. The Compontfs business
standards and principles policies are reviewed annually bg the
Board and supplemented and updated as circumstances warrant.
The DUSli".ESS standards and principles policies include a code of

ethics, handizng f‘FiOF‘iClO. complaints guidelines. empiogee
canfiaentalitg and intellectual property agreement; insider trading
polcg; diverstg guidelines; antoiscrimihation Bi ant harassment

guidelines. anti-bullging 81 a".ti—violehce guidelines; Corpcrate securitg
palicg; global, environment, health 82 safetg policu; corporate disclosure
policg; and prevention of improper payments policy Tire Compant,
and Board continue to montor regulatorg and other developments and

irnplement new policies and amend existing policies in response to
these developments. in addition to policies and procedures. the

Company has other mechanisms in place to monitor and address
l"'lC}]OT risks and business activities, including those discussed in
response to recommendation iO immediatelg below (Risk Oversight)
cna a Corporate Disclosure Committee comprised of senior executives.

in additior totheforegoing, in connection with the expand io mandate
ofthe Risk 8i Compliance Council outlined above, the Cauiici. wil. from
time to time review the current co‘porate policg framewo k l" Lght of
the Company's existing FY1010’ areas of risk and buszhe is activities
with a view to updating existing. and implementing new, corporate
policies as appropriate. The Board and the A82RM Commit‘ee will have

oversight of this effort using the quarterlg reporting mechanisms
noted above.



 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION

10. Risk Oversight

RESPONSE

The bocira should determine how it will carry out its risk oversight
responsibilities The board should develop and formalize the related
communication and reporting protocols e at both the audit

committee one full board level—ta effectivelg carrg out its risk
oversigri responsibilities including

— Understanding the risks inherent in the organizations strategg
and the risk appetite of management in executing that strategy;

— Ensuring ‘he implementation of appropriate processes and
sustems to manage the organization's critical risks:

~ Accessirig relevant information from internal and external

sources about the critical assumptions underlying the St“C}tegg;
~ Being aler‘. to organizational behaviour and financial and other

incentives ‘not can lead to excessive risk taking;

— Provid-no input to executive management regarding critica. risk
issues on a timelg basis; and

~ laentifging significant changes tothe Compangs risk profile and
Th€l'lFT1pilCC]fiOi7StOU"i€ business.

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
The Board has determined how it will corrg out its i'ii3K aversigirr‘
responsibilities and has developed and fOrTY‘.Ol.Z£‘d the relate:
COiT1iY1U’liCO'.iOTl and reporting p.rotocols—at path the AREQM

Committee arid full Board level. Risk oversight is cariea out bg the
Board and committees at different levels. The Board mandate

allocates responsibilitg for the assessment of prinzipoi ousines;
risks in the Board. The Board, through its commitees aria Tflel"
respective charters, has delegated additional responsibilities to
risk oversight

Audit Committee. in connection with the April and December. 2009
auarterlg meetings, the role of the then Audit Committee was
enhanced to better encompass risk management in a number
areas. in particular, in April. the charter of the committee was
enhanced to better reflect best practices for audt committees,

better align with other Board committee charters and assume

certain duties of the disbanded Oversight Commttee. Among
others. enhancements in the areas of oversight of financial

reporting process 8) internal controls. oversight oi‘ the annual
audit/auarterlg oversight of trie Compangs Risk
Performance and Audit group; on annual review of legal aha
regulatorg matters; and the review of Campang policies were
made at that time. in December, the charter was ‘urther

enhanced to specificallg address oversight of risk management
and to acknowledge/address the increasing fccus on risk
management in the governance realm generally. is a result of
its increased role in risk management, the Audit Ccrhrriittee was
renamed the Audi‘. and Risk Management Committee.

FCVIQWS‘.

The AESJRM Committee is also responsible for the oversight of the
Campangs Risk Performance and Audit Group whicii was started
bu the Compang in 2008. Pursuant to its charter approved bu the
A8lRM Committee. the group's scope of work includes assessing
whether the managements risk performance. control and

governance processes are adequate and functianlrg such that.
among other things, risks are identified and managed; risi:
management is embedded in the business; emplatees actions
are in accordance with policies, standards. procedures and

applicable laws/regulations 81 significant leg slative c’ reg-ulatorg
issues are recognized and addressed appropriately. The grout:
currentlu consists of a Senior Vice-President and i2 emologees who
have joined the Compartg s:nce 2008. Pursuant to its charter,

the Sernar VlCe‘Pf€SldEFif reports directly to the A&lR.\«‘ Committee

(adminstrativelg to one of the Co~CEOs) and the group is to
perform its function in a manner that would not impair its
OD_iECtiVlt‘g‘ arid inaepenaence. The group prepares an annual
audit plan which is submitted to and approved pg the AEQRM
Committee aha the group's progress on the approved plan is
reporteo to the A8lRM quorterlg. The group's Senior Vice~President
also meets with the A8iRM Committee in-camera as appropriate.

- CNG Committee: The CNG Committee also has risk

management and control responsibilities. its charter reauires
the committee to annuailg review: the administration 0‘
the Compangs equitgbased compensation plans; the risk
management and controls of the Compartfs
compensation and benefit plans; and managements
assessment of compliance with laws and regi.lat'ohs as
theg pertain to its responsibilities under the Charter it also
requires the committee to provide oversight related to

compliance with the Sarbanes—Oxleg Act of 2CC2 for
executive compensation purposes.

other



RECOMMENDATION RESPONSE

- SP Committee: The SP Committee also has risk OV€fSlg'il
responsibilities. its charter requires the committee to review

with senior management the risks relevant to the Compang':i
strategic initiatives and oversee/monitor the Cornpangs i’€Vl€J\’
and assessment of external developments/factors that arise
and mag impact such initiatives and participate in a D€i'lOO'C
review of such factors.

in addition to the above Board risk oversight and the oversight of thz
Compangs Risk Performance and Audit Group, tric Risk Couinci

assists management If‘ fulfilling its responsibilities for assessing,
managing and monitoring risks. Further. the Companus Corporate

Disclosure Committee, consisting of senior managerheh
representatives, plags an active role in rhohtoring the Companus
obligations pursuant to US. and Canadian securities. laws and its
compliance with such obligations.

11. internal Audit

The Compahl, should continue its efforts to operationolize the interval

audit function arid ensure that internal audit effectivelg provlces the
audit commitree with CISSJTOTTCE on the state of governance, l'lSr’\
management, control and compliance in the organization.

Once the internal audt function has been fully operationalized, the
audit C()"iFTTill€€ should consider the conduct of an external

assessment of the internal audit function by a aualified
independent evaluator accredited bg the institute a‘ internal
Auditors Wit” subsequent reporting to the audit committee on
compliance with professional standards, as well as provide insight
on improvement opportunities relative to general good practices. _

12. Stock Options and Other Equity-Based Compensation

This recommendation has been accepted and will be addressed as
follows. The Compang is continuing its efforts to operotlonalize the

Risk Performance ana Audit group. As discussed immedlatelg above
(Risk Oversight), the charters of the group and the A8iRivi Committee
adeauatelg address. if‘ the aggregate. oversight of the state of
governance, risk management, control ano compl.ance in the
Compang. Once the internal audit function is fullg OOt)l'OliOiTOliZ€d.

the A8lRM Committee will riave an external assessment conducted big
a aualified independent evaluator accredited bl; the institute of
internal Auditors within ‘i2 to 24 months.

(a) Granting Activities

Tine Compahg snoula improve tre approval and documentation or’ stock
option and other equit-g compensation grants by formalizihg and

standardizing grant request forms. adhering to pre—approved ranges
for all tgpes of awards and documenting and retaining evidence a‘
approval triroughouf the process prior to Compensation Committee
approval. COiWp£EiT33tiOFi Committee review and approval is documented.

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
The compang is nevertheless taking additional measures to further
enhance its processes around granting of equity awards. The
Company has adopted a auarterlu grant process with specified
timelines for submission of requests for awards, as well as forms

and processes used to create the grant request list finsluding pre-
approved ranges for grants) and process for review and approval
prior to submission to the CNS Committee. While the CNC Committee

has approved ranges for all types of awards. there are situations

where deviations from the range are appropriate ard, ii". sucr
crcurnstances. the CNG Committee is advised o‘ and, if deemed
appropriate, approves such deviations. Furthermore. in order to

enhance the measures that have alreadu been out in place, the
Compang is currently developing a pre—approval reaues forrr:

(b) Administrative Activities

The Comparig should formalize its documentation of the rev ew ana

execution of pc~st—granting transactions, and improve certain sgsiem
access controls;

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed

as follows. The Comoanu has implemented additional monitoring
Controls over activities in the existing stock Option OdF“iFi stratior‘
sigstem in addtor, the Compang has entered into an agreement

for the implementation of a new eaultu program aaministratiori
platform and is currentlg working with the service provider or the
implementation. The implementation afthe new platform w ll a'.iowtl‘.e

Cpmpang ‘.0 further improve its access controls tc sensitive

.n.‘crmation. it will also serve as the sgstem of record for eauitg
relatea transactions.

(c) Calculation Activities

The Comparig should improve its documentation of the review of
certain activities; undertaken in support of its calculation of the fair
value of eauirl caniperisotian awards. .r particular, the review and

data reconciliation activities performed pg the Company in its
calculation a‘ :‘re fair value and compensation expense related to
eauitu-based ccrroensation should be more consistently executed
and documented in 3ra'er to ensure consistencu and accuracg

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
‘he Compang has maintained the necessaru documentation to
support the calculation of the fair value and compensation expense
related to equitg-based compensation as part of its books and

records. The Companu has discussed the recomrrienaancri. relating
to the consstencl, of the review activities with Protiviti and has
maintained consistent aocumentation as suggested obi Drotiviti
since the secona auarter of fiscal gear 2010.
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(d) Reporting Activities

The Company should improve the consistency of its documentation of
the review and performance of certain reporting activities (in
particular, the reconciliations and summaries prepared in this part

of the eacityoased compensation accounting and reporting
process), as well as the access and formula controls over key
spreadsheets prepared and used in this part of the process to
organize and report the data prepared in the other phases
described above

This recommendation has been accepted in port and, to the extent
not accepted, is unnecessary for the Company. After discussion
between Protiviti and the Company aoout the recommendation
relating to access and formula controls over key spreadsheets. the
Board oelleves the Company currently maintains ODD'OD'lCJ’.’€ internal
controls over these key spreadsheets to prevent material errors in its

accounting and disclosure. The Board is advised that the design and
operation of these controls are tested by the Company on a F€g'.J1{I‘
basis within the context of the Company's Sarbanes Oxet
compliance program, and that no deficiencies have been rcporte:
to the A8iRM Committee in this regard.

The portion of the recommendation relating to the consistency of
oocumentation has been addressed. The Company has always
maintained the necessary documentation to support the review

and performance of certain reporting activities as part of its booic;
and records The Company has discussec the rCCOnr‘.rrtendOtio.r'
relating to the Consistency of documentation of the review actlvites
with Protiviti and has maintained consistent doccrnentation as

suggested by Protiviti since the second quarter of fiscal year 20iC .
13. Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Disclosure Controls
and Procedures

The Company should implement a process to identify and assess
disclosure risks for both financial and non-financial disclosures. more

formally identify and document disclosure controls and procedures.
and regularly execute a formal testing program for DC8i°to more fully
support its p€’lOCilC certification obligations

The recommendation has been accepted and will be addressed as

follows. The Company s in the process of CF1hOfiClf'g its internal
controi framework and aocumentatlon of DC8’iP alreacy in place so
that laeritified dsclasure I'iSKS, disclosure controls C1110 testing
procedures have been performed, reviewed by management ona
the results communicated to the A&iRM Committee. The Company
will also formalize an annual testing plan for DCNP to obtain
further eviaence of operating effectiveness.

Additional Comments

Attachment “I” to Protivitis final report describes. among other things, the consultant’s methodology and scope
of review. in Attachment “I”, under the heading “Access to information and People", Protiviti discusses

restrictions and limitations on the scope of its review. The Company has the following comments on this
section of the final report.

Pursuant to Schedule “C” to the Settlement Agreement, which was approved by the OSC, Staff of the OSC and

RlM agreed that RIM would be entitled to invoke lawyer/client privilege in relation to documents requested by
Protiviti and in witness interviews conducted by Protiviti. Protiviti accepted its engagement subject to this

restriction. Documents provided to Protiviti by the Company were redacted for lawyer/client privilege. RIM
certified that its redactions were proper and did not exterd beyond those permitted by Schedule "C".

At the commencement of Protivitis engagement, the Company and Protiviti agreed on protocols to govern
Protivitls access to documents and Company personnel. in view of the privilege limitation, before requested
documents were provided to Protiviti they were first reviewed by the Company’s legal counsel. in light of the
highly confidential nature of some of the materials made available to Protiviti, Protiviti and the Company
agreed that those materials would be reviewed on the company’s premises or on the premises of the

Company’s external legal counsel, with no copies taken. Tnese procedures did not impose additional
restrictions on the documents made available to Protiviti.

Finally. although most of Protivitis requested interviews were conducted without incident. toward the end of its

field work, Protiviti requested an opportunity to interview certain additional RIM personnel. Following the first
additional interview a disagreement arose about the manner in which the interview was conducted. RIM and

Protiviti then agreed that the balance of the additional interviews would not proceed. From its discussions with

Protiviti, RIM understood that the interviews were requested in an effort to confirm conclusions already
reached, and were not critical to Protlviti’s ability to complete its mandate.



MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Shareholders of Research In Motion Llmlted

Management of Research In Motion Limited is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the

Consolidated Financial Statements and all of the financial information in this Annual Report. The Consolidated

Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting
principles and include certain amounts based upon estimates and judgments required for such preparation.
The financial information appearing throughout this Annual Report is consistent with the Consolidated

Financial Statements. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been reviewed by the Audit and Risk
Management Committee and approved bg the Board of Directors of Research in Motion Limited.

in fulfilling its responsibilitg for the reliabilitg and integritg of financial information, management has
developed and maintains systems of accounting and internal controls and budgeting procedures.
Management believes these sgstems and controls provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded,
transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and financial records are reliable

for the preparation of accurate and timely Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Compang’s Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board of Directors, which consists entirelg of
non—management independent directors, usuallg meets two times per fiscal quarter with management and the

independent registered public accounting firm to ensure that each is discharging its respective responsibilities,
to review the Consolidated Financial Statements and either the quarterlg review engagement report or the

independent registered public accounting firms report and to discuss significant financial reporting issues and
auditing matters. The Compang’s independent registered public accounting firm has full and unrestricted

access to the Audit and Risk Management Committee to discuss audit findings, financial reporting and other
related matters. The Audit and Risk Management Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors for
consideration when the Board approves the Consolidated Financial Statements for issuance to the
shareholde's.

The Consolidated Financial Statements for fiscal 2010, fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008 have been audited bg
Ernst 82 Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm appointed bg the shareholders, n

accordance with Canadian generallg accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Compang
Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

Mike Lazaridis Jirr‘ Balsillie
President 82 Co—CEO Co—CEO

Waterloo, Ontario
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REPORT OF

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Shareholders of Research In Motion Limited

We have audited Research in Motion Limited's [the “Company”] internal control over financial reporting as of

February 27, 2010, based on criteria established in internal Control ~ Integrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission [“the COSO criteria"]. The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its

assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that 3
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control

based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accocnting principles. A company’s internal control over

financial reporting includes those policies and p'ocedures that [l] pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

Company; [2] provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of the company; and [3] provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or

timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company's assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detec:

misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of February 27, 20i0, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

(United States). the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as at February 27, 2010 and February 28,
2009. and the consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended
February 27, 20i0, February 28, 2009 and March l, 2008 of the Company and our report dated April i, 2010
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

M "?0!uj 1.14‘
Kitchener, Canada, Chartered Accountants

April i, 20i0. Licensed Public Accountants



REPORT OF

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders of Research in Motion Limited

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Research In Motion Limited [the
“Company”] as at February 27, 20i0 and February 28, 2009, and the related consolidated statements of

operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended February 27, 2010, February 28, 2009 and

March i. 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the

standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statemerts are

free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statemert
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasorable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,

the financial position of the Company as at February 27, 20i0 and February 28, 2009, and the results of its

operations and its cash flows for the years ended February 27, 20i0, February 28, 2009 and March 1, 2008, in

conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

(United States), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of February 27,2010, based on

criteria established in Internal Controlvlntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treodway Commission and our report dated April 1, 20i0 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

giant “young LLF
Kitchener, Canada, Chartered Accountants

April 1. 20i0 Licensed Public Accountants
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BALANCESHEETS

RESEARCP ii\ MOTiOi\i cit/.iTED incorporated under tne cows of Ontario

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unites States aoiiars, in thousands)

 

 
 

 

As at __

February 27, February 28,
2010 2009

Assets
Current

Cash and cash equivalents ..... .. . . , _ . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ _ . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . .. 58 1,550,861 $ 835,546
Short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ , . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . .. 360,614 682,666
Accounts receivable, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 2,593,742 2,112,117
Other receivables. ......................................................................................... ,. 206,373 157,725
inventories . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ,. 621,611 682,400
Other current assets . ....................... ., 285,539 187,257
Deferred income tax asset ................................................................................. .. 193,916 183,872

5,812,656 4,841,586
Long-term investments ........................................................................................ .. 958,248 720,633
Property, plant and equipment, net ......................................................................... .. 1,956,581 1,334,648
Intangible assets, net ........................................................................................... .. 1,326,363 1.06652"
Goodwill .. .. .. . . ............................................................................................. .. 150,561 137,572
Deferred income tax asset ..................................................................................... .. — 401-

$ 10,204,409 53 8,101,372‘ 
Liabilities

 

 
 

 

Current

Accounts payable ............................................................................................ .. $ 615,620 in 448,339
Accrued liabilities. ...................................................................... ., 1,638,260 1,238,602
income taxes payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . , . . . ,. 95,650 361,460
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 67,573 53,834
Deferred income tax liability ........................................................................... .. 14,674 13,116

2,431,777 2,115,351

Deferred income tax liability 141,382 87,917
income taxes payable ..................................................................................... .. 28,587 23,976

2,601,746 2,227,244

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders’ Equity
Capital stock

Preferred shares. authorized unlimited number of non—vating, cumulative,
redeemable and retractable . ..................................................................... .. — —

Common shares, authorized unlimited number of non-voting, redeemable, retractable
Class A common shares and unlimited number of voting common shares.

 
 

 

issued — 357,328,394 voting common shares (February 28, 2009 -— 566,218,819) . . . . . .. 2,207,609 2,208,235
Treasury stock (note 11)

February 27, 2010 - 1,458,950 (February 28, 2009 — nil) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. (94,463) —
Retained earnings. . . ..................................................................... .. 5,274,365 3,545,710
Additional paid-in capital ....................................................................... ,. 164,060 119,726
Accumulated other comprehensive Income .............................................................. .. 51,092 457

7,602,663 5,874,128

$ 10,204,409 $ 8,101,372

See notes to consolidated financial statements

On behalf of the Board:

John Richorcisor Mike Lazaridis

Director Director



RESEARCn 1N i\/CHON _‘iMlTED

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equitg
(United States aollars. in tnousonas)

Accumulated
Additional Otner

Capital Daid—|r‘ Treosurg Retained Comprehensive
Stock Capital Stock Earnings Income (Loss) Total

Balance as at March 3, 2007 .................................... .. 52,099,696 3 36,093 $ — Si? 359,227 $ (11,516) $2,483,500
Comprehensive income (loss)

Net income. . . .................................................... .. — ~ ~ 1,293,867 ~ 1,293,867
Net change in unrealized gains on available-for-sale

investments .. ............................................ .. ~ — — — 13,467 13,467
Net change in fair value of derivatives designated as

cash flow hedges during the gear. . , . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. ~ — ~ ~ 37,564 37,564
Amounts reclassified to earnings during the gear ....... .. ~ — - - (9,232) (9,232)

Other paid-in capital . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . , . . . . . . . . . . .. — 9,626 ~ ~ ~ 9,626Shares issued-

Exercise of stock options ..... .. .. . . .................. .. 62,889 ~ ~ ~ — 62,889
Transfers to capital stock from stock option exercises. 7,271 (7,271) — — ~ —
Stock-based compensation ................................... .. — 33,700 — — - 33,700
Excess tax benefits from stocl<—based compensation... ~ 8,185 - - ~ 8,185

Balance as at March 1, 2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . .. $ 2,169,856 $ 80,333 $ — $1,653,094 $30,283 $3,933,566
Comprehensive income (loss):

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . ., — — — 1,892,616 — 1,892,616
Net change in unrealized gains on available-for-sale

investments . ................................................... .. — — — ~ (7,161) (7,161)
Net change in fair value of derivatives designated as

cash flow hedges during the gear ......................... .. ~ — — — (6,168) (6,168)
Amounts reclassified to earnings during the gear. ..... .. — - - — (16,497) (16,497)Shares issued

Exercise of stock options . .. ........................ .. 27,024 — ~ - - 27,024
Transfers to capital stock from stock option exercises_. 11,355 (11,355) ~ - - -
Stocivbased compensation . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. - 38,100 - ~ — 38,100
Excess tax benefits from stock—based compensation... — 12,648 - ~ — 12,648

Balance as at Februarg 28. 2009 .............................. .. $ 2,208,235 $ 119,726 $ — 3 3,545,710 3 457 5% 5,874,128
Comprehensive income

Net income . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. — ~ — 2,457,144 — 2,457,144
Net change in unrealized gains on available—for-sale

investments ................................................... .. — — — — 6,803 6,803
Net change in fair value of derivatives designated as

cash flow hedges during the gear . . .................. ., ~ ~ - — 28,324 28,324
Amounts reclassified to earnings during the gear ....... .. — — — ~ 15,508 15,508Shares issued

Exercise of stock options ...................................... .. 30,246 - - ~ ~ 30,246
Transfers to capital stock from stock option exercises, 15,647 (15,647) ~ — ~ —
Stock~based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . .. . ................ ._ - 58,038 - - — 58,038
Excess tax benefits from stock—based compensation. .. — 1,943 — — — 1,943
Purchase of treasurg stock. ..................................... .. - — (94,463) — — (94,463)
Common shares repurchased .... .. . ......................... .. (46,519) (728,489) (775,008)

Balance as at Februar 27, 2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 2,207,609 $ 164,060 $ (94,463) $ 5,274,365   

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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RESEARCr i\‘ MOTiON LiM1TED

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(United States dotiars. in thousands, except per share aata)

For the Year Ended

 
Februarg 27, February 28, March ’,

2010 2009 2008

Revenue

Devices and other ................................................................... .. $ 12,535,998 $ 9,410,755 it 4,914,366

Service and software , . . , . . . . . . . , , . . . . _ . , . . . . . . . . . . . , , . . . . . . . . . . . . . , _ . . . , , . . . . . . . ,. 2,417,226 1,654,431 1,095,029

14,953,224 11,065,186 6,009,395
Cost of sales

Devices and otner.. . ., . ................................................... .. 7,979,163 5,718,041 2,758,250

Service and software . ............................................................... .. 389,795 249,847 170,564

8,368,958 5,967,888 2,9288‘-1

Gross margin . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . , . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . ., 6,584,266 5,097,298 3,080,531
Operating expenses

Research and development ........................................................ .. 964,841 684,702 359,828

Seiiing, marketing and administration ........................................... .. 1,907,398 1,495 697 881,482

Amortization... . .................................................................. .. 310,357 194,803 108,112

Litigation ., . ......................................................................... .. 163,800 - _
3,346,396 2,375,202 1,349,423

Income from operations . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . , . . . . . , .. 3,237,870 2,722,096 1,731,159

Investrnent income . ................................................................. ,. 28,640 78,267 79,361

Income before income taxes ............................................................ ,. 3,266,510 2,800,363 1,810,520

Provision for income taxes ............................................................. .. 809,366 907,747 516,653

Net income . . . . . . . . . _ . . . . . . _ . . . . , . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . , . . . , . . . . . . . . . , . . . .. $ 2,457,144 $ 1,892,616 $ 1,293,861’ 

Earnings per share

Basic . . . . , . . . . . . . . . , . , . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . , . . , . . . . . . , . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . _ . . . . . . . . _ . . . . , , , . . .. $ 435 ii‘: 3.35 $ 2.3’ .

Diluted. . , . . . _ . . , . . , . . . . . . . , . _ . _ . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . , . , . . . . . . , . . . _ . . . . . . . . .. $ 431 $ 3.30 $ 2.26 

See note: to consolidated financiai statements



RESEARCF li\i lViOilOi\ Lit‘-/ilTED

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(United States dollars. in thousands)

 
 

 

For the Year Ended gt
Februarg 27, Februarg 28. March 1, 9

2010 2009 2008 ;

Cash flows from operating activities g
Net income . .. . . .. .............................................. .. $ 2,457,144 $1,892,616 $ 1,293,867

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided bg operating
activities;

Amortization . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 615,621 327,896 177,366

Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 51,363 (36,623) (67,244)

Income taxes pagable ................................................................. .. 4,611 (6,897) 4,973
Stoci<—t:ased compensation ............................................................ .. 58,038 38,100 33,700

Other . . . . . . , . . . . . . . , , . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 8,806 5,867 3,303

Net changes in working capital items ................................................... .. (160,709) (769,114) 130,794

Net cash provided bg operating activities ........................................ .. 3,034,874 1,451,845 1,576,759

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of long—term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. (862,977) (507,082) (757,656)
Proceeds on sale or maturitg of long»term investments ........................ .. 473,476 431,713 260,393

Acquisition of propertg, plant and equipment _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . .. (1,009,416) (833,521) (351,914)

Acquisition of intangible assets. ..................................................... ., (421,400) (687,913) (374,128)

Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired ......................................... ,, (143,375) (48,425) (6,200)

Acquisition Oi short~term investments ................................................. .. (476,956) (917,316) (1,249,919)
Proceeds on sale or maturitg of short—term investments ........................ .. 970,521 739,021 1,325,487

Net cash used in investing activities ................................................ .. (1,470,127) (1,823,523) (1,153,937)

Cash flows from financing activities

issuance oi common shares ........................................................... .. 30,246 27,024 62,889

Additional DOid‘i(1 capital. . ............................................................ .. - — 9,626

Excess tax oenefits from stock—based compensation ............................. .. 1,943 12,648 8,185

Purchase ct treasurg stock (note 11). ................................................. .. (94,463) - —

Common shares repurchased. . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. (775,008) — —

Repagment of debt .. . .. ... .. (6,099) (14,305) (302)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities .............................. .. (843,381) 25,367 80,398

Effect of foreign exchange gain (loss) on cash and cash equivalents (6,051) (2,541) 4,034

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the gear ...... .. 715,315 (348,852) 507,254
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of gear .................................... .. 835,546 1,184,398 677,144

Cash and cash e uivaients, end of ear ............................................ .. $ 1,550,861 $ 835,546 $ 1,184,398     

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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RESEARCH lh. lVlCTlOi\‘ LliVllTED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in thousands at Unites States aolla's. except share and per snore aata, ano except as otherwise indicatea

1. RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Research In Motion Limited (“RiM" or the “Compang”) is a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of innovative

wireless solutions for the worldwide mobile communications market. Through the development of integrated hardware,

software and services that support multiple wireless network standards, RIM provides platforms and solutions; for seamless
access to time—sensitive information including email, phone, short messaging service (SMS), Internet and intranet—based

applications RIM technologg also enables a broad arrag of third partg developers and manufacturers to enhance their

products and services with wireless connectivitg to data. R|M's portfolio of award—winning products, services and
embedded technologies are used bg thousands of organizations and millions of consumers around the world and include

the BlackBerrg wireless solution, and other software and hardware. The Compang's soles and marketing efforts include

collaboration with strategic partners and distribution channels, as well as its own supporting sales and marketing teams.
to promote the sale of its products and services. The Compang was incorporated on March 7, i984 under the Ontario

Business Corporations Act. The Compang's shares are traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the sgmbol “RiM" and
on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the sgmbol “RTMIV”.

Basis of presentation and preparation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all subsidiaries of the Compang with intercompang

transactions and balances eliminated on consolidation. All of the Compangs subsidiaries are whollg-owned. These

consolidated financial statements have been prepared bg management in accordance with United States generallg
accepted accounting principles (“US GAAP”) on a basis consistent for all periods presented except as described in note 2.

Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current gear presentation.

The Compangs fiscal gear end date is the 52 or 53 weeks ending on the last Saturdag of Februarg, or the first Saturdag of
March The fiscal gears ended Februarg 27, 2010, Februarg 28, 2009, and March i, 2008 comprise 52 weeks

The signifcanl accounting policies used in these US. GAAP consolidated financial statements are as follows.

Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions with

respect to the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the determination of reserves for various

iitigatior. claims, provisions for excess and obsolete inventories and liabilities for purchase commitments with contract

manufactcrers and suppliers, fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations, rogalties,
amortization expense, implied fair value of goodwill, provision for income taxes, realization of deferred income tax assets

and the related components of the valuation allowance, provisions for warrantg and the fair values of financial
instruments Actual results could differ from these estimates

Foreign currencg translation

The U S dollar is the functional and reporting currencg of the Compang Foreign currencg denominated assets and

liabilities of the Compang and all of its subsidiaries are translated into US dollars. Accordinglg, monetarg assets and
liabilities are translated using the exchange rates in effect at the consolidated balance sheet date and revenues and

expenses at the rates of exchange prevailing when the transactions occurred. Remeasurement adjustments are included in
income \lon-monetarg assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of balances with banks and liquid investments with maturities of three months or less
at the date of acquisition

Accounts receivable, net

The accounts receivable balance which reflects invoiced and accrued revenue is presented net of an allowance for

doubtful accounts The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects estimates of probable losses in accounts receivables. The

Compang is dependent on a number of significant customers and on large complex contracts with respect to sales of the

maioritg of its products, software and services. The Compang expects the maioritg of its accounts receivable balances to

continue to come from large customers as it sells the majoritg of its devices and software products and service relog
access through network carriers and resellers rather than directlg.



The Company evaluates the collectability of its accounts receivables based upon a combination of factors on c periodic

basis such as specific credit risk of its customers, historical trends and economic circumstances. The Company, in the

normal course of business monitors the financial condition of its customers and reviews the credit history of each new

customer when the Company becomes aware of a specific customer's inability to meet its financial obligations to the

Company (such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or materia. deterioration in the customer's operating results or
financial position. and payment experiences), RIM records a specific bad debt provision to reduce the customers related

accounts receivable to its estimated net realizable value. if circumstances related to specific customers change, the

Companys estimates of the recoverability of accounts receivables balances could be further adjusted. The allowance for
doubtful accounts as at :ebruary 27, 2010 is $2.0 million (February 28, 2009- $2.1 million).

While the Company sells its products and services to a variety of customers, three customers comprised 20%, 13% and 10%

of the Company's revenue (February 28. 2009 —- three customers comprised 23%, 14% and 10%; March 1, 2008 — three
customers comprised 21%, 15% and 12%)

investments

The Company's investments. other than cost method investments of $2.5 million and equity method investments of

$41 million, consist of money market and other debt securities, and are classified as available~for-sale for accounting
purposes The Company does not exercise significant influence with respect to any of these investments.

investments with maturities one year or less, as well as any investments that management intends to hold for less than

one year, are classified as short—term investments. Investments with maturities in excess of one year are classified as iong--
term investments

The Company determines the appropriate classification of investments at the time of purchase and subsequently
reassesses the classification of such investments at each balance sheet date. investments classified as available-for—sale

are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) until

such investments mature or are sold. The Company uses the specific identification method of determining the cost basis in
computing realized gains or losses on available—for~saie investments which are recorded in investment income.

The Company assesses individual investments in an unrealized loss position to determine whether the unrealized loss is

other-than--temporary. The Company makes this assessment by considering available evidence, including changes in
general market conditions, specific industry and individual company data, the length of time and the extent to which the
fair value has been less than cost, the financial condition, the near—term prospects of the individual investment and the
Companys ii"t€f1I and ability to hold the investments in the event that a decline in the fair value of an investment occurs

and the decline in value is considered to be other—than—temporary, an impairment charge is recorded in investment income
equal to the difference between the cost basis and the fair value of the individual investment at the balance sheet date of

the reporting period for which the assessment was made. The fair value of the investment then becomes the new cost
basis of the investment.

Effective in the second quarter of fiscal 2010, if a debt security's market value is below its amortized cost and the

Company either intends to sell the security or it is more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the

security before its anticipated recovery, the Company records on other—than-temporary impairment charge to investment
income for the entire amount of the impairment. For other—than—temporary impairments on debt securities that the

Company does not intend to sell and it is not more likely than not that the entity will be required to sell the security before

its anticipated recovery, the Company would separate the other-than—temporary impairment into the amount representing

the credit loss and the amount related to all other factors. The Company would record the other—than-temporary

impairment related to the credit loss as a charge to investment income and the remaining other—than—temporary
impairment would be recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income.

Derivative financial instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments, including forward contracts and options. to hedge certain foreign
currency exposures The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

 

 



 

 

RESEARK}-i li\i MOTlOi\i UMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in thcusards a‘ United States dollars. except shore ono per share oata, and except as otherwise indicated

The Company records all derivative instruments at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of these

instruments is calculated based on quoted currency spot rates and interest rates. The accounting for changes in the fair

value of a derivative depends on the intended use of the derivative instrument and the resulting designation.

For derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the derivative's gain or loss is initially

reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, and subsequently reclassified into
income in the some period or periods in which the hedged item affects income The ineffective portion of the derivative's

gain or loss is recognized in current income. in order for the Company to receive hedge accounting treatmeni, the cash

flow hedge must be highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged item and the relationship between

the hedging instrument and the associated hedged item must be formally documented at the inception of the hedge
relationship Hedge effectiveness is formally assessed. both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, to determine

whether the derivatives used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in the value of the hedgeditems

The Company formally documents relationships between hedging instruments and associated hedged items. This

documentation includes; identification of the specific foreign currency asset, liability or forecasted transaction being
hedged, the nature of the risk being hedged; the hedge objective; and the method of assessing hedge effectiveness. if an

anticipated transaction is deemed no longer likely to occur, the corresponding derivative instrument is de—designated as c

hedge and any associated deferred gains and losses in accumulated other comprehensive income are recognized in

income at that time. Any future changes in the fair value of the instrument are recognized in current income. Toe Company
did not reclassify any significant gains (losses) from accumulated other comprehensive income into income as a result of

the de-designation of any derivative instrument as a hedge curing fiscal 20iO.

For any derivative instruments that do not meet the requirements for hedge accounting, or for any derivative instrument for
which hedge accounting is not elected, the changes it‘ fair value of the instruments are recognized in income in the current

period and will generally offset the changes in the US. dollar value of the associated asset, liability, or forecasted
transaction

Inventories

Raw materials are stated at the lower of cost and replacement cost. Work in process and finished goods inventories are

stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cast includes the cost of materials plus direct labour applied to the
product and the applicable share of manufacturing overhead. Cost is determined on a first-in-first-out basis.

Property, plant and equipment, net

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated amortization. No amortization is provided for

construction in progress until the assets are ready for use. Amortization is provided using the following rates and methods:

Buildings, leaseholas and other

BlackBeri’y operations and other informaton technology

Manufacturing equipment, research and development
equipment and tooling

Furniture and fixtures

Straight—line over terms between 5 and 40 gears

Straight-line over terms between 3 and 5 years

Straight-line over terms between 2 and 8 years
Declining balance at 20% per annum

Intangible assets, net

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and are comprised of acquired technology, licenses,
and patents Acquired technology consists of purchased developed technology arising from the Company's business
acquisitions _icenses include licenses or agreements that the Company has negotiated with third parties upon use of third

parties‘ technology Patents comprise trademarks, internally developed patents, as well as individual patents or portfolios

of patents acquired from third parties Costs capitalized and subsequently amortized include all costs necessary to
acquire intellectual property, such as patents and tradecnarks, as well as legal defense costs arising out of the assertion of
any Com;>oriy—owned patents.



intangible assets are amortized as follows:

Acquirec technologg Straight—line over 2 to 5 gears

Licenses Straight-line over terms of the license agreements or on a
per unit basis based upon the anticipated number of units

sold during the terms, subject to a maximum of 5 gears

Patents Straight~line over 17 gears or over estimated useful life

Goodwlll

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of business acquisitions over the fair value of identifiable net assets

acquired Goodwill is allocated as at the date of the business combination. Goodwill is not amortized, put is tested for

impairment annuallg, or more frequentig if events or changes in circumstances indicate the asset mag be impaired.

The Compang is organized and managed as a single reportable business segment (“reporting unit"). The impairment test

is carried out in two steps. in the first step, the carrging amount of the reporting unit including goodwill is Compared with

its fair value when the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrging amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is
considered not to be impaired. and the second step is unnecessarg.

in the event that the fair value of the reporting unit, including goodwill, is less than the carrging value, the impliec fair value

of the reporting unit's goodwill is compared with its carrging amount to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if ang.
The implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the some manner as the value of goodwill is determined in a business

combination using the fair value of the reporting unit as if it were the purchase price. When the carrging amount of the

reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal
to the excess and is presented as a separate line item in the consolidated statements of operations.

Impairment of long-lived assets

The Compang reviews longelived assets such as propertg, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful

lives for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrging amount mag not be
recoverable f the total of the expected undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrging amount of the asset, a
loss is recognized for the excess of the carrging amount over the fair value of the asset.

Income taxes

The Compang uses the iiabilitg method of tax allocation to account for income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and

liabilities are 'ecognized based upon temporarg differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and

liabilities, and measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to
reverse. The Compang records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred income tax assets to the amount that is more

likelg than not to be realized The Compang considers both positive evidence and negative evidence, to determine whether,

based upon the weight of that evidence, a valuation allowance is required. Judgment is required in considering the relative
impact of negative and positive evidence.

Significant iudgment is required in evaluating the Compong's uncertain tax positions and provisions for income taxes.

Liabilities for uncertain tax positions are recognized based on a two-step approach. The first step is to evaluate whether a

tax position has met the recognition threshold bg determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more

likelg than not to be sustained upon examination. The second step is to measure the tax position that has met the

recognition threshold as the largest amount that is more than 50% likelg of being realized upon settlement. The Compang
continuallg assesses the likelihood and amount of potential adjustments and adjusts the income tax provisions, income tax

pagable and deferred taxes in the period in which the facts that give rise to a revision become known. The Compang
recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as interest expense that is netted and reported within
investment income.

The Compang JSES the flow—through method to account for investment tax credits (“lTCs“) earned on eligible scientific
research and experimental development expenditures. Under this method, the lTCs are recognized as a reduction to
income tax expense.
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RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
In thousands of United States dollars. except share and oer shore aata. and except as otherwise indicated

Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. The Company considers revenue realized or
realizable and earned when it has persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the product has been delivered or the services

have been provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. In

addition to this general policy, the following paragraphs describe the specific revenue recognition policies for each maioi
category of revenue

Devices

Revenue from the sales of Blacl<Berry devices is recognized when title is transferred to the customer and all significant
contractual obligations that affect the customer's final acceptance have been fulfilled. For hardware products for which

software is deemed not to be incidental. the Company recognizes revenue in accordance with industry specific software
revenue recognition guidance The Company records reductions to revenue for estimated commitments related to price
protection and for customer incentive programs, including reseller and end-user rebates. The estimated cost of the

incentive programs are accrued based on historical experience, as a reduction to revenue in the period the Company has
sold the product and committed to a plan Price protection is accrued as a reduction to revenue based on estimates of

future price reductions and certain agreed customer inventories at the date of the price adjustment. In addition, provisions
are made at the time of sale for warranties and royalties. For further discussion on warranties see note i3.

Service

Revenue from service is recognized rateably on a monthly basis when the service is provided. in instances where the

Company bills the customer prior to performing the service, the prebilling is recorded as deferred revenue.

Software

Revenue from licensed software is recognized at the inception of the license term and in accordance with industry specific

Software revenue recognition guidance when the fair value of a delivered element has not been established. the Company
uses the residual method to recognize revenue if the fair value of undelivered elements is determinable. Revenue from

software maintenance, unspecified upgrades and technical support contracts is recognized over the period thcit such items
are delivered or that services are provided.

Other

Revenue from the sale of accessories is recognized when title is transferred to the customer and all significant contractual

obligations that affect the customers final acceptance have been fulfilled. Technical support ("T-Support”) contracts

extending oeyond the current period are recorded as deferred revenue. Revenue from repair and maintenance programs
is recognized when the service is delivered which is when the title is transferred to the customer and all significant

contractual obligations that affect the customer's final acceptance have been fulfilled. Revenue for non—recurrinr;

engineering contracts is recognized as specific contract milestones are met. The attainment of milestones approximates
actual performance

Shipping and handling costs

Shipping and handling costs charged to income are included in cost of sales where they can be reasonably attributed to
certain revenue; otherwise they are included in selling, marketing and administration.

Multipleelement arrangements

The Company enters into transactions that represent muitiple—element arrangements which may include any combination
of hardware and/or service or software and T-Support. These multiple-element arrangements are assessed to determine

whether they can be separated into more than one unit of accounting or element for the purpose of revenue recognition.
When the appropriate criteria for separating revenue into more than one unit of accounting is met and there is vendor

specific objective evidence of fair value for all units of accounting or elements in an arrangement, the arrangement
consideration is allocated to the separate units of accounting or elements based on each unit’s relative fair value. when

the fair value of a delivered element has not been established, the Company uses the residual method to recognize
revenue ii‘ the fair value of undelivered elements is determinable. This vendor specific objective evidence of fair value is

established through prices charged for each revenue element when that element is sold separately. The revenue
recognition policies described above are then applied to each unit of accounting.



Research and development

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs for BlackBerry devices and licensed software to be sold.

leased or otherwise marketed are subject to capitalizat on beginning when a product's technological feasibility has been

established and ending when a product is available for general release to customers The Company’s products are

generally released soon after technological feasibility has been established and therefore costs incurred subsequent to
achievement of technological feasibility are not significant and have been expensed as incurred.

Comprehensive Income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in net assets of a business enterprise during a period from

transactions and other events and circumstances from non—owner sources and includes all changes in equity di.ring a

period except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners. The Company's reportable items of
comprehensive income are cash flow hedges as described in note l7 and changes in the fair value of availabie—for~sale
investments as described in note 5 Realized gains or losses on available-for-sale investments are reclassified into
investment income using the specific identification basis.

Earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated based on the weighted~average number of shares outstanding during the year. The
treasury stock method is used for the calculation of the dilutive effect of stock options.

Stock-based compensation plans

The Compary has stock~based compensation plans, wh.ch are described in note ii(b).

The Company has an incentive stock option plan for officers and employees of the Company or its subsidiaries. Jnder the
terms of the plan, as revised in fiscal 2008. no stock options may be granted to independent directors. Prior to fiscal 2007.

the Company accounted for stock—based compensation expense based on the grant—date fair value as determined under

the intrinsic value method Beginning in fiscal 2007, the Company adopted the modified prospective transition (“MPT")

method to record stock—based compensation expense. Stock~based compensation expense calculated using the MPT

approach is recognized on a prospective basis in the financial statements for all new and unvested stock options that are

ultimately expected to vest as the requisite service is rendered beginning in the Company's fiscal 2007 year. The Company

measures stock-based compensation expense at the grant date based on the award's fair value as calculated by the

Black-Scholes-Merton (“BSM”) option-pricing model and is recognized rateably over the vesting period. The BSM model

requires various iudgmental assumptions including volatility and expected option life. In addition. judgment is also applied

in estimating the amount of stock—based awards that are expected to be forfeited, and if actual results differ significantly

from these estimates. stock-based compensation expense and our results of operations would be impacted.

Any considercition paid by employees on exercise of stock options plus any recorded stock—based compensation within
additional paid~in capital related to that stock option is credited to capital stock.

The Company has a Restricted Share Unit Plan (the "RSU Plan") under which eligible participants include any officer or
employee of the Company or its subsidiaries. At the Company's discretion Restricted Share Units (“RSUS”) are redeemed

for either common shares issued by the Company. common shares purchased on the open market by a trustee seiected
by the Company or the cash equivalent on the vesting dates established by the Board of Directors or the Compensation.

Nomination and Governance Committee of the Board of Directors The RSUs vest over a three-year period, either on the

third anniversciry date or in equal instalments on each anniversary date over the vesting period. The Company classifies
RSUs as equity instruments as the Company has the ability and intent to settle the awards in shares. The compensation

expense is calculated based on the fair value of each RSU as determined by the closing value of the Company's common

shares on the business day of the grant date The Company recognizes compensation expense over the vesting period of
the RSU

Upon issuance of the RSU, common shares for which RSUs may be exchanged will be purchased on the open market by a
trustee selected and funded by the Company. The trustee has been appointed to settle the Company’s obligation to

deliver shares to individuals upon vesting. in addition, upon vesting. the trustee is required to sell enough shares to cover
the individual recipients minimum statutory withholding tax requirement. with the remaining shares delivered to the
individual As the Company is considered to be the primary beneficiary of the trust, the trust is considered a variable
interest entity and is consolidated by the Company.  
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The Cornpanu has a Deferred Share Unit Plan (the “DSU Plan") adopted bu the Board of Directors on December 20, 2007,

under which each independent director will be credited with Deferred Share Units (“DSUs") in satisfaction of all or a portion

of the cash fees otherwise pauable to them for serving as a director of the Companu. Grants under the DSU plan replace
the stock option awards that were historicallu granted to independent members of the Board of Directors. At a minimum.
50% of each independent director's annual retainer will be satisfied in the form of DSUS. The director can elect to receive

the remaining 50% in anu combination of cash and DSUS. Within a specified period after such a director ceases to be a

director, DSUs will be redeemed for cash with the redemption value of each DSU equal to the weighted average trading

price of the Companus shares over the five trading daus preceding the redemption date. Alternativelu, subject to receipt

of shareholder approval, the Companu mau elect to redeem DSUs bu wau of shares purchased on the open market or

issued bu the Companu. DSUs are accounted for as liabilitu-classified awards and are awarded on a quarterlu basis

These awards are measured at their fair value on the date of issuance, and remeasured at each reporting period, until
settlement

warrantu

The Companu provides for the estimated costs of product warranties at the time revenue is recognized. BlackBerru devices

are generallu covered bu a time—iimited warrantu for varuing periods of time. The Companu’s warrantu obligation is

affected bu product failure rates. differences in warrantu periods, regulatoru developments with respect to warrantu

obligations in the countries in which the Companu carries on business, freight expense, and material usage and other
related repair costs.

The Companus estimates of costs are based upon historical experience and expectations of future return rates and unit

warrantu repair cost if the Companu experiences increased or decreased warrantu activitu, or increased or decreased

costs associated with servicing those obligations, revisions to the estimated warrantu liabilitu would be recognized in the
reporting period when such revisions are made.

Advertising costs

The Companu expenses all advertising costs as incurred. These costs are included in selling, marketing and
administration

2. ADOPTION OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In Februaru 20i0, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") issued authoritative guidance updating previouslu
issued guidance on accounting for subsequent events. The guidance amends previous literature to remove the requirement

for a Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") filer to disclose the date through which subsequent events have been

evaluated and reaffirms that an SEC filer is required to evaluate subsequent events through the date the financial

statements are issued The Companu adopted this autwaritative guidance in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 and the
adoption did not have a material impact on the results of operations and financial condition.

In August 2039. the FASB issued authoritative guidance on measuring the fair value of liabilities. The guidance amends
previous literature and clarifies that in circumstances ir which a quoted market price in an active market for an identical

liabilitu is not available, an entitu is required to use a valuation technique that uses quoted market price of the dentical

liabilitu when traded as an asset, the quoted market price of a similar liabilitu or the quoted market price of a similar

liabilitu wher traded as an asset to measure fair value if these quoted prices are not available, an entitu is reqdired to use
a valuation technique that is in accordance with existing fair value principles, such as the income or market approach. The

Companu adopted this authoritative guidance in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 and the adoption did not have (1 material
impact on the Componus results of operations and financial condition.

In June 2009, the FASB issued the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“the Codification"). The Codification became the

source of authoritative U S GAAP recognized bu the FASB to be applied to nongovernmental entities. The Codification did

not change US GAAP but reorganizes literature into a single source. The Codification is effective for interim periods ending
after September i5, 2009 The Companu adopted the Codification and has updated its disclosure and references. to US
GAAP as required bu the standard in the third quarter of fiscal 2010.

in iviciu 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on accounting for subsequent events that was previouslu onlu

addressed in auditing literature. The guidance is largelu similar to current guidance in the auditing literature with some

minor exceptions that are not intended to result in significant changes in practice. The Companu adoptea the authoritative



guidance and disclosure requirements in the second quarter of fiscal 2010 and the adoption did not have a material
impact on the Companys results of operations and financial condition.

In April 2009. the FASB issued authoritative guidance an interim disclosures about fair value of financial instruments. The

guidance expands the fair value disclosure of financial instruments to interim periods. in addition, it requires disclosures of

the methods and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments. The Company adopted

the authoritative guidance and disclosure requirements in the second quarter of fiscal 2010 and the adoption did not have
a material impact on the Company's results of operations and financial condition.

In April 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on recognition and presentation of other~than-temporary

impairments The guidance applies to investments in which other—than~temporary impairments may be recorded and

establishes :1 new model for measuring other-than~temporary impairments for debt securities. in addition, it requires

additional disclosures related to debt and equity securities. The Company adopted the authoritative guidance in the

second quarter of fiscal 2010 and the adoption did not have a material impact on the Company's results of operations
and financial condition.

In April 2009, the EASB issued authoritative guidance on determining fair value when the volume and level of activity for the

asset or liability have significantly decreased and identifying transactions that are not orderly. The Company adopted the

authoritative guidance in the second quarter of fiscal 2010 and the adoption did not have a material impact on the
Company's results of operations and financial condition

In September 2006, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on fair value measurements which became effective for fiscal

years beginning after November 15. 2007 However, in February 2008, the FASB issued further guidance which delayed the
effective date relating to fair value measurements for non—financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair

value on a recurring basis to November 15, 2008. The Company partially adopted the authoritative guidance on fair value

measurements in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. The Company adopted the remaining portion of the authoritative
guidance on fair value measurements relating to non—financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value on

a recurring basis in the first quarter of fiscal 2010. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company's results
of operations and financial condition

In December 2007. the FASB issued authoritative guidance on business combinations. The guidance is broader in scope

than previous guidance which applied only to business combinations in which control was obtained by transferring

consideration The issued guidance applies to all transactions and other events in which one entity obtains control over
one or more other businesses. In April 2009, the FASB released further guidance with respect to business combinations
specifically accounting for assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination that arise from

contingencies which amends and clarifies the initial recognition and measurement, subsequent measurement and

accounting and related disclosures of assets and liabilities arising from contingencies in a business combination This

guidance is effective for assets and liabilities arising from contingencies in business combinations for which the acquisition

date is on or after December 15, 2008. As discussed in note 9. the Company adopted the authoritative guidance on
business combinations as amended, in the first quarter of fiscal 2010 and the adoption did not have a material impact on

the Company's results of operations and financial condition In December 2007, the PASS issued authoritative guidance on

noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial statements. The guidance requires that the noncontrolling interest in the
equity of a subsidiary be accounted for and reported as equity, provides revised guidance on the treatment of net income

and losses attributable to the noncontrolling interest and changes in ownership interests in a subsidiary and requires

additional disclosures that identify and distinguish betwee'i the interests of the controlling and noncontrolling owners. The

Company adopted the guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2010 and the adoption did not have a material impact on the
Company’s results of operations and financial condition

3. RECENTLY ISSUED PRONOUNCEMENTS

In January 2010, the FASB issued authoritative guidance to improve disclosures about fair value measurements. The

guidance amenas previous literature to require an entity to provide a number of additional disclosures regarding fair

value measurements including significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 on a gross basis and the reasons for such

transfers. trans‘ers in and out of Level 3 on a gross basis and the reasons for such transfers. the entity’s policy for
recognizing transfers between Levels and to disclose information regarding purchases, sales, issuances and settlements on

a gross basis in the Level 3 reconciliation of recurring fair value measurements. The guidance also further clarifies existing
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guidance on disclosure requirements around disaggregation and valuation techniques for both recurring and non~
recurring ‘air value measurements in either Level 2 or Level 3. The new authoritative guidance is effective for nterim and

annual periods beginning after December i5, 2009, except for the requirement to separately disclose purchases, soles,

issuances and settlements in the Level 3 reconciliation which is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after

December is, 20i0. The Company will adopt the guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 201i and the first quarter of fiscal

2012, respectivelg. The Compang is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this guidance will have on its
financial statement disclosures.

in October 2009, the EASB issued authoritative guidance on revenue recognition for arrangements with rnultipae

deliverables The guidance amends previous literature to require an entitg to use an estimated selling price wnen vendor
specific Obi€Cl|\/E evidence or acceptable third partg evidence does not exist for ang products or services included in a

multiple element arrangement. The arrangement consideration should be allocated among the products and services

based upon their relative selling prices, thus eliminating the use of the residual method of allocation The guiaance also

requires expanded qualitative and quantitative disclosures regarding significant judgements mode and changes in

applging the guidance. The new authoritative guidance is effective for revenue arrangements entered into or materiailg

modified in fiscal gears beginning after June i5, 2010 with early application permitted. The Company plans to adopt the

guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 201i and the Compang does not expect the adoption will have a material impact on
the Compangs results of operations and financial condition.

in October 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on certain revenue arrangements that include software elements.

The guidance amends previous literature to exclude tangible products containing software components and non~software

components that function together to deliver the product's essential functionaiitg from applying software revenue

recognition guidance to those products The new authoritative guidance is effective for revenue arrangements entered into
or materiallg modified in fiscal gears on or after June i5, 2010 with earig application permitted. The Compang plans to

adopt the guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 20ii and the Compang does not expect the adoption will have a material
impact on the Compangs results of operations and financial condition

in June 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance to amend the manner in which an enterprise performs an analgsis to
determine whether the enterprises variable interest gives it a controlling interest in the variable interest entitg (‘ViE"). The
guidance uses a qualitative risks and rewards approach by focusing on which enterprise has the power to direct the

activities of the VIE, the obligation to absorb the entity's losses and rights to receive benefits from the entitg. The guidance

also requires enhanced disclosures related to the VIE. The new authoritative guidance is effective for annual periods
beginning after November is, 2009. The Compang will adopt the guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 201i and the

Compang does not expect the adoption will have a material impact on the Compangs results of operations and financialcondition.

In June 2009, the EASB issued authoritative guidance amending the accounting for transfers of financial assets. The
guidance. among other things, eliminates the exceptions for qualifging special-purpose entities from the consol datian

guidance, clarifies the requirements for transferred financial assets that are eligible for sale accounting and reauires
enhanced disclosures about a transferors continuing involvement with transferred financial assets. This new authoritative

guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after November TS, 2009. The Compang will adopt the guidance in the

first quarte' of fiscal 20ii and the Campang does not expect the adoption will have a material impact on the Campang‘s
results of operations and financial condition.

in November 2008, the SEC announced a proposed roadmap for comment regarding the potential use by U.S. issuers of
financial statements prepared in accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards (“iFRS"). IFRS is a

comprehensive series of accounting standards published bg the international Accounting Standards Board. Or‘.

Eebruarg 24. 2010. the SEC issued a statement describing its position regarding global accounting standards. Among other
things, the SEC stated that it has directed its staff to execute a work plan which will include consideration of IFRS as it

exists toaac and after completion of various “convergence" projects currentlg underwag between US. and international
accounting standards setters. Bg 20ii, assuming completion of certain projects and the SEC staff's work plan. the SEC will

decide whether to incorporate iFRS into the US. financicil reporting sgstem. The Company is currentig assessing the impact

that this proposed change would have on the consolidated financial statements, accompanying notes and disclosures.
and will continue to monitor the development of the potential implementation of lFRS.



4. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS

The components of cash, cash equivalents and investments were as follows:

 

 

Unrealized Unrealized Recorded Cash and Cash Snortterr" .O'1(‘i-1Ei’r1‘
Cost Basis Gains Losses Basis Equivalents investments Investments

As at Februaru 27,2010

Bank balances .. , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . ,, $ 535,445 $ — 3 — $ 535,445 $ 535,445 $ — 2%. —

Moneu market fuwa . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 3,278 - — 3.278 3,278 ~ —
Bankers acceptances and term

deposits/certificates. . ............ .. . . 377,596 — — 377.596 377.596 - —

Commercial paper and corporate notes/bonds .. 855,145 6528 (49) 861,624 472.312 187,369 201,943

Treasuru bills/notes. . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . .. 203,514 129 (12) 203,631 92,272 50,786 60,573

Government sponsored enterprise notes . . . . . . . . .. 447,131 2,590 (13) 449,708 69,958 111,977 267,773

Asset—baci<ed securities. . _ . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 393.751 5.280 (50) 398,98‘: — 10,482 388,499

Auction»rate~ securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 40,527 - (7.688) 32.839 — — 32,839

Other invesiments . ...... .. . ................... .. 6.621 ~ — 6,621 — ~ 6.621

3 2.863.008 $ 14,527 $ (7,812) $ 2,869,723 $1,550.861 $ 360,614 $958,248

As at Feoruaru 28, 2009

Bank balances . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 93 477,855 $ — $ — 3 477,855 $ 477,855 $ - $ —

Moneu mamet fund . . ............................ .. . 5.000 — — 5,000 5,000 - —
Bankers acceptances and term

oeposits/Lertiiicates . , . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . _ . . . . . . . . . .. 14,963 8 — 14,971 — 14,971 —

Commercial paper and corporate notes/bonds 404,623 3,608 (443) 407,788 124,720 145,605 ‘3",463
Treasuru oiils/notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 245,050 717 (153) 245,614 19,398 205,633 20,583

Government sponsored enterprise notes... .. 666,627 2,922 (178) 669,371 208,573 316,457 144,341
Asset~baCl<ed securities . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 379091 2,658 (1,540) 380,209 — — 380,209
Auctiorrrate securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 40.529 - (7,687) 32,842 - — 32,842

Other investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . . .. 5.197 — — 5.197 — — 5,197

$ 2,238,935 1 9,9‘.3 $(10.CC‘) 52,238,847 $ 835,546 $682,666 $ 720.635

Realized gains and losses on available—for~sale securities comprise the following-

For the gear ended

February 27, Februoru 78, March 1,
7.010 2009 7008

Realized gains
Realized losses ..

.. .. . ................................................................ .. $ 439 $ 158 $ 10

. . . . . . _ . . . _ _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. (17) (1,801) (410)

Net realized gains (losses) .................................................................................. .. $ 422 $ (1,643) $ (400) 

The COfltI'O(iU(]l maturities of available—for—sale investments at February 27, 2010 were as follows:

 
Cost Basis FOlr Value

Due in one year or less . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ _ . . . . , . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 1,371,047 $ 1,372,752

Due in one to five gears ._ . _. ................................................................................ .. 773,471 783,451

Due after five gears . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 173,146 168,176

No fixed maturitu date ..................................................................................................... .. 3.278 3,278

$ 2,320,942 $ 2,327,657 ::j_e
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investments with continuous unrealized losses for less than 12 months and greater than 12 months and their related fair
values were as follows:

 

_ess than 12 months 1? months or greater Total __
UFWCGJZECI ‘unrealized Unreaizein‘

Fair Value losses Fair Value losses Fair Value losses

As at February 27, 2010

Commercial paper and corporate notes/bonds ...... .. $ 93,129 $ 49 $ ~ 3; — s 93,129 $ 49

Treasury bills/notes. ...................................... .. 91,109 12 — - 91,109 12

Government sponsored enterprise notes .................. .. 57,537 13 — - 57,537 13

Asset-backed securities .......................................... .. 18,820 50 — — 18,820 50

Auction—rate securities ................................... .. — — 32,839 7,688 32,839 7,688

55 260595 $ 124 $ 32,839 $ 7,688 $ 293,434 $ 7,812_:_ 

Less than 1? months 17 months or greater Toto. _
Unrealized Unrealized Unreal zed

Fair Value losses Fair Value losses Fair Value losses

As at February 28. 2009

Commercial paper and corporate notes/bonds ..... .. . $ 81,077 $ 391 $ 19,997 3 52 $ 101,074 :9 443

Treasury bills,/notes. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 130,713 153 ~ - 130,713 153

Government sponsored enterprise notes ................. .. 231,955 178 — - 231,955 178

Asset-backed securities . ................... .. 125,019 1,540 — - 125,019 1,540
Auction»rate securities . .. . . . . ................. .. — — 32.842 7,687 32,842 7,687

$ 568,764 $ 2,262 $ 52,839 $ 7,739 $ 621,603 $10,001

Unrealized losses of $7.7 million primarily relate to auction—rate securities. Auction rate securities are debt instruments with

longvterm nominal maturity dates for which the interest rates are reset through a dutch auction process, typically every 7,
28 or 35 days interest is paid at the end of each auction period, and the auction normally serves as the mechanism for

securities holders to sell their existing positions to interested buyers. As at February 27, 2010, the Company held

$40.5 million in face value of investment grade auction rate securities which are experiencing failed auctions as a result of
more sell orders than buy orders, and these auctions have not yet returned to normal operations. The interest rate for

these securities has been set at the maximum rate specified in the program documents and interest continues to be paid
every 28 days as scheduled. The Company has adjusted the reported value to reflect an unrealized loss of $7.7 rnillion in

fiscal 2009, which the Company considers temporary and is reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

In valuing these securities, the Company used a multi-year investment horizon and considered the underlying risk of the
securities and the current market interest rate environment. The Company has the ability and intent to hold these securities

until such time that market liquidity returns to normal levels, and does not consider the principal or interest amounts on

these securities to be materially at risk at this time. As there is uncertainty as to when market liquidity for auction rate

securities w ll return to normal, the Company has classified the failing auction rate securities as long-term investments on

the balance sheet As at February 27, 2010, the Company does not consider these investments to be other-than—temporarily
impaired

5. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements

for assets and liabilities required to be recorded at fair value. the Company considers the principal or most advantageous
market in which it would transact and considers assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or

liability scch as inherent risk, non~performance risk and credit risk. The Company applies the following fair value
hierarchy. which prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value into three levels:

- Level 1 ~ Unodiusted quoted prices at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.



- Level 2 ~ Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and
liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, or

other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

- Level 3 — Significant unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

The fair value hierarchy also requires the Company to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.

The carrying amounts of the Company's cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other receivables, accounts

payable and accrued liabilities, approximate fair value due to their short maturities. When determining the fair value of its

investments held, the Company primarily relies on an independent third party valuator for the fair valuation of securities.

Pricing inputs by the service provider are generally received from two primary vendors The pricing inputs are reviewed for

completeness. tolerance and accuracy on a daily basis by the service provider, The Company also reviews and

understands the inputs used in the valuation process and assesses the pricing of the securities for reasonableness. To do

this, the Company utilizes internally developed models to estimate fair value. Inputs into the internally developed models

may include benchmark yields, reported trades, quotes, issuer spreads, benchmark curves (including Treasury

benchmarks, LIBOR and swap curves), discount rates, derivative indices, recovery and default rates, prepayment rates,

trustee reports. bids/offers and other reference data. In the event the Company disagrees with the pricing from the service
provider, the Company will challenge the pricing and work with the service provider to determine the most reasonable fair
value

The fair value of currency forward contracts has been estimated using market quoted currency spot rates and interest

rates The estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company could realize in a
current market exchange Changes in assumptions could have a significant effect on the estimates.

The following table presents the Company's assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis-

As at Februart. .7‘T, 2012 Level‘. Level 2 Level 3 Toto. 

Assets

Available-far—sale investments

 

 

Money market fund . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 393.278 $ — its — $ 3,278

Banker acceptances and term deposits,/certificates. — 377,596 ~ 377,596
Commericai paper and corporate notes/bonds . . . . . . . . . . . .. — 846,496 15,128 861,624

Treasury bills/notes ............................................................... .. — 203,631 — 203,631

Government sponsored enterprise notes ................................... .. - 449,708 — 449,708
Asset-backed securities .. . ................................................. .. - 398,981 — 398,981

Auction-rate securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . — — 32,839 32,839

Total available—i'or—sale investments . . ................................. .. $3,278 $ 2,276,412 $ 47,967 3‘: 2,327,657

Derivative instruments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. — 97,261 _ 97,261

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. .. . . . . , . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 3,278 $ 2,373,673 $ 47,967 $ 2,424,918

Liabilities

Derivative instruments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ — $ 6,164 $ — $ 6,164

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . $ — $3 6,164 $ — $ 6,164Total liabilities . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 
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As at FeDtLCig P8 7009 ceveli Level 7. Leve. R Tota.

Assets

Availabie»toi~sale investments

Moneg market fund . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 5,000 $ — $ - $ 5,000

Bankers acceptances and term deposits/certificates ............... .. ~ 14,971 — 14,977

Commericai paper and corporate notes/bonds ....................... .. — 389,086 18,702 407,788

Treasurc bills/notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ., — 245,614 ~ 245.614

Government sponsored enterprise notes ................................ .. ~ 669,371 — 669,371

Asset-backed securities . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , .. — 380,209 ~ 380,209

/-\uction—ra1e securities . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. — - 32,842 32.84.Z_
"otal availabie—for~sale investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 5,000 $1,699,251 $ 51,544 $ 1,755,793

Derivative instruments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . _ . . _ . _ . . . . . . . . . . . .. ~ 70,100 ~ 70100_
Total assets . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 5,000 $ 1,769,351 $ 51,544 $1,825,895

Liabilities

Derivative instruments ............................................................. .. $ - $ 56,827 $ — $ 56.82‘/_
Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 53 — $ 56,827 :5 ~ $ 56,827 

The following table summarizes the changes in fair value of the Company's Level 3 assets for the gear ended F-ebruarg 27,
2010

Leve.3 

Balance at March 1. 2008 ......................................................................................................................... .. $ 59,418

Unrealized changes in fair value included in other comprehensive income .................................................... .. (4,457)
Accrued interest .................................................................................................................................... .. 1,07?

"ransfers out of Level 3 . .......................................................................................................................... ,. (4,489)
Balance at Februarg 28, 2009 .................................................................................................................... .. 51,544

Accrued interest ...................................................................................................................................... .. (3)

"ransfers out of Level 3 ........................................................................................................................ ., (3,574)

Balance at Februarg 27. 2010 .. . ..................................................................................................... .. $ 47,967 

6. INVENTORIES

inventories were comprised as follows:

 

 

FEDFUGYL, 77, Feoruarg 7%,.
2010 .7009

Raw mater als . $ 490,063 $ 464,497

Work in process . . . 231,939 250,728

Finished goods . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . .. 17,068 35,264

Provisior for excess and obsolete inventories ................................................................... .. (117,459) (68,089)

$ 621,611 $ 682,400



7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, plant and equipment were comprised of the following.

February 27, 2010

 

Accumulated i\.et book
Cost amortization value 

Land .. .. ............................................................... .. $ 104,254 $ — $ 104,254

Buildings. leoseholds and other ................................................................. .. 926,747 115,216 811,531

BlackBerry operations and other information technology .......................... .. 1,152,637 484,180 668,457
Manufacturing equipment, research and development equipment, and

tooling 347,692 182,228 165,464

Furniture and fixtures 346,641 139,766 206,875

$ 2,877,971 $921390 3? 1.956,581 

February 28, .7009
Accumulated Not book

Cost amortization value 

Land. . .. . .. .. . ..................................................... .. $ 90,257 it ~ $ 90.257

Buildings, leoseholds and other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 608,213 70,017 338,196

BlackBerry operations and other information technology .......................... .. 732,486 316,398 416,088
Manufacturing equipment, research and development equipment, and

tooling . ..................................................................................... .. 247,608 108,676 138,932

Furniture and fixtures ........................................................................... .. 244,502 93.327 ‘ 151,175
$ 1,923,066 $ 588,418 $ 1,334,648 :j—

As at February 27. 2010, the carrying amount of assets under construction was $254.3 million (February 28, 2009 —

$88.9 million) Of this amount, $110.9 million (February 28, 2009 ~ $500 million) was included in buildings, leoseholos and
other, $102.3 million (February 28, 2009 ~ $35 8 million) was included in BlackBerry operations and other information

technology. and $40 9 million (February 28, 2009 — $3.2 million) was included in manufacturing equipment, research and
development equipment, and tooling

As at February 27, 2010, $31.7 million has been classified as an asset held for sale and accordingly has been reclassified
from property, plant and equipment to other current assets

For the year ended February 27, 2010, amortization expense related to property, plant and equipment was $344.5 million
(February 28, 2009 — $203 4 million; March 1, 2008 —- $133.1 million).

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

intangible assets were comprised of the following-

February 77, 7010
Accumulated i\et book

Cost amortization VO‘ib€‘ 

Acquired technology . .. . ................. .. . .................................................. .. $ 165,791 $ 70,777 $ 95,014

Licenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ., 711,969 196,618 515,351

Patents. .. . .. .. . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 889,467 173,469 715,998

$ 1,767,227 $ 440,864 15 1.326363 

February 28, 2009

 
Accumulated Net book

Cost amortization value

Acquired technology .............................................................................. .. $ 92,819 $ 41,518 $ 5“,301
Licenses. .. .. . . . . . , . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 427,471 61,112 366,359

Patents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . .. 733,632 84,765 648,867

$1,253,922 $ 187,395 $1,066,527  

NOTES7-8
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During fiscal 2010, the additions to intangible assets arimarilg consisted of $104 million as part of a definitive agreement to
settle all outstanding worldwide patent litigation (“the Vista Litigation") with Visto Corporation (“Vista”) as described in

note 12(c), agreements with third parties totalling approximatelg $245.7 million for the use of intellectual property, software,
messaging services and other Blaci<Berrg related features and intangible assets associated with the business acquisitionsdiscussed in note 9

During fiscal 2009, the Compang entered into agreements with third parties totalling $353.5 million for the use of intellectual

propertg, software, messaging services and other BlackBerrg related features. in addition, the Compang entered into
several agreements to acquire portfolios of patents relating to wireless communication technologies totalling $279.5 million
The acquired patents were recorded as intangible assets and are being amortized over their estimated useful lives.

For the gear ended Februarg 27, 2010, amortization expense related to intangible assets was $271.1 million (Februarg 28,
2009 — $124.5 million, March 1, 2008 — $44.3 million) Total additions to intangible assets in fiscal 2010 were $531.0 million
(2009 ~ $7211million)

Based on the carrging value of the identified intangible assets as at Februarg 27, 2010 and assuming no subsequent
impairment of the underiging assets, the annual amonization expense for the next five fiscal gears is expected to be as
follows 2C11— $324 million; 2012 —— $275 million; 2013 — $227 million; 2014 — $139 million. and 2015 — $61 million

The weighted—average remaining useful life of the acquired technologg is 3.4 gears (2009 —- 3.7 gears).

9. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

During fiscal 20 O, the Compang purchased for cash consideration certain assets of a compang whose acquired
technologies wil be used in next generation wireless technologies. The transaction closed on Februarg 9. 2010.

During fiscal 2010. the Compang purchased for cash consideration 100% of the common shares of Torch Mobile lnc.

("Torch") The transaction closed on August 21, 2009 Torch provides the Compang with web browser based technologg.

During fiscal 20 0, the Compang purchased for cash consideration 100% of the common shares of a compang whose
proprietarg software will be incorporated into the Compang's software. The transaction closed on Mag 22, 2009

During fiscal 20 0. the Compang purchased 100% of the common shares of Certicom Corp. (“Certicom”) at a price of CAD
$3.00 for each common share of Certicom or approximatelg CAD $131.3 million. The transaction closed on March 23. 2009

Certicom is a leading provider of crgptographg required bg software vendors and device manufacturers looking to protect
the value of con ent, applications and devices with government approved securitg using Elliptic Curve Crgptographg.

The acquisitions were accounted for using the acquisition method wherebg identifiable assets acquired and liablities
assumed were measured at their fair values as of the date of acquisition The excess of the acquisition price over such fair
value, if ang, is recorded as goodwill. which is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. ln-process research and

development is charged to amortization expense immediatelg after acquisition. The Compang includes the operating
results of each acquired business in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.

Effective fiscal 2010, the Compang expenses (a) all direct costs associated with the acquisitions as incurred,

(b) compensation paid to emplogees for pre—comoination services as part of the consideration paid; and (c) compensation
paid to emplogees for post—combination services as operating expenses separate from the business combination. The

Compang no longer expenses in~process research and development; instead it is capitalized and amortized over its

estimated useful life once it is readg for use The Compang recognizes the excess of net assets acquired over
consideration paid in income.

During fiscal 2009 the Compang purchased 100% of the common shares of Chalk Media Corp (“Chalk”). The transaction

closed on .lcmuc1rg 30. 2009 Chalk is the developer of Mobile chalkboard", which enables the rapid creation anc secure,
tracked deplogment of media-rich “Pushcasts"”' to Black3errg smartphones.

During fiscal 2009, the Compang purchased 100% of the common shares of o compang whose proprietarg software is
being incorporated into the Compangs software. The transaction closed on Februarg 13, 2009.



During fiscal 2008, the Company purchased the assets and intellectual property of a company. The transaction closed on

November 19, 2007. in addition, the Company purchased 100% of the common shares of a company whose proprietary
software has been incorporated into the Company’s software. The transaction closed on August 22, 2007.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition along with prior year's acquisition allocations-

For the year ended

February 27, February 78, March 1,
2010 7.009 7008 

Assets purchased

Current assets. . . ....................................................................................... .. 3 19,282 $ 1,155 $ 23
Capital assets . .. . .............. .. . ....................................................... .. — 494 -

Deferred income tax asset. .. .. .......................................................... .. 2a,000 3,097 —

Acquired technology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 72,971 31,226 1,035

|n—process research and development ...................................................... .. — 1,919 ~
Patents ............................................................................... .. 362,600 — 960

Goodwill ................................................................................ .. 12,989 23,117 4,523

167,842 (21,008 6,541

Liabilities assumed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 15,072 12,583 —
Deferred income tax liability ..................................................................... .. 751 — 341

15,823 12,583 341

Net non-cash assets acquired. ................................................................. .. 152,019 48,425 6,200
Cash acquired .. . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 8,370 1,421 1

Net assets acquired . .............................................................................. .. 1bO,389 49,846 6,201

Excess of net assets acquired over consideration paid. ................................ .. (8,588) - ~

Consideration paid . .. .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 151,801 $ 49,846 $ 0,201 

During fiscal 2010, the Company recorded a gain of $8.6 million as a result of the excess of net assets acquired over

consideration paid on one of the acquisitions. in addition, the Company expensed $6.5 million of acquisition related costs

due to the four acquisitions. Both of these items were recognized in selling, marketing and administration in the pe'iOd The

excess of net assets acquired over consideration paid resulted from the combination of the significant value attributed to

the identifiable intangible assets and the Company’s ability to utilize tax losses of an acquiree, which was generally not
available to other market participants

The weighted average amortization period of the acquired technology related to the business acquisitions completed in
fiscal 2010 is approximately 3.7 years (2009 e 4.6 years).

The weighted average amortization period of the patents related to the business acquisition completed in fiscal 2010 is
approximately 18.1 years (2009 — nil years).

Pro forma results of operations for the acquisitions have not been presented because the effects of the operations,
individually or in aggregate, are not considered to be material to the Company's consolidated results.
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10. INCOME TAXES

The difference between the amount of the provision for income taxes and the amount computed by multiplying income
before income taxes bg the statutorg Canadian tax rate is reconciled as follows

For the gear ended

Februa'g 27, February 78, March ,

2010 2009 7008 _

Statutoru Canadian tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . .. 32.8% 33.4% 35.7%

Expected income tax provision . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 1,072,395 $ 935,881 $3 645,994
Differences in income taxes resulting from‘

Impact of Canadian U S dollar functional currencg election ........... _. (145,000) — -

Investment tax credits . . . . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . _ . . . . . . . . .. (101,214) (81,173) (58,726)

Manufacturing and processing activities . . . . . . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , , . . _ . . . .. (52,053) (49,808) (24,984)

Foreign exchange . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . . . . . . . . .. 2,837 99,575 (30,820)

Foreigr tax rate differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . , _ . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 5,291 (16,273) (29,909,
Non—deductible stock compensation ............................................... .. 9,600 10,500 10,400
Adjustments to deferred tax balances for enacted changes in tax

laws and rates .......................................................................... .. 7,927 1,260 (4,646)

Other differences ....................................................................... .. 9,583 7,785 9,352_
$ 809,366 $ 907,747 $ 516,653

For the gear ended _
Februaru 27, February 28, March 1,

2010 2009 2008 
1i'1COfT1€ b€’fOl’€ 1F1COFT1€ tClX€S'

Canadiar . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , , . . . . . . . , . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 2,999,263 3 2,583,976 36 1,635,074

Foreign. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . .. . ............................................. .. 267,247 216,387 175,446
$ 3,266,510 $ 2,800,363 $ 1,810,520

The provision for (recovery of) income taxes consists of the following-

For the year ended 

Februarg 77, Februorg 78, March‘,
2010 2009 7008 .a___

Provision for (recoverg of) income taxes:

Current Canadian . . . . . . . _ _ . . . . . , . . . . . .. . . . . . . . . , . . . _ . . . . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . _ . _ _ . . .. $ 695,790 $ 880,035 $ 555,895
Foreign .. . .. .. , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 62,642 68,501 31,950

Deferred Canadian ...................................................................... .. 20,965 (36,013) (73,294)
Foreign . . . . . . . _ . . . . . . , . . . _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . .. 29,969 (4,776) 2,102

$ 809,366 $ 907,747 $ 516,653 



Deferred income lax assets and liabilities consist of the followirg temporary differences:

 

 

 

 

AS 0!

February 27, February 78,
2010 2009

Assets

Non-deductible reserves ................................................................................................ .. $ 190,491 $ 177,669

Tax loss carryforwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 34,947 11,176

Unrealized losses on financial instruments ..................................................................... .. ~ 1,902

Other tax carryforwards ........................................................................................... .. 12,892 3,972

Net deferred income tax assets .. .. .......................................................................... .. 238,330 194,719

Liabilities

Capital assets .. . (161,707) (91,193)

Researcn and development .......................................................................................... .. (21,396) (20,283)
Unrealized gains on financial instruments ..................................................................... .. (17,367) —

Net deferred income tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. (200,470) (111,476)

Net deferred income tax asset ........................................................................................ .. $ 37,860 $ 83,243

Deferred income tax asset — current $ 193,916 $ 183,872

Deferred income tax liability — current . . . . . . . . . .. (14,674) (13,116)

Deferred income tax asset * long—term ............................................................................. .. — 404

Deferred income tax liability — long—term ............................................................................ .. (141,382) (87,917)

 $ 37,860 $5 83,243

The Company determined that it is more likely than not that it can realize its deferred income tax assets. Accordingly, no

valuation allowance is required on its deferred income tax assets as at February 27, 2010 (February 28, 2009- $nil) The

Company wil continue to evaluate and examine the valuation allowance on a regular basis, and when required, the

valuation cillowance may be adjusted

The Company has not provided for Canadian deferred income taxes or foreign withholding taxes that would apply on the

distribution at the income of its non-Canadian subsidiaries, as this income is intended to be reinvested indefinitely

The Company's total unrecognized income tax benefits as at February 27, 2010 and February 28, 2009 were $161.2 million

and $1374 million respectively The change in unrecognized income tax benefits during fiscal 2010 primarily relates to

changes in measurement of existing uncertain tax positions related to the foreign exchange. A reconciliation of the

beginning and ending amount of unrecognized income tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the Company's
effective tax rate is as follows

 (in millions)

Unrecognized income tax benefits balance as at February 28, 2009 .......................................................... .. $ 137.4
Foreign exchange . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 35.8

increase for tax positions of prior years . . ................................................................................................ .. 4.2
Settlement of tax positions . ................................................................................................................ .. 0.0

Other .. .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. (16.2)

Unreco nized ncome tax benefits balance as at Februar 27, 2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 1612     

As at February 27, 2010. the total unrecognized income tax benefits of $161.2 million include approximately $118.1 million of
unrecognized income tax benefits that have been netted against related deferred income tax assets. The remaining

$431 million is recorded within current taxes payable and other non-current taxes payable on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheet as of February 27, 2010.

  
NOTE10
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A summary of open tax years by major jurisdiction is presented below:
 

Canada“) . . . ............................................................................................................... .. Fiscal 2003 —2o’o

United States” . . .................................................................................................................. .. Fiscal 2003 — 200
United Kingdom ....................................................................................................................... .. Fiscal 2004 — 20i0 

‘” Includes federal as well as provincial and state jurisdictions, as applicable.

The Company is subject to ongoing examination by tax authorities in the jurisdictions in which it operates. The Company

regularly assesses the status of these examinations and the potential for adverse outcomes to determine the adequacy of
the provision for income taxes Specifically, the Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) commenced an examination of the

Company's fiscal 2000 to fiscal 2009 Canadian corporate tax filings in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010.

The Company has other nan»Canadian income tax audits pending. While the final resolution of these audits is uncertain,
the Company believes the ultimate resolution of these audits will not have a material adverse effect on its consolidated

financial position, liquidity or results of operations, The Company believes it is reasonably possible that approximately
$14.1 million oi its gross unrecognized income tax benefit will decrease in the next twelve months.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized income tax benefits as interest expense that is

netted and reported within investment income. The amount of interest accrued as at February 27, 20i0 was approximately

$9.3 million (February 28, 2009 — approximately $5.4 million) The amount of penalties accrued as at February 27, 20i0 was
nil (February 28. 2009 — nil).

11. CAPITAL STOCK

(a) Capital stock

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of non-voting, redeemable, retractable Class A common shares,

an unlimited number of voting common shares and an unlimited number of non-voting, cumulative, redeemable.
retractable preferred shares At February 27, 2010 and February 28, 2009, there were no Class A common shares or
preferred shares outstanding.

The Company declared a 3~for—i stock split of the Company's outstanding common shares on June 28, 2007. The stock
split was implemented by way of a stock dividend. Shareholders received an additional two common shares of the

Company for each common share held. The stock dividend was paid on August 20. 2007 to common sharehoiders of

record at the close of business on August 17, 2007. All share, earnings per share and stock option data have been adjusted
to reflect this stock dividend.



The following details the changes in issued and outstanding common shares for the three gears ended Februarg 27, 2010:

 

Capital Stock Treosurti Stock
Stock Stock

Outstanding Outstanding
(0005) Amount (OO0's) Amount

Common shares outstanding as at March 3, 2007 ........... .. 557,613 :3 2,099,696 — 39 ~

Exercise of stock options .. . ........................... .. 5,039 62,889 ~ ~

Transfers to capital stock resulting from stock option
exercises... .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. — 7,271 ~ —

Common shares outstanding as at March 1, 2008 . . . . . . . . . . .. 562,652 2,169,856 — —
Exercise of stock options. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 3,565 27,024 — ~
Conversion of restricted share units ................................ .. 2 ~ ~ -

Transfers to capital stock resulting from stock option
exercises .. _ . ................................................ .. — H.355 ~ —

Common shares outstanding as at Eebruarg 28, 2009 ..... .. 566,219 2,208,235 - ~
Exercise of stock options ........... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 3,408 30,246 - ~
Conversion of restricted share units .............................. .. 2 — — —

Transfers to capital stock resulting from stock option
exercises. .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. — 15,647 — —

Restricted share unit plan purchase of shares .................. .. — — i,459 (94,463)

Common shcires repurchased ........................................ .. (12,300) (46,519) ~ —

Common shares outstandin as at Eebruar 27, 2010 ....... .. 557,329 $ 2,207,609 1,459 $ (94,463)     

On November 4, 2009. the Compang's Board of Directors authorized a Common Share Repurchase Program for the

repurchase and cancellation, through the facilities of the NASDAQ Stock Market. common shares having an aggregate

purchase price of up to $1.2 billion, or approximatelg 21 million common shares based on trading prices at the time of the

authorization This represents approximatelg 3.6% of the outstanding common shares of the Compang at the time of the
authorization in the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the Compang repurchased 12.3 million common shares at a cost of

$775 0 million pursuant to the Common Share Repurchase Program. There was a reduction of $46.5 million to capital stock

and the amounts paid in excess of the per share paid—in capital of the common shares of $728.5 million was charged to

retained earnings All common shares repurchased bg the Compang pursuant to the Common Share Repurchase Program
have been cancelled The Common Share Repurchase Program wlll remain in place for up to 12 months from November 4.

2009 or until the purchases are completed or the program is terminated bg the Compang.

The Compang had 5574 million voting common shares outstanding, 8.9 million stock options to purchase voting common
shares outstanding, i.4 million RSLJs outstanding and 34,801 DSUS outstanding as at March 30, 2010.

(b) Stock-based compensation

Stock Option Plan

The Compang recorded a charge to income and a credit to paid-in-capital of $37.0 million in fiscal 2010 (fiscal 2009 —

$381 million. fiscal 2008 — $33 7 million) in relation to stock-based compensation expense.

The Compang has presented excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock-based compensation awards as a finarcing
activitg in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Stock options granted under the plan generallg vest over a period of five gears and are generallg exercisable over a

period of six gears to a maximum of ten gears from the grant date. The Compang issues new shares to satisfg stock
option exercises There are in 0 million stock options vested and not exercised as at Februarg 27, 2010. There are 13.6 million

stock options available for future grants under the stock option plan.

in fiscal 2010 the Compang completed the repricing to a higher exercise price of certain of its outstanding stock options.

This repricing followed a voluntarg internal review bg the Compang of its historical stock option granting practices.
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Repriced options in fiscal 2010, which were all done on a voluntary basis between the Company and the optim holder,
include 27 stock option grants to 25 individuals in respect of options to acquire 456,800 common shares (fiscal 2009 ~ 43

stock option grants to 40 individuals in respect of options to acquire 752,7/5 common shares). In addition, during fiscal

2008, the Company received $8.7 million in restitution, inclusive of interest, related to incorrectly priced stock options that

were exercised prior to fiscal 2008. As the repricing of stock options reflects an increase in the exercise price of the option,
there is no incremental stock compensation expense related to these repricing events.

As previously disclosed, the Company's Co-Chief Executive Officers voluntarily offered to assist the Company in defraying

costs incurred in connection with the Review and the Restatement by contributing CAD $10.0 million (CAD $5.0 million by
each Co-CEO) of those costs. As part of a settlement agreement reached with a pension fund, an additional CAD

$5.0 million (CAD $2.5 million by each Co—CEO) was received in the third quarter of fiscal 2008. The Company received these
voluntary payments in the second and third quarters of fiscal 2008 and were recorded net of income taxes as an increase

to additional paid—in capital. Fufithermore, as part of a settlement agreement reached with the OSC, on February 5, 2009.

Messrs Balsillie. tazaridis and Kavelman also agreed to contribute, in aggregate, a total of approximately CAD

$831 million to RIM, consisting of (I) a total of CAD $38.3 million to RIM in respect of the outstanding benefit arising from
incorrectly priced stock options granted to all RIM employees from 19% to 2006, anc (ii) a total of CAD $44.8 million to RIM

(CAD $15.0 million of which had previously been paid) to defray costs incurred by RIM in the investigation and remediation

of stock options, granting practices and related governance practices at RIM. These contributions are being made through

Messrs. Balsillie, Lazaridis and Kavelman undertaking not to exercise certain vested RIM options to acquire an aggregate

of i,Ia0,l29 common shares of RIM. These options have a fair value equal to the aggregate contribution amounts

determined using a BSM calculation based on the last trading day prior to the day the OSC issued a notice of hearing in

respect of the matters giving rise to the settlement. In the first quarter of fiscal 2010, options to acquire an aggregate of
758.837 common shares of RIM expired in satisfaction of the undertakings not to exercise options. These options are
included in the disclosure of forfeitures during the period in the table below The remaining options subject to the

undertakings are shown as outstanding. vested and exercisable as at February 27, 2010 in the table below and expire at

specified dates between February 28, 2010 and October 2013. Messrs. Balsillie, Lazaridis, Kavelman and Angela ,oberto,
previously ‘i/ice-President of Finance (currently with the Company in another role), also paid a total of CAD $9.1 million to

the OSC as an administrative penalty and towards the costs of the OSC's investigation.

In June 2007, the Board amended the Stock Option Plan to provide that options held by directors of the Company will not
terminate upon a director ceasing to be a director of the Company if such person is appointed as a Director Emeritus of

the Board. "his resulted in a modification for accounting purposes of unvested options previously granted to two directors

who where appointed Directors Emeritus during the second quarter of fiscal 2008, which in turn required the Company to
record additional compensation expense in fiscal 2008 in the amount of $3.5 million.



A summarg oi" option activitg since March 3, 2007 is shown below:

Options Outstanding

Weighted- Average
Average Remaining Aggregate

\umaer Exercise Contractual intrinsic
(in 000's) DHCE Life in Years Value 

Balance as a r\/arch 3, 2007 ................................................. .. 19,161 $ 10.85

Granted during he gear. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 2,518 101.60

Exercised durng the gear ....................................................... .. (5,039) 10.82

Forfeited/cancel ed/expired during the gear ................................. .. (174) 3176

Balance as a arch 1. 2008 ..................................................... .. 16,466 $ 28.66

Exercised dui"ng the gear . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. (3,565) 7.60

Forfeited/cancel ed/expired during the gear .................................. .. (170) 6025

Balance as a Februarg 28, 2009 ................................................ .. 12,731 $ 27.51
Granted during he gear. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 559 64.14

Exercised dur'ng the gear... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. (3,408) 887

Forfeited/cancel ed/expired during the gear ................................. .. (859) 15.03

Balance as a Februar 27, 2010 ............................... .. 9,023 $ 44.18 2.44 $ 307,626    

 

    

   Vested and ex >ected to vest as at Februar 27, 2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 2.41 $ 304,259

Exercisable as at Februaru 27, 2010 ........................................... .. 5.968 $ 32.15 1.76 $ 258,577

  

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre—ta>< intrinsic value (the aggregate difference

between the closing stock price of the Compang's common shares on Februarg 27, 2010 and the exercise price for
in—the—moneg options) that would have been received bg the option holders if all in—the—moneg options had been exercised

on Februarg 27, 2010. The intrinsic value of stock options exercised during fiscal 2010, calculated using the average market
price during the period, was approximatelg $58 per share.

A summarg of unvested stock options since Februarg 28,2009 is shown below.

Options OUtSlC]'1dl!'1g
Weighted
Axerage

Grant
Date Fair

Number (in 0005) value 

Balance as at Februarg 28, 2009 ......................................................................................... .. 4,045 $ 29.69
Granted during the period . . .......................................................................... .. 559 3302

Vested during the period .............................................................................................. .. . (1,468) 24.83

Forfeited during the period ................................................................................................ .. (80) 37 45

Balance as at Februarg 27, 2010 ....................................................................................... .. 3,056 $ 32 44 

As at Februarg 27, 2010, there was $74.7 million of unrecognized stock—based compensation expense related to unvesated

stock options which will be expensed over the vesting period, whicl", on o weighted-average basis, results in a period of

approximatelg 19 gears. The total fair value of stock options vested during the gear ended Februarg 27, 2010 was
$36.5 million

Cash received from the stock options exercised for the gear ended Februarg 27, 2010 was $30.2 million (Februarg 28,
2009 ~— $270 million) Tax benefits realized bg the Compang related to the stock options exercised was $1.9 million
(Februarg 28, 2009 — $12 6 million; March 1, 2008 — $8.2 million).
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During tre year ended February 27, 2010, there were 559 stock options granted. The weighted-average fair value of stock

options granted during fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2008 were calculated using the BSM option~pricing model with the following
assumptions

For the year endea

February 77, March 1.“2010 Hoot; 

Number of options granted (000's). ........................................................................................... .. 559 2,518

Weighted~average grant date fair value of stock options granted during the year ........................ .. $ 33.02 $ 47.11

Assumptions

Risk—free interest rate ............................................................................................................... .. 1.8% 43%

Expected lite in years. ............................................................................................................. .. 4 Z? 11.6

Expected dividend yield ........................................................................................................ .. 0% 0%

Volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 65% 41%-S7"/i. .

‘here were no stock options granted during fiscal 2009

"he Company has not paid a dividend in the previous twelve fiscal years and has no current expectation of paying cash
dividends on its common shares. The risl<—free interest rates utilized during the life of the stock options are based on a US.

"reasury Security for an equivalent period. The Company estimates the volatility of its common shares at the date of grant

based on a combination of the implied volatility of publicly traded options on its common shares, and historical volatility.
as the Company believes that this is a better indicator of expected volatility going forward The expected life of stock

options granted under the plan is based on historical exercise patterns, which the Company believes are representative of
future exercise patterns

Restricted Share Unlt Plan

During fiscal 2010. the trustee purchased 1,458,950 common shares for total consideration of approximately $94.5 million to
comply witw its obligations to deliver shares upon vesting. These purchased shares are classified as treasury stock for
accounting purposes and included in the shareholders‘ equity section of the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

The Company recorded compensation expense with respect to RSUS of $21.0 million in the year ended February 27. 2010
(February 28, 2009 — $196, March 1, ZOO8 — $33).

A summary of RSU activity since February 28, 2009 is shown below‘

Weightea Average
Average Remairing Aggregate

Number Grant Date Contractual '1SIi’lF1SiC
(in 0005) Fair Value Life n Vears Value

Balance as at February 28, 2009.. ... .. .. .. .. 3 $ 117.36

Granted during the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 1,470 66.03

Released during the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. (2) 117.36
Cancelled during the period ........ . . . ........................................... .. (22) 6606

Balance as at February 27, 2010 ................................................ .. 1.449 $ 66.09 216 $ 102,713 

Vested and expected to vest at Februar 27, 2010 ........................ .. 1,328 SS 6610 2.15 $ 94,156        

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre—tax intrinsic value (the aggregate closing share
price of the Company's common shares on February 27, 2010) that would have been received by RSU holders if all RSUS
had been redeemed on February 27, 2010

As of February 27, 2010, there was $66 9 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to RSUS which will be

expensed over the vesting period, which, on a weighted-average basis, results in a period of approximately 1.7 years.



Deferred Share Unit Plan

The Company issued 14,593 DSUs in the year ended February 27, 2010. There are 34,801 DSUS outstanding as at

February 27, 2010 (February 28, 2009 — 20,208). The Company had a liability of $2.5 million in relation to the DSU plan as
at February 27. 2010 (February 28, 2009 — $834).

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Credit Facility

The Company has $150.0 million in unsecured demand credit facilities (the “Facilities") to support and secure operating and

financing regurements As at February 27, 2010, the Company has utilized $6.9 million of the Facilities for outstanding
letters of credit, and $1431 million of the Facilities are unused.

(b) Lease commitments

The Company is committed to future minimum annual lease payments under operating leases as follows
Equipment and

Rea. Estate other Total 

. For the years ending

2011 . .. .......................................................................... .. $ 35,088 $ 1.917 $ 37,005

2012. .. . .. . .. .............................................................. .. 30,611 1,202 31,813

2013. .. .. . . . .... . . ... ............................................. .. 27,841 163 28,004

2014 .. .. ................................................................................... .. 26,178 — 26,178

2015. . .. . .. . ................................................................ .. 21,755 - 21,755

Thereafter . .......................................................... .. 63,631 - 63,631

$ 205,104 $ 3,782 $ 208,386 

For the year ended February 27, 2010, the Company incurred rental expense of $39.6 million (February 28, 2009 —
$22 7 million, March 1,2008 — $15.5 million)

(c) Litigation

On July 23, 2009, the Company settled the Vista Litigation. The key terms of the settlement involved the Company receiving
a perpetual and fully—paid license on all Vista patents, a transfer of certain Visto intellectual property, a one—time payment

by the Company of $267.5 million and the parties executing full and final releases in respect of the Vista l_itigotion Of the

total payment by the Company, $183.8 million was expensed as a litigation charge in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. The
remainder of the payment was recorded as intangible assets

The Company is involved in litigation in the normal course of its business, both as a defendant and as a plaintiff. The
Company may be subject to claims (including claims related to patent infringement, purported class actions and

derivative actions) either directly or through indemnities against these claims that it provides to certain of it partners. in
particular. the industry in which the Company competes has many participants that own, or claim to own, intellectual

property, including participants that have been issued patents and may have filed patent applications or may obtain

additional patents and proprietary rights for technologies similar to those used by the Company in its products. The

Company has received, and may receive in the future, assertions and claims from third parties that the Company's
products infringe on their patents or other intellectual property rights Litigation has been and will likely continue to be
necessary to determine the scope, enforceability and validity of third—party proprietary rights or to establish the

Company's proprietary rights Regardless of whether clairrs that the Company is infringing patents or other intellectual

property rights have any merit, those claims could be timeconsuming to evaluate and defend, result in costly litigation,
divert managements attention and resources, subject the Company to significant liabilities and could have other effects.

Additional lawsuits and claims, including purported class actions and derivative actions, may also be filed or made based
upon the Company's historical stock option granting practices.

Managemen‘ reviews all of the relevant facts for each claim and aoplies judgment in evaluating the likelihood and. if

applicable, the amount of any potential loss. Where it is considered likely for a material exposure to result and where the

amount of the claim is quantifiable, provisions for loss are made based on management's assessment of the likely
outcome The Company does not provide for claims that are considered unlikely to result in a significant loss, claims for  
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which the outcome is not determinable or claims where the amount of the loss cannot be reasonably estimated. Any
settlements or awards under such claims are provided for when reasonably determinable.

Additional lawsuits and claims, including purported class actions and derivative actions, may be filed or maae based
upon the Company's historical stock option granting practices. Management assesses such claims and where considerea

’ likely to result in a material exposure and, where the amount of the claim is quantifiable, provisions for loss are made
based on management's assessment of the likely outcome The Company does not provide for claims that are considered

7 unlikely to result in a significant loss, claims for which the outcome is not determinable or claims where the amount of the

loss cannot be reasonably estimated. Any settlements or awards under such claims are provided for when reasonably
determinable

See the “Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Action" section of RlM's Annual information Form for additional unaudited
information regarding the Company's legal proceedings. which is included in R|M’s Annual Report on Form 40F and “Legcl
Proceedings" in the Management's Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A") of financial condition and results of operations for
fiscal 2010

13. PRODUCT WARRANTY

The Company estimates its warranty costs at the time of revenue recognition based on historical warranty claims

experience and records the expense in cost of sales. The warranty accrual balance is reviewed quarterly to establish that i.

materially reflects the remaining obligation based on the anticipated future expenditures over the balance of the obligation
period. Adjustments are made when the actual warranty claim experience differs from estimates.

‘ The change in the Company's warranty expense and actual warranty experience from March 3, 2007 to February 27. 20iC
as well as the accrued warranty obligations as at February 27, 2010 are set forth in the following table-

Accrued warranty obligations as at March 3, 2007 ......................................... .. $ 36.669

Actual warranty experience during fiscal 2008 ............................................................................................. .. (68,166)
Fiscal 2008 warranty provision .. ............................................................................................................. .. ii6,045

Accrued warranty obligations as at March i. 2008 ................................................................................... .. 84,548

Actual warranty experience during fiscal 2009 ...................................................................................... .. 046.434.
Fiscal 2009 warranty provision . . . ..................................................................................................... .. 258,757

Adjustments for changes in estimate ................................................................................................. .. (12,536)

Accrued warranty obligations as at February 28. 2009 ................................................................................ .. i84,33S

Actual warranty experience during fiscal 2010 .............................................................................................. .. (416393)

. Fiscal 20iO warranty provision .................................................................................................................. .. 462,834
Adjustments for changes in estimate .......................................................................................................... .. 2i,54i

g Accrued warrant obli ations as at February 27, 20i0 .............................. . . . ............................................ .. $ 2S2.3i7

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

For the year ended

-.—i' February 77, February 78. March ‘
7.010 2009 7.008*1 

Net income for basic and diluted earnings per share available to common

shareholders .. .. . . . . . . . . . . .. . .................................................. .. $2 457.144 $i,892,6i6 $‘i,293,8é7

Weightedaverage number of shares outstanding (000's) — basic .................. .. 564,492 565.059 559.778

Effect of dilutive securities (000's) — stock-based compensation ..................... .. 5.207 9,097 13,052

Weightedaverage number of shares and assumed conversions (000's) —

diluted. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . ..................................................... .. 569.759 574.iSo 572,830

Earnings per share — reported
‘*7 Basic .. . . .... .. . ............... .. . ................... .. $ 4.35 s 3.35 s 2.3i

Diluted. . . . . . .. . . .. $ 4.31 $ 3.30 $ 2.26
9;*7:



15. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The components of comprehensive income (loss) are shown in the following table:

For the year ended

February 27, February 28, March 1,
 7010 2009 7008

Net income . .. .. ., . ................................................................................... _. $2,457,144 $1,892,010 $1,293,807

Net change ir‘ unrealized gains (losses) on available- for—sale investments .................... ,. 0,803 (7,101) 13,407

Net change in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges during the year.

net of income taxes of $13,190 (February 28, 2009 —tax recovery of $8,041; March 1,

2008 — income taxes of $19,238) . .. ................................................................... .. 28,324 (0,108) 37,504

Amounts reclassified to earnings during the year, net of income tax recovery of $0,079

(February 28, 2009 — income taxes of $4,044; March 1, 2008 — income taxes of $5,142) .. 15,508 (10,497) (9,232)

Com rehensive income ........................................................................................... .. $2,507,779 $1,802,790 $1,335,000     

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

 

As at

February 27, February 28, March 1,
2010 7009 7005

Accumulated ret unrealized gains (losses) on available for~sale investments ...................... .. $ 0,715 $(88) $ 7,073
Accumulated net unrealized gains on derivative instruments designated as cash flow

hedges.. ,. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . ., , ....................................................................... .. 44,377 545 23,210

Total accumulated other com rehensive income .............................................................. .. $51,092 $457 $30,283     

The components of unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instruments are as follows:

 

As at

February 27, F3b.'UCiFL_? 28,
7.010 2009

Unrealized gains included in other current assets .................................................................................. .. $97,201 $70,100

Unrealized tosses included in accrued liabilities ............................................................................... .. (0,104) (30,827)

Net fair value of unrealized C ains on derivative instruments .................................................................. ., $91,097 $ 13,273    

‘I0. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

(a) Cash flows resulting from net changes in working capital items are as follows:

For the year ended

 
February 77, February 28, March 1,

7010 7009 7 JOB

Accounts receivable , . .................................................................................. ., $(480,010) $(930,514) $(002,055)

Other receivables . ................................................................................................. .. (44,719) (83 039 (34,515)

 

. )

Inventories. . .. .................................................................................................... .. 00,789 (280,133) (140,300)

Other current assets (52,737) (50,280) (20,101)
Accounts payable 107,281 177,203 140,800

Accrued liabilities. . , . 442,005 500,859 383,020

income taxes payable ............................................................................................... .. (200,517) (113,808) 401,270
Deferred revenue .......................................................................................................... .. 13,739 10,598 8,789

$(100,709) $ (709,114) $ 130,794 

 
 

NOTES15-16
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(b) Certain statement of cash flow information related to interest and income taxes paid is summarized as follows:

For the year ended

?ebrua'y 27, February 28, March ‘i,
2010 2009 2008 

interest paid during the year..., ....................................................................................... .. $ - $ 502 $ 518

Incometaxes paid durin the ear .................................................................................. .. $1.081,720 $946,237 $216,095      

(C) The following items are included in the accrued liabilities balance:

As a‘

February 77, February 78
2010 7009 

Marketing costs . .................. .......................................................................................... ,. $ 91,554 $ 91,160

 

Vendor inventory liabilities ...................................................................................................................... .. 125,70 18,000

Warranty. . .. . . . 252.310 184,335

Royalties. ........................................................................................................................................ .4 383,939 279,470

Rebates .. .. 146,304 134,788

Other .. 638,380 530,843

$1,038,200 $1,238,602 

Other ac:rued liabilities as noted in the above chart. include. among other things, salaries, payroll withholding taxes and
incentive accruals, none of which are greater than 5% of the current liability balance.

(d) Additional information

Advertising expense, which includes media, agency and promotional expenses totalling $790.8 million (February 28, 2009 ~
$718.9 Fi'1lll|Ci'1, March 1, 2008 — $336 0 million) is included in selling, marketing and administration expense.

Selling, marketing and administration expense for the fiscal year includes $58.4 million with respect to foreign exchange
losses (February 28, 2009 — loss of $6.1 million; March 1 2008 — loss of $5.3 million). For the year ended February 27, 2010,

the Company recorded a $54.3 million charge primarily relating to the reversal of foreign exchange gains previously

recorded in fscal 2009 on the revaluation of Canadian dollar denominated tax liability balances. Throughout fiscal 2009,

foreign exchange gains were offset by foreign exchange losses incurred as a part of the Company's risk management
foreign currency hedging program. With the enactment of charges to the functional currency tax legislation by the
Government of Canada in the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company changed the basis for calculating its income tax

provision for its Canadian operations from Canadian dollars, to the US dollar, its reporting currency with an effective date

being the beginning of fiscal 2009 The gains realized on the revaluation of these tax liabilities previously denominated in

Canadian dollars throughout fiscal 2009 were reversed upon enactment of the changes to the rules in the first quarter offiscal 2010



 

17. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Values of financial instruments outstanding were as follows:

February 27, 2010

National Carrying Estimated
Amount Amount Fair Value 

Assets (Lioblllties)

Currency forward contracts — asset .. . .................................................................................. .. $2,630,304 $97,261 $97,261

Currenc forward contracts—liobilit ............................................................................................ .. $ 574,776 $(6,164:i $(6,164)    

February 28, 2309

National Carrying Estimated
Amount Amount Fair Value __j

Assets (Liabilities)

Currency forward contracts — asset ................................................................................... .. $1,147,709 $70,100 $70,100

Currenc fon/vard contracts — liobilit ......................................................................................... .. $ 975,543 $66,827) $(S6.827)   

The Company uses derivative instruments to manage exposures to foreign exchange risk resulting from transactions in

currencies other than its functional currency, the US. dollar. The Company’s risk management objective in holding

derivative instruments is to reduce the volatility of current and future income as a result of changes in foreign currency. To
limit its exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates, the Company enters into foreign currency
forward and option contracts.

The maiority of the Company’s revenues in fiscal 2010 are transacted in us dollars. However, portions of the revenues are

denominated in, Canadian dollars, Euros, and British Pounds Purchases of raw materials are primarily transacted in U.S.

dollars. Other expenses, consisting of the majority of salaries, certain operating costs and manufacturing overhead are

incurred primarily in Canadian dollars. The Company enters into forward contracts to hedge portions of these anticipated

transactions to reduce the volatility on income associated with the foreign currency exposures. The Company also enters
into forward contracts to reduce the effects of foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the revaluation of certain

foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities. At February 27,2010 approximately 38% of cash and cash equivalents,

22% of accounts receivables and 7% of accounts payable and accrued liabilities are denominated in foreign currencies
(February 28, 2009 — 36%, 26% and 4%, respectively).

"he Company enters into forward contracts to hedge exposures relating to foreign currency anticipated transactions.

'hese contracts have been designated as cash flow hedges, with the effective portion of the change in fair value initially
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income and subsequently reclassified to income in the period in which the

cash flows from the associated hedged transactions affect income. Any ineffective portion of the change in fair value of

the cash flow hedge is recognized in current period income. As at February 27, 2010 and February 28, 2009, the derivatives

designated as cash flow hedges were considered to be fully effective with no resulting portions being designated as

ineffective The maturity dates of these instruments range from March 2010 to December 2012. As at February 27, 2010, the
net unrealized gains on these forward contracts was $62.2 million (February 28, 2009 — net unrealized losses of $2.7 million;

March 1, 2008 -— net unrealized gains of $34.6 million). Unrealized gains associated with these contracts were recorced in
other current assets and accumulated other comprehensive income Unrealized losses were recorded in accrued llaoilities

and accumulated other comprehensive income. in fiscal 2011, $59.5 million of net unrealized gains on these forward
contracts will be reclassified to income.

The following table shows the fair values of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges in the consolidated
balance sheets

As at

February 77. 2010 February 28. 2009
Balance Sheet Balance Sheet
Classification Classification

  

 Currency forward contracts — asset Other current assets $66,246 Other current assets $48,074

Currenc forward contracts — liobilit Accrued labilities $ 4,039 Accrued liabilities $ 50,756
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The following table show the impact of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges on the consolidated
statements of operations for the year ended February 27, 2010:

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

Amount of Gain (loss)
Recognized in OCi on
Derivative instruments

(Effective Portion)

$Sl,8l2

$3.069

$ 1,897
$4,966

Location of Gain Loss) Amount of Gaia (Loss)
Reclassified from Reciossified from

Accumulated OCI :nta Accumt .atea OCi into
income (Effective Portion) Income (Effective Portion)

 
  

 
 
 
 

Revenue

Cost of sales

Selling, marketing and administration
Research and development

Currency Forward Contracts

Currency Forward Contracts
Currency Forward Contracts
Currenc Forward Contracts

  
 

 
 $ 4,706

 
  

The following table show the impact of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges on the consolidated
statements of operations for the year ended February 28, 2009;

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Amount of Gain tcoss}
Recognized in OCi on
Derivative instruments

(Effective Portion)

$ 47,272

Location of Gain (Loss)
Reciassified from

Accumulated OCi into
income (Effective Po"tian)

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Reciassif:ed ‘torn

Accumulated OCl into
income (Effective DOi'iiO”)

$43,212 
 
 

  

 
 

  
 
 
 

Currency Forward Contracts Revenue

Currency Forward Contracts $ (9,991) Cost of sales $(4,42S)

Currency Forward Contracts $04,986) Selling, marketing and administration $(o,o38)

Currenc Forward Contracts $(24,977) Research and development $('ii,O(:3)
  

As part of its risk management strategy, the Company may maintain net monetary asset and/or liability balances in

foreign currencies The Company enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge certain monetary assets and
liabilities that are exposed to foreign currency risk The principal currencies hedged include the Canadian dollo", Euro, and

British Pound These contracts are not subject to hedge accounting, and any gains or losses are recognized in income

each period, offsetting the change in the U 5. dollar value of the asset or liability. The maturity dates of these instruments

range from March 20iO to May 2010. As at February 27,2010, net unrealized gains of $28.9 million were recorded in respect
of these instruments (February 28, 2009 — net unrealized gains of $l6.0 million; March i, 2009 — net unrealized losses of

$69 million) Unrealized gains associated with these contracts were recorded in other current assets and selling, marketing
and administration Unrealized losses were recorded in accrued liabilities and selling, marketing and administration.

The following table shows the fair values of derivative instruments that are not subject to hedge accounting in the
consolidated balance sheets:

February 77, 20iO
Balance Sheet Balance Sheet
Classificat or Fair Value Classification tfll’ Value

Currency forward contracts — asset Other current assets $31,014 Other current assets $22,026
Currenc forward contracts — liability Accrued liabilities 5 2,l2o Accrued liabilities is can

The following table shows the impact of derivative instruments that are not subject to hedge accounting on the
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended February 27, 20iO:

Februa'y 28, 70(4)

 
 

 
  

 

 

 

  

 
 

      

_ocation of Loss Recognized in income Amount of Lcss .- income
on Derivative instruments on Derivative Instruments

Currency Forward Contracts Sellin, marketing and administration $(5Si2S)

 



The following table shows the impact of derivative instruments that are not subject to hedge accounting on the
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended February 28, 2009;

Location of Gain Recognized in Income Amount of 60 n in Income
an De-ivotive instruments on Derivative nstrurrents

 Currenc Forward Contracts Selling, marketin and administration $24,782

The Company is exposed to credit risk on derivative financial instruments arising from the potential for counterporties to

default on their contractual obligations. The Company m.tigates this risk by limiting counterparties to highly rated financial
institutions and by continuously monitoring their creditworthiness. The Company's exposure to credit loss and market risk

will vary overtime as a function of currency exchange rates The Company measures its counterparty credit exposure as a
percentage of the total fair value of the applicable derivative instruments Where the net fair value of derivative instruments

with any counterparty is negative, the Company deems t'ie credit exposure to that counterparty to be hit. As at

February 27, 12010, the maximum credit exposure to a single counterparty. measured as a percentage of the total ‘air value
of derivative instruments with net unrealized gains was 24% (February 28, 2009 — 60%; March 1. 2008 — 40%).

The Company is exposed to market and credit risk on its investment portfolio. The Company reduces this risk by investing
in liquid, investment grade securities and by limiting exposure to any one entity or group of related entities. As at

February 27, 2010. no single issuer represented more than 8% of the total cash, cash equivalents and investments

(February 28. 2009 no single issuer represented more than l2% of the total cash. cash equivalents and investments).

Cash and cash equivalents and investments are invested in certan instruments of varying maturities. Consequently, the

Company is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of holding investments of varying maturities. The fair value of

investments. as well as the investment income derived from the investment portfolio, will fluctuate with changes in
prevailing interest rates The Company does not currently utilize interest rate derivative instruments in its investment
portfolio
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
in tnousanas a‘ United States dollars, e><:eot share and pie’ snare oats. and except as otherwise indicated

18. SEGMENT DISCLOSURES

The Compang is organized and managed as a single reportable business segment. The Company's operations are

substantially all related to the research, design, manufacture and sales of wireless communications products, services and
software

Selected financial information is as follows:

Revenue, classified bg major geographic segments in which our customers are located, was as follows:

For the uec' endea

 

 
 

 

Februarg 77, Februarg 7.8, March ‘.
7010 7009 2008

Revenue

Canado . . . $ 843,762 $ 887,005 $ 438,302

United States 8,619,762 6,967,598 3,528,858

United Kingdom . . .. .. . . 1,447,417 711,536 461,592

Other. . . . , . . . , . . . , . , . . . . .. , . 4,042,283 2,499,047 1,580,643

$14,953,224 $11,065,186 $6,009,395

Revenue

Canada .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . ,. . . . . . . . . . , . , , , , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . , . , . . . . . . . . . . . , . , .. 5.6% 8.0% 7.3%
United States .. . ............................................................................ .. 57.7% 63.0% 587%

United Kingdom . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . , . . . . . , . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . , ,. . 9.7% 6.4% 7.7%
Other .. . . . . . . . . , . . . . . .. . .................................................. .. . 27.0% 22.6% 26.3%

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

For the gear ended

 
Februarg 27, Februarg 28, March 1,

7010 7009 7C08

Revenue mix

Devices . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , , . . . . . . , ., $ 12,115,765 $9,089,736 $4,768,610

Service . , , . . . , . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . , . . . , . . . . , . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . , . . . . . . , . , , . , . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . , . . ,. 2,158,591 1,402,560 860,641

Software. .. . . , , ,. ........................................................................... .. 258,635 251,871 234.388

Other. . ., ,. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. . , . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . , , . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . .. 420,233 321,019 145,756

$14,953,224 $11,065,186 $6,009,395 

 

As at

Februarg 77, Februaru 78,
7010 7039

Capital assets, intangible assets and goodwill
Canada ... . .. .. .. .................... ... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 2,605,267 $1,948,337
United States. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , , . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , , , . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . , . . . . . . . . . , . , . . . . . . . . . , . . . . , . . . , . . . . . . .. 682,291 482,826

United Kingdom .......................................................................................................... .. 46,009 49,454
Other, .............................................................................................. ,, 99,938 58,130

$ 3,433,505 $ 2,538,747 

Total assets

Candd~fx.... .. . . . . .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , , . . . , . . . . . . . . . , , . . . . , , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , , . . . . . . . . , , . . . . . .. $ 4,502,522 $3,218,640

United States .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . , . . . . , . , . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . , , , . . . , . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 4,059,174 2,646,783

United Kingdom . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . , , . . . . . , , , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , , . . . . . , . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 1,195,534 1,931,387

Other.. .. ., , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . , . . , . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . , , . . . . . . . . . . . . , . , . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . .. 447,179 304,562

$10,204,409 $3 8,101,372 
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EXHIBIT 10

Submitted with Opposer’s Notice of Reliance # 3

Research In Motion Limited v. Fashionber_ry. Inc.

Opposition No. 91191572



BlackBerry - App World — Official Store for BlackBerry Apps http://na.b1ackberry.com/eng/services/appworld/?

'-'- BlackBerry

Home > Apps& Software >

BlackBerry App World

Get Apps Designed for

Your BlackBerry

§>mg5taEpls‘8|plaey games, check the
weather, listen to the radio and more.

Choose some free apps, or purchase one

right from your BlackBerry® Smartphone.

Browse Applications in Download BlackBerry App World

BlackBerry to Your BlackBerry Smartphone

A9Fb|l\N&Rwrry App World catalog is online. BlackBerry App World” is an application you can
Browse through and email a link to your BlackBerry download and access from your smartphone's home

Smartphone if you find an app you want. screen. install it, then choose some apps.
  

iirovlsé ‘BlackBerry App World -Catalog   

Top Free Items

  .. ., .,._!i_._.._..

Hangman BlackBerry Messenger Drrvesafely BlackBerry App World Bubble Popper XXL '
Free

Top Paid Items

    
pAC_MAN by Namco MemoryBooster » RAM MP3 Ringtone Creator ~ BeBuzz — LED Colors

Optimizer On Sale’ ano AJdlDlE Reminders
Shazam En:ore
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B1ackBerr}'- App World - Official Store for BlackBerry Apps http://na.b1ackberry.coin/enyservices/appworld/C’

BlackBerry App World Get Help with BlackBerry Developer Support

Features APP W°|"d Get help developing
and submitting

Learn about enhanced Learwéq tpgrggvfig, app|iCa’Ei0nS.
segr e dogv x, .indicgggfl %‘?>rG§)rgew featmee 'fi§‘§UEr—!EPrTes2urc_es View cLe;/eloger resgu::;es_

Exes: :3 "Surfer" uses BlackBerry
Messenger to share his location with his

BBM group, so that everyone can see
where to go to catch the best waves.

_ T — .

Yahoo Buz Technorati Stumbleupon Reddit Twitter Myspace Facebook Digg Delicious
Twitter YouTube §nyBIackBerry

;_ ‘ *
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BlackBerry App World — Search Results for "fashion" http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/search/fashion

 
Search Results for "fashion"

Refine by Subcategory:
Business (1 Entertainrnefl) Games l 1 11

Health & Wellnessl 11 IM &MSOClal Netviorkinq (Zl Maps & Navigation l3i

News (17 Photo & Video (2) Reference & eBooks (4)

ghogging 16 lfierriesfiii Travel (4
Utilities ill

 

Sort By: Relevance

Free Paid ‘ Free& Paid

25 per page

123 Nextl:l

Eashion News Service by 36OF§snion

360Fashion brings you backstage with the latest insider fashion news seniice
from professionals working within the industry. Check the catwalks of New
York, Milan, Paris, London, and Beijing, to see what goes on behind t
FREE | 9y§60Fashio[i_Netvi/ork. LEO |

1' t

| Detailfl

  

Fashion Mogul

Fulfill your dream of running your own fashion boutique! Design your space,
dress your store window, stock the right fashion merchandise, rrianage your
customer moods and watch sales grow! Use your earnings to expand cloth
$4.99 USD | by Concrete |

r fr

| petaiisl]

  

FREE Lookz » BarrLM - Makeup Beauty Fashior and Style

PLEASE ENSURE THAT YOUR DATA PLAN AND NETWORK SETH NGS
ARE SET CORRECTLY IF NOT THEN THE DOWNLOAD MAY NOT BE
SUCCESSFUL AND YOU MAY SEE AN ERROR MESSAGE. Lookz is the
world's first ‘made for mobile’ make up and beauty
FREE l by Mobster Media Ltd |

K’ ‘Q 1‘ ‘k

i Qegiisll]

  

ififll pm .sLa

A high fashion theme for your high fashion B|ackBerry®! This beautifu theme
comes corrplete with a hidden, fade-in dock showing off its custom icon set!
Functional. fast, and fierce Fashionista is one of a kind. Featur
$4 99 USD | Qy_Coc|<y Cu_lt_ur_e I

‘Q

l Detailsu

  

Ezishron Week

; ‘ ’ V ‘ Welcome to Fashion Week darlings! You have the opportunity of a lifetime‘
Dazfle the crowds with your creations draped on 5 on the rmst fantabulous
supermodels in world and you could be crowned the man big designer with
$2 99 USD l Qyjueurrfle I
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BlackBerry App World — Search Results for "fashion" http://appwor]dblackberiy.com/webstore/search/fashion

Sort By: Relevance

Free Paid " Free&Paid

25 per page

1:3iNextD

i Detailsig

Train Old Fashion Theme

Are you a train fanatic? if so, you will enjoy this classic ?Old Fashion? train
theme. Pictures include Railroad track, traditional trains burning coal while
traveling through snowy and hillside landscapes. Custom fea
$3.99 USD l by Stafford Signs |

[ Qetailsu

  

Fashionable Stillscreens

A series of grand uplifting backgrounds to embellish your BlackBerry® and
your day. Stillscreens are select vellpaper packs featuring content of the
highest aesthetic caliber from the finest collection of prerrium content
$2.99 USD | by DreamTheme |  
i oetaiisl]

MaMa Fashion Theme

Butterfly, girl and flowers, Let your irragination flew through a fantastic blue
color theme for you BlackBerry® with new custom cartoon icon and slide
menu. Marnamopang is a hand draw styled ,unique characteristic can
$2.99 USD l by Solution One Holding l  
l Deraiisfil

V£NN

A Shopping & Fashion Directory, V I N N London5M is launched for
BlackBerry® with Enhanced Illustrated Maps & rmre location specific
inforrration & fashion insight than ever before. This lnnoiative App guides  you through
FREE| by Sky Worldwide, LLC l

i D_et_ail$D

House of Holland

The House of Holland BlackBerry® application is here! After graduating from

w The London College of Printing with a BA Journalism, Henry l-lolland was
wk catapulted into the fashion limelight In 2005 with his irreverent ?FashiFREE | py NEOSISTEC |  

‘k

| Detaiisu

ELLE Canada

. . Get your daily dose of celebrity gossip, fashion, shopping, photos and
I“ I I i’ horoscope! With this handy app with you on the go wherever you are, you
&A§yA5,¢ ‘ can keep up with the latest beauty and fashion trends, browse the hottest sh  

i=REE l Etiilzgafitfi l
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BlackBerry App World — Search Results for "fashion" http://appworld.blackbeny.com/webstore/search/fashion

Sort By: Relevance

Free Paid ' Free&Paid

25 per page

2 3 lhlextg

1,"!

i Deiaiisfl

Yorkdale

Download the official Yorkdale Shopping Centre app for real tirrie parking
availability, fashion trends, rnall directions, store information and prormtions.
Toronto's premer fashion destination featuring 240 stores and ser
FREE i by Mobile Fringe inc |t  
i Deiaiisfl

l-iarggrs Bazaar

At Harpers BAZAAR. the dream comes alive with a vision that is authoritafive
and inspiring. And so the next chapter in BAZAARS rich heritage sees an
even greater focus on bringing the readers the insider story, breatht
FREE | by BigTinCan ir t

| Detailsij

  

From the publishers of ELLE. ELLE Mobile is the prenier on—the-go resource
for fashion, beauty and shopping advice, providing users with a variety of
rriobile-optirriized content including daily updated fashion news, fashion
FREE | by Hachette Filigacchi Media U S, |

1' 1!‘ 7 ‘K ‘l’

i Deiaiislfl

  

Egning Standard

The London Evening Standard is a quafity daily newspaper, published in

  ,_m,mg tabloid format in London, England. It is the regional evening paper for London
Nzimlilfll and the southeast of England, with coverage of national and internatio

FREE i by Handmark |
‘k

i oeiaiisfl

B:a:Ji£a_r1y

Grab your bathing suit and hit the beach! Strut your stuff in sizzling beach
fashions, vote for Ce|lufun‘s top hotties, or just pass the time corrbing the
beach and building cool sandcastles. Can you gather enough friends . .
FREE 1 by Cellufunllc i

tr t

i Qe_ta_il_s_D

  

_u"riL§uge,Ea_u§

Burrp up the gay travel fun on your trip to Paris! The team behind Bump! TV
has explored Paris's fast-paced gay and lesbian scene from its cutling—edge
nightclubs to its classic neighborhood bars and beyond. Now let the
$2.99 USD i by Metr§5_r_ipLne;lr£ ]

I’ ‘I it

i Detailsm
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B1ackBcrn_ App World — Search Results for "fashion" http://appwor1d.blackberiy.com/webstore/search/fashion

Sort By: Relevance

Free Paid ‘ Free&Paid

25 per page

1 3 inextfl

D,e_r1ni~=a_ri§__Th_e1e

Note: "Please Check your OS version before you choose. Please check your
BlackBerry® OS version to make sure you download the correct one. Click
on "Options" then click on "About" on your BlackBerry The OS version will
$3.99 USD ( bv Vimukti Technolociies Pvt Ltd |  

l Detailsm

_E_LLEgirl Latina Wg Shortcut

ELLEgirl Latina is the Spanish-language sister site to ELLEgirl Mobile,
reaching out to Latina teens. ELLEgirl Latina proiides fashion fOI'VlBl’d Latina
teens a irairlety of mobile-optim'zed content including daily updated fa
FREE | by Hachette Filigacchi Media U S |it ‘K

i Deiaiisfl

  

QLEQIQ Web Sbgtgt

From the publishers of ELLE magazine and ELLEgirl.com. ELLEgirl Mobile is
the most conienient source of free entertainment for fashion forward teen
girls who always have their phone by their side. ELLEgirl Mobile deliver
FREE 1 by Hachette Filipacchi Media U.S |E’ 1' ‘t

l Qletailsu

  

Limegf_e Celeb_ritv News

Read Celebrity, Fashion. Music news and more on the go‘ Keep up to date
with l_imeLife 5 Celebrity News bookrrark for the BlackBerry®. From Fashion
to Shopping to Movies, TV, and more you will always find timely, relevant
FREE | by LlrT1§i_l_i§I

1 ‘Q ‘t

| Detailsg

 

R_e_ag‘yPath Santana Row

Explore Santana Row with this highly interactive map from ReadyPath. Find
Stores and local Restaurants using the Directory and nark them on the map.
Fashion for Her, Fashion for Hm, Books & Stationary, Electronics, Ente
FREE l py Readyfgtth |
it 1 ix 1' it

| Details_U

  

§S_a_lly‘§-_Salon

Help Sally spread her salon sawy from the shopping mall to the glittering
lights of Hollywood in this stylish and engaging challenge based on the 2007
#1 PC game on ReaIArcade. Work with Sally to reiarrp everyone, froml
52 99 USD l by Gameifgs I

P f

| Dezailsfl
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Sort By: Relevance

Free Paid ‘ Free & Paid

25 per page

1 2 3 mextfl

Shoewavw ~ the world's leading Shoe blog for girls that want to know
everything about shoes. Get Shoewawa on your mobile with this oownloadable
launcher, taking you direct to the Shoewawa mobile internet site. Shoewawa  
l5REE| by Anbrogur vi a

I Lansfl

Sugermodel Emgire by DChoc

Step into the exclusive world of fashion and uncover the hottest trends as you
create a supermodel empire. Design and create stunning clothing collections
and enjoy the fame and glamour that comes with being atop design
$4.99 USD | by Digital Chocolate |  
| Details_D
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